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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
FEHRE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”)
of China Infrastructure Investment Limited (the “Company”), |
am pleased to present the final results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2023.

RESULTS

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 was approximately HK$12,112,000, as compared with
approximately HK$2,715,000 for the year ended 31 December
2022. The loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2023 was approximately HK$152,345,000 as
compared with the loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$227,735,000 for the year ended 31 December
2022. The decrease in loss for the year ended 31 December 2023
was primarily due to (i) the loss arising on change in fair value of
investment properties amounting to approximately HK$544,000
(2022: HK$3,393,000); (ii) the impairment loss recognised in respect
of financial assets under expected credit losses model amounting
to approximately HK$43,196,000 (2022: HK$177,609,000); and
(iii) the share of losses of associates amounting to HK$Nil (2022:
HK$766,000).

PROSPECTS

In light of the perennial COVID-19 pandemic, disruptions and
substantial adverse impacts have been observed across almost
all industries. Property market in the PRC has plunged into gloom
resulting from the decline of major developers and the liquidity
crisis and the Group has subsequently taken a relatively prudent
approach in terms of property investment. Nonetheless, the Company
remains vigilant in monitoring market sentiments so as to ensure any
favourable opportunity could be seized by the Group in time.
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Chairman’s Statement
EFEHE

For the natural gas business, knowing full well that business
opportunities do not materialise out of mere thin air, the Group has
made sure to grasp the chances to develop its businesses following
the overall recovery from the post-COVID-19 pandemic. With the
persistent and arduous effort of the Directors and senior management
of the Group, the Group will continue to develop this sector should
any potential opportunities arise in the future.

LUYi
Chairman

19 April 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERB MWD

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
PROPERTIES INVESTMENT BUSINESS

The Company’s subsidiaries, Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics Company
Limited* is principally engaged in the business of property rentals and
operation of storage units and Tianjin Hui Li Yuan Power Equipment
Co. Ltd.* (“Tianjin Hui Li Yuan”) is principally engaged in the
business of property rentals and property development.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s Properties
Investment Business has generated revenue of approximately
HK$2,764,000. The Group currently owns properties at Tianjin
Economic and Technological Development Zone, Tianjin City, People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”). The revenue of the Properties Investments
Business mainly derives from the rental income and management
fees.

On 28 December 2023, Nanjing Taiye Metal Material Technology
Company Limited*, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with an independent
third party in relation to the disposal of its 100% equity interest in
Nanjing Xide Municipal Engineering Co., Ltd.* (B REEETIKR T2
AR A F]) (“Nanjing Xide") at a consideration of RMB1,000,000.
Nanjing Xide is an investment holding company and has 60% equity
interest in Tianjin Hui Li Yuan. The disposal was completed on 28
December 2023.

In light of the uncertain property market conditions brought by the
downfall of large developers and the liquidity crisis in the PRC, the
Company has adopted a prudent approach in property investment.
Nonetheless, the Company remains vigilant in monitoring market
sentiments, ensuring readiness to seize any favorable business
prospects that may arise. The Group will continue to hold its existing
properties and may consider to sell the properties depending on
the development of the market conditions. The Company has been
exploring other relevant business opportunities in the property
development industry so as to continue develop its business in the
sector at a lower risk and enhance its overall business performance
given the challenges mentioned above.

*  For identification purpose only

© ERES
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BRI WwE D AT

NATURAL GAS BUSINESS

During the year, following the relief of epidemic prevention measures
by the Hong Kong Government and the PRC government and the
overall recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has
immediately continue to develop the natural gas business which were
severely affected during the pandemic period. The revenue of the
natural gas business amounted to approximately HK$9,348,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2023. To facilitate the implementation
of the Belt and Road Initiative advocated by the PRC government,
the Company also expanded its customer base and developing its
markets not only in the PRC but also to the Middle East.

Given the long operating history of the natural gas business, the
Company has therefore been exploring opportunities to fine tune
and upgrade its business strategy. The parenthetical needs of the
customers in relevant products of the natural gas business then came
to the Company’s attention. The Company has currently established
business cooperation with various well-known and sizeable state-
owned enterprises in the PRC for sourcing related products to fully
cater for the needs of the customers. In addition to the sales of
goods, the Group also provides comprehensive after-sales services
including maintenance and repairment, facilitated by a proficient
team of well-trained technical staff of the Group to cater the needs of
the customers. Given the uniqueness of the machinery, the loyalty of
customers is extremely high and it will secure sustainable income to
the Group in terms of provision of such after-sales services.

The Group is negotiating with some potential customers for further
exploration of business opportunities and will continue to develop its
businesses in full force in the future.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEEwE D AT

OUTLOOK

In light of the perennial COVID-19 pandemic, disruptions and
substantial adverse impacts have been observed across almost
all industries. Property market in the PRC has plunged into gloom
resulting from the decline of major developers and the liquidity
crisis and the Group has subsequently taken a relatively prudent
approach in terms of property investment. Nonetheless, the Company
remains vigilant in monitoring market sentiments so as to ensure any
favourable opportunity could be seized by the Group in time.

For the natural gas business, knowing full well that business
opportunities do not materialise out of mere thin air, the Group has
made sure to grasp the chances to develop its businesses following
the overall recovery from the post-COVID-19 pandemic. With the
persistent and arduous effort of the Directors and senior management
of the Group, the Group will continue to develop this sector should
any potential opportunities arise in the future.

HUMAN RESOURCES

At 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 23 staffs in Hong
Kong and the PRC. The Group remunerates employees based on
their performance, experience and prevailing industry practices so as
to retain the competent and talented employees.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BRI WwE D AT

FINANCIAL REVIEW
RESULTS

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 was approximately HK$12,112,000, as compared with
approximately HK$2,715,000 for the year ended 31 December
2022. The loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2023 was approximately HK$152,345,000 as
compared with the loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$227,735,000 for the year ended 31 December
2022. The decrease in loss for the year ended 31 December 2023
was primarily due to (i) the loss arising on change in fair value of
investment properties amounting to approximately HK$544,000
(2022: HK$3,393,000); (ii) the impairment loss recognised in respect
of financial assets under expected credit losses model amounting
to approximately HK$43,196,000 (2022: HK$177,609,000); and
(iiiy the share of losses of associates amounting to HK$Nil (2022:
HK$766,000).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The capital structure of the Group consisted of debt (which included
borrowings), cash and bank balances, and equity attributable
to owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital and
reserves of the Group.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group monitors its liquidity requirements on a short to medium
term basis and arranges refinancing of the Group’s borrowings when
appropriate. At 31 December 2023, the underlying current ratio,
defined as current assets over current liabilities, was approximately
0.03 (at 31 December 2022: 0.12). At 31 December 2023, the
underlying gearing ratio, defined as the total borrowings over total
deficit (including non-controlling interests), was approximately (23%)
(at 31 December 2022: (30%)) while the current liabilities to the
total assets ratio was approximately 1,336% (at 31 December 2022:
573%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEEwE D AT

At 31 December 2023, the Group’s equity attributable to owners
of the Company was deficit of approximately HK$476,054,000,
an increase of approximately 51% over last year end which was
deficit of approximately HK$315,683,000. The net current liabilities
at 31 December 2023 was approximately HK$530,708,000 (2022:
HK$402,555,000) while cash and bank balances at 31 December
2023 was approximately HK$3,565,000 (at 31 December 2022:
HK$2,347,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

On 1 August 2017, the Group acquired 60% equity interest of Tianjin
Hui Li Yuan of which principal asset is a land use right for a parcel
of land. Starting from year 2015, Tianjin Hui Li Yuan entered into a
financial guarantee contract with a PRC trust company (the “Lender”)
to provide corporate guarantee by a pledge of certain properties
(“Tianjin Properties”) to secure a loan granted by the Lender to a
business partner which is an independent third party (the “Borrower”)
in the sum of approximately RMB80,000,000 (the “Loan”).

In order to protect the interest of the Group against the loss which
might be suffered by the Group under the guarantee, the Borrower
and the non-controlling interest of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan entered into
a counter indemnity in favour of the Group pursuant to which they
agreed to, among other matters, indemnify the Group for its liabilities
and loss which may arise from the guarantee. The non-controlling
interest of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan also agreed to indemnify the Group by
offering a pledge of its 40% equity interest in Tianjin Hui Li Yuan to the
Group upon default in loan repayments by the Borrower. On 30 March
2022, X b & A RABRT (Tianjin Nankai District People’s Court*)
made a judgement (the “Judgement”) that amongst other things, the
Borrower shall compensate XE¥E# T OZE 5 BMR AR (Tianjin
Product Import & Export Trading Co., Ltd.*) (“Tianjin Trading”), being
a party which the Lender has transferred its interest in the Loan to
Tianjin Trading. If the Borrower fail to compensate Tianjin Trading,
Tianjin Hui Li Yuan shall bear the shortfall amount by the proceed
from sale of the Tianjin Properties.

Tianjin Property has been sealed by the court and has not yet been
auctioned by the court because it does not meet the conditions for
court disposal.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BRI WwE D AT

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Tianjin Hui Li Yuan was
disposed as detailed in Note 40 to consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed above and elsewhere in the notes to these
consolidated financial statements, the Group had no other material
contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2023.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

At 31 December 2023, no asset was pledged.

At 31 December 2022, property, plant and equipment of
approximately HK$Nil was pledged as securities for payment
obligation of an independent third party.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

During the year, most of the business transactions, assets and
liabilities of the Group were denominated in Hong Kong Dollar,
Renminbi and United Stated Dollar. The Group had no material foreign
exchange exposure risks during the year.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to propose any final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no material events from the year ended 31 December 2023
to the date hereof.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEEwE D AT

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited (the “Auditor”) does not express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Consolidated Financial
Statements”). Because of the significance of the matters described
in the “Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion” section in the independent
auditor’s report on the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Auditor
has not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
provide a basis for an audit opinion on the Consolidated Financial
Statements. In all other respects, the Auditor is of the opinion that the
Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

[A) LIMITATION OF SCOPE ON ACCOUNTING
BOOKS AND RECORDS OF TIANJIN HUI LI
YUAN

During the year ended 31 December 2021, a key management
of the Group has been suffering from serious health problems,
which caused great hindrance to him in the management
and daily works in the Group. In light of the disruptions and
uncertainty surrounding the operation of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan, a
principal non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, all of the
employees of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan, including the key personnel of
the management team and the responsible person for finance
and accounting matters of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan, had left Tianjin
Hui Li Yuan. Tianjin Hui Li Yuan has suspended its operation
since the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Directors had taken all reasonable steps to preserve and
maintain the books and records of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan that were
left behind by certain former management and key personnel
of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan responsible for finance and accounting
matters, including but not limited to the management accounts,
ledgers and subledgers account. Despite the best endeavor
of the Directors to (i) locate supporting documents, such
as invoices, purchase orders, construction agreements (the
‘Construction Agreements”) and progress reports (the
“‘Progress Reports”), regarding the construction in progress,
major assets of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan, and (ii) assemble the
explanations on the journal entries, they were unable to fully
access/recover the accounting and finance records.
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In addition, as disclosed in Notes 18 and 36 to the Consolidated It AN 0 BB N AR A B AS 3R R KT 5218 /236
Financial Statements, Tianjin Hui Li Yuan had entered into Frigs REENFREFBRGFTRF
an agreement (the “Pledge Agreement’) with a PRC trust (IEF DT thea ([EBHRE]) -
company (the “Lender”), to provide a pledge (the “Pledge”) NRKEENRZME(REMERRK
of the properties of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan, which are major assets EENRNEFEEE R_T_=

of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan with aggregate carrying amounts of +TZA=F+—BRZEZ=F+=
approximately HK$Nil and HK$Nil as at 31 December 2022 AT+ \BEWEEEE NN RE
and 28 December 2023 respectively, to secure a loan in the BLUREBT)EERR(ERAEE
sum of RMB80,000,000 (the “Loan”) granted by the Lender FR—EBEBEH (FREEBIE=
to a business partner (the ‘Borrower”), an independent third ) ([ERADEBELEFRAEHARK
party of the Group. In order to protect the interest of the Group 80,000,000 T (BRI )R ER B
against the loss which might be suffered by the Group under the RERER 2 F & 2 HZERmE
Pledge, the Borrower and the non-controlling interest of Tianjin AEBEZBEBRX BRARKEEN
Hui Li Yuan entered into a counter indemnity in favour of the REEERBRRERUNAEE AX &
Group pursuant to which they agreed to, among other matters, AFJL—HORMABE B BERE
indemnify the Group for its liabilities and loss which may arise (EPeE)REAEERZEMRM A
from the Pledge. The non-controlling interest of Tianjin Hui Li REELECBEREBX XEENRD
Yuan also agreed to indemnify the Group by offering a pledge EERRRERTTRERNERATR
of its 40% equity interest in Tianjin Hui Li Yuan to the Group EEEFRFOASEEREENKEE
upon default in loan repayments by the Borrower. On 30 March NIRA0% R EREIFIERFEE R 2T
2022, Tianjin Nankai District People’s Court* ( XZMERE A ——FZAZt+H - KETEHAERA
EABE) made a judgement (the “Judgement’) that amongst RIEBGER AR (THR]) - EhaiE:
other things, the Borrower shall compensate Tianjin Product BRABHERENELELNES B
Import & Export Trading Co., Lid* (K2ZWEFELOE S H RAm ([RZE2EH]) (MESEFMX
[ A 7)) (“Tianjin Trading”), being a party which the Lender EESEEENZENRERZ L — ) °
has transferred its interest in the Loan to Tianjin Trading. If the MERAREFEREE S K2E
Borrower fails to compensate Tianjin Trading, Tianjin Hui Li Yuan NIRB LA & RIZY 2 2 P15 R IE &
shall bear the shortfall amount by the proceed from sale of the EEB R REVEETBERE
Tianjin Properties. As a result, the Tianjin Properties were fully BB BB 49113,919,0008 TR E = —
impaired and impairment loss of approximately HK$113,919,000 E-—F+-A=T—HBILEFERER-

was recognised during the year ended 31 December 2021.

As disclosed in Note 40 to Consolidated Financial Statements, W ER A B S R R M 40FT # 5%
on 28 December 2023, Nanjing Taiye Metal Material RZEZ=F+ZA=Z+N B &R
Technology Company Limited*, a wholly-owned subsidiary of A2ENBARMRAREEMEAR
the Company, entered into a sale and purchase agreement RERARE-—BBEIE=HAUAR
with an independent third party in relation to the disposal of E AR #1,000,0005T &/ 2=
its 100% equity interest in Nanjing Xide at a consideration of 100% R EFT L EEWZ - ERBER
RMB1,000,000. Nanjing Xide is an investment holding company —EREZERAR EBREENR
and has 60% equity interest in Tianjin Hui Li Yuan (the “Nanjing 0% E(ErREEEE]) - HESF
Xide Group”). The disposal is completed on 28 December 2023 BHERZZE_=F+=-H=+N\B (IH
(the “Disposal Date”), and a loss on disposal of subsidiaries of EBHH])ER BHE-_T==F+=
approximately HK$10,629,000 has been recognised in the profit A=T—RALtFEEREBERARR

or loss for the year ended 31 December 2023. &= I B8 A Rl & 18 4910,629,0007% T ©

*  For identification purpose only
* ERBS

FEEEZRERRAA
—EC=FFR
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Under the circumstances as explained above, the Auditor was
not able to carry out procedures which the Auditor considered
as necessary on the books and records of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan,
including but not limited to the Construction Agreements, the
Progress Reports, the Pledge Agreement and the indemnity
documents, to satisfy the Auditor as to:

(i) the existence, rights and obligations, completeness,
accuracy, valuation and classification of (a) its total
assets of approximately HK$6,743,000, total liabilities
of approximately HK$84,458,000 and the cumulative
exchange reserve of approximately HK$7,011,000 as at 31
December 2022; and (b) its total assets of approximately
HK$6,5676,000, total liabilities of approximately
HK$82,838,000 and the cumulative exchange reserve of
approximately HK$8,978,000 as at the Disposal Date;

(i)  the occurrence, completeness, accuracy, cut-off and
classification of (a) its loss of approximately HK$1,154,000
and HK$514,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022
and for the period from 1 January 2023 to the Disposal
Date, respectively; and (b) its total comprehensive income
of approximately HK$3,850,000 for the year ended 31
December 2022 and total comprehensive income of
approximately HK$1,453,000 for the period from 1 January
2023 to the Disposal Date;

(iii)  the segment information of property investment segment,
the contingent liabilities and other related disclosure
notes in relation to Tianjin Hui Li Yuan, as included in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2023,
have been accurately recorded and properly accounted
for in the Consolidated Financial Statements; and

(iv) the accuracy of the loss on disposal of subsidiaries of
approximately HK$10,629,000 as included in the profit or
loss of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

There were no other satisfactory audit procedures that the
Auditor could adopt to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence in
this regard.
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Financial information in respect of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan is set out

below:

Income and expenses of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan:

RIBENREOVRA KR :

From
LI ELDETRY
2023 to Year ended
28 December 31 December
2023 2022
—E_= HE
—H—BZ%E —F-C
- St - —A=+—H
+=HA=+NH IEFE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHEx FHT
Finance costs B 75 R AN (514) (538)
Administrative expenses THRZ = (616)
Loss before tax MRELRIER (514) (1,154)
Income tax expense Frig®if X = -
Loss for the year FAEE (514) (1,154)
Other comprehensive income Hih 2w 1,967 5,004
Total comprehensive income for the year F A2 E Wz AA%E 1,453 3,850
Assets and liabilities of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan: REENRHEEREE:
As at As at
28 December 31 December
2023 2022
BZE HE
—E-= —E-—F
t=A=+nB REECEREE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Property, plant and equipment M BE KRB - -
Other receivables H e IR 6,467 6,632
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEFEED 109 111
Other payables W AN (16,400) (17,381)
Amounts due to the Group FE AR & B 5178 (66,438) (67,077)
Net liabilities of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan REENRNE EFHE (76,262) (77,715)
FEREEZERERRAR

—EC=FFR
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(B]

Any adjustments found to be necessary to the above matters
might have significant consequential effects on the consolidated
financial performance and consolidated cash flows of the Group
for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December
2023, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2022 and the related disclosures thereof in the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

MULTIPLE FUNDAMENTAL UNCERTAINTIES
RELATING TO GOING CONCERN

As stated in Note 3.1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements,
the Group reported loss attributable to the owners of the
Company of approximately HK$152,345,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2023 and, as of that date, the Group’s
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately
HK$530,708,000 and the Group had net liabilities of
approximately HK$507,674,000, in which interest-bearing
borrowing and the respective interest payable and redemption
premium payable amounted to approximately HK$115,000,000
and HK$362,358,000 respectively, while its cash and cash
equivalents only amounted to approximately HK$3,565,000.

These conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties
which may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern and therefore it may be unable
to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal
course of business.

As explained in Note 3.1 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements, the Consolidated Financial Statements have been
prepared by the Directors on a going concern basis, the validity
of which is dependent on the Group’s ability to obtain sufficient
future funding. Due to the uncertainty of the Group’s ability to
maintain adequate future cash flows, the Auditor was unable
to ascertain whether the assumptions made by the Directors
in preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements on a going
concern basis are proper and appropriate.
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Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate,
adjustments would be necessary to reclassify all non-current
assets as current assets, to write-down the value of assets to
their recoverable amounts and to provide for further liabilities
which may arise. The Consolidated Financial Statements
have not incorporated any of these adjustments. However, the
uncertainty surrounding the Group’s future cash flows raises
significant doubt about the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. The Auditor considers that appropriate disclosures
have been made in the Consolidated Financial Statements
concerning this situation, but the Auditor is unable to obtain
adequate evidence concerning the Group’s ability to meet any
financial obligations as and when they fall due and the Auditor
considers that these material uncertainties relating to going
concern basis.

The Auditor considers the cumulative effect of the above matters on
the Consolidated Financial Statements is so extreme that the Auditor
has disclaimed its opinion.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERME

The Board and the senior management of the Company (the
“Senior Management”) are committed to the principles of corporate
governance and to maximise shareholder value. These principles
and objectives enhance the transparency, accountability and
independence of the Company and its ability to attract investment and
protect rights of shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholder(s)”).
The Company continues to review the effectiveness of corporate
structure so as to improve its corporate governance practices.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has complied with all the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix
C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) for the year
ended 31 December 2023, except for the following deviations:

Code provision C.1.8 of the CG Code requires that the company
should arrange appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action
against its directors. The Company did not arrange such insurance
cover during the period as Directors considered that the risk of
material legal claims against Directors is minimal. Nevertheless, the
Board will review this arrangement from time to time in light of the
prevailing circumstances and arrange for appropriate insurance
coverage when necessary.

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive officer
should be clearly established and set out in writing. Mr. LU Yi was
appointed as the chairman (the “Chairman”) and the chief executive
officer (the “Chief Executive Officer”) of the Company on 1 August
2023. The Board believes that vesting the roles of both Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer in the same person has the benefit of
ensuring consistent leadership within the Group and enables more
effective and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group. The
Board believes that the balance of power and authority for the
present arrangement will not be impaired and is adequately ensured
by current Board which comprises experienced and high calibre
individuals with sufficient number thereof being independent non-
executive Directors.
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Code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code provides that the chairman
should at least annually hold meetings with the independent non-
executive directors without the executive directors and non-
executive directors present. Although the Chairman did not hold a
meeting with the independent non-executive Directors, excluding
the executive Directors and non-executive Directors during the year
ended 31 December 2023, he delegated the company secretary of
the Company (the “Company Secretary”) to gather any concerns
and/or questions that the independent non-executive Directors might
have and report to him for setting up followup meetings, whenever
necessary, in due course.

Code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the Board should
meet regularly and board meetings should be held at least four times
a year at approximately quarterly intervals. During the year, due to
the delay in publication of financial results and suspension of trading
in share of the Company (the “Shares”), the Board has not held four
board meetings. During the year, the Directors were provided with
relevant information of the Company regarding the operation and
financial performance of the Group. By circulation of written materials
to the Directors, the Board was informed throughout the year,
sufficient measures had been taken to ensure that there was efficient
communication among the Directors. The Board will endeavour to
comply with the code provision C.5.1 of CG Code going forward.

Code provision D.2.5 of the CG Code stipulates that the Company
should have an internal audit function. The Group does not have an
internal audit function as the Board has reviewed the effectiveness
of the internal control system of the Company and is currently of
the view that there is no immediate need to set up an internal audit
function within the Group in light of the size, nature and complexity of
the Group’s business. The situation will be reviewed from time to time.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3
of the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Following a specific
enquiry made by the Company on each of the Directors, all Directors
have confirmed that they had complied with the required standards as
set out in the Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2023.
The Model Code also applies to other specified senior management
of the Group.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Each Director has a duty to act in good faith and in the best interests
of the Company and is accountable for the manner in which the
affairs of the Company are managed, controlled and operated. The
Directors are collectively responsible for the success of the Company.
The Board, as at 31 December 2023, comprised:

(a) three executive Directors, namely Mr. LU Yi (Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer), Mr. XU Feng and Mr. YE De Chao; and

(b) three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. HE Jin
Geng, Mr. YU Hong Gao and Ms. CHEN Yang.

There is no specific term in respect of the appointments of all
independent non-executive Directors, but subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years at the annual general meeting.

In accordance with Article 88 of the memorandum and articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles”), Mr. XU Feng shall retire
from the Board at the AGM and offer himself for re-election.

In accordance with Article 99 of the Articles and code provision B.2.2
of the CG Code, Mr. LU Yi and Mr. YE De Chao shall retire from the
Board at the AGM and offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with Article 99 of the Articles and code provisions
B.2.2 and B.2.3 of the CG Code, Mr. HE Jin Geng, Mr. YU Hong Gao
and Ms. CHEN Yang shall retire from the Board at the AGM and offer
themselves for re-election.

According to code provision B.2.3 of the CG Code, the further
appointment of an independent non-executive director should be
subject to a separate resolution to be approved by shareholders
if such independent non-executive director has been serving the
company for more than nine years. Mr. HE Jin Geng, Mr. YU Hong
Gao and Ms. CHEN Yang were appointed as an independent non-
executive Director in August 2012, August 2012 and September
2014, respectively. They have served the Company for more than nine
years, a separate resolution for each of their re-elections will therefore
be proposed for approval by the Shareholders at the AGM.
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The Company has separately received the confirmation of
independence from Mr. HE Jin Geng, Mr. YU Hong Gao and Ms.
CHEN Yang pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. During the
tenures of Mr. HE Jin Geng, Mr. YU Hong Gao and Ms. CHEN Yang
as independent non-executive Directors, they have participated in
Board meetings and served on various committees of the Board to
give impartial advices and exercise independent judgements on the
affairs of the Company but they have not engaged in any executive
management of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) has conducted assessments of their independence,
and is of the view that they satisfied all independence criteria as
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee
considered that all of the independent non-executive Directors
provided a balanced and independent views to the Board and play
a leading role in the Board committees and bring independent and
external dimension as well as constructive and informed comments
on issues of the Group’s strategy, policy, performance, accountability,
resources, key appointments and standards of conduct.

The Board, having considered their comprehensive knowledge,
professional skills and experience as well as their thorough and
deepened understanding of the Company and its relevant industry, is
of the view that their continue tenure will bring valuable contribution
to the future sustainable development of the Company which is in the
best interests of the Company and of the Shareholders.

The Company considers that the Board has a range of the necessary
skills and experiences for discharging their duties. All Directors have
been kept informed of major changes on a timely basis that may
affect the Company’s business.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship(s)) among members of the Board.

INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ADVICE

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure independent views
and input are available to the Board, in particular, (i) independent
non-executive Directors are encouraged to actively participate in
the Board meetings; (ii) the number of independent non-executive
Directors is in compliance with the requirements of the Listing
Rules; and (iii) independent professional advice are obtained at the
Company’s expense to ensure that the independent non-executive
Directors will have access to accurate and relevant professional views
in the performance of their responsibilities. The Board will review the
implementation and effectiveness of the above mechanisms on an
annual basis.
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BOARD MEETINGS

The Board meets regularly to formulate the objectives of the
Company, make decisions on strategic plans and budgets, monitor
the performance of the Senior Management, determine and review
the strategy of the Company, oversee the Company’s compliance
with statutory and regulatory requirement and to ensure that there is a
sound system of internal control and risk management with a goal of
protecting the interests of all Shareholders.

Sufficient notices accompanying with agendas for regular and
non-regular board meetings were given to all of the Directors so
that full attendance could be attained and timely information was
provided so that informed decisions could be made. The Board
conducts meetings on a regular and ad hoc basis, as required by
business needs. Minutes of the board meetings should be kept by
the Company Secretary with copies circulating to all Directors for
information and records.

The Board held totally four board meetings during the financial year
and the attendance of individual director is recorded as follows:

Attendance record of Board meetings during the year ended 31

EXEER

EXETHETER EERTARALZAE
B ARBEUFIRBEFLRAE BEES
RETEE 2 KRB - W R BRANRF]Z RS
ERARBETEEMREEREZB/R A
RiERAEEA GRS 2 NEEERER
EERG UWREZBRRER -

EREFCHEHLFTHEZTS AR
BRACBAREE UWBRSEFHELD
FZEea kA EkREEEBERNE
MATEEAMBEAE - EFGFEHBTEER
EEXRBRERBIRRGHE RAWERE
BrREFEEECHE UYREZFERHLCE
BIRATHAEE(FL2HMLREH M-

RAMBRFERN EFSHBTIRESFS
2% MEMNEEZHFELEINT

BE_ZE_=Ff4+-A=+—HLEEEW®

December 2023 ETEegRcHERE
Attendance/
Number of
Directors meetings
HERE
- BERE
Executive Directors HITEF
LU Yi (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) B (EERITEAAE)
(appointed as the Chairman and Chief Executive (R=ZFZ=F)\H—HEZF
Officer on 1 August 2023) BEREFRITHAEZ) 4/4
XU Feng (appointed on 18 September 2023) BRE(R=ZFZ=FNA+/NAEZF) 3/3
YE De Chao E Syl 4/4
XU Xiao Jun (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)  1&/IM& (£ jE 37T 48 3)
(resigned as the Chairman and Chief Executive (R=ZFE=Z=F/\H—HFTEE
Officer on 1 August 2023 and resigned as an FITHABHIR - FE—=FNA+/TH
executive Director on 18 September 2023) BFEHITEE) 11
Independent non-executive Directors BB ITEE
HE Jin Geng fa] & Bk 4/4
YU Hong Gao B AL = 4/4
CHEN Yang R ¥ 4/4
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All the Directors are also entitled to have access to timely information
such as monthly updates in relation to our businesses and have
separate and independent access to Senior Management.

Code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the Board should
meet regularly and board meeting should be held at least four times
a year at approximately quarterly intervals. During the year, due to the
delay in publication of financial results and suspension of trading in
Share, the Board has not held four Board meetings. During the year,
the Directors were provided with relevant information of the Company
regarding the operation and financial performance of the Group.
By circulation of written materials to the Directors, the Board was
informed throughout the year, sufficient measures had been taken to
ensure that there was efficient communication among the Directors.
The Board will endeavour to comply with the code provision C.5.1 of
CG Code going forward.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed at least three independent non-executive
Directors and one of whom must have appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise. As at 31 December 2023, the independent non-executive
Directors represented at least one-third of the Board in compliance
with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules.

The Board is aware of other commitments of the independent non-
executive Directors and is satisfied that these do not conflict with
their duties as the Directors. The Company has received from each
of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of
his independence as required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
Based on these confirmations, the Company considers that each of
the independent non-executive Directors is independent.
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Code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code provides that the chairman
should at least annually hold meetings with the independent non-
executive directors without the executive directors and non-executive
directors present. Although the Chairman did not hold a meeting with
the independent non-executive Directors, excluding the executive
Directors during the year ended 31 December 2023, he delegated the
Company Secretary to gather any concerns and/or questions that the
independent non-executive Directors might have and report to him for
setting up follow-up meetings, whenever necessary, in due course.

The terms and conditions of appointing the independent non-
executive Directors are available for inspection at the Company’s
registered office.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The policy relating to the board diversity of the Group (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the
Board in order to ensure the members of the Board possesses a
balance of skills, experience, expertise and diversity of perspectives
to promote effectiveness of decision-making and further, enhance the
Company’s corporate governance and the quality of its performance.
In determining an optimum composition of the Board and its
committees, the Company will consider all aspects of diversity,
and take into account the Company’s business model and specific
needs from time to time. The selection of candidates is based on a
range of measurable objectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, ethnicity, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, qualification, skills, knowledge and other factors. All
Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Board has a balanced mix of knowledge and skills, including but
not limited to business management, finance, audit, investment, civil
engineering and macroeconomic adjustment and social development.
They obtained degrees in various majors including business
administration, accounting, architecture and civil engineering,
finance and sociology. The Board Diversity Policy also sets out the
Board’s commitment to gender diversity and other diversity aspects,
with the ultimate goal of achieving gender parity on the Board. The
Company currently has one female Director, and the Board will take
opportunities to increase the proportion of female members over
time as and when selecting and making recommendation on suitable
candidates as Directors.
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The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) is of the view that the Board has achieved the
objectives of the Board Diversity Policy and shall review the Board
Diversity Policy and measurable objectives at least annually, and as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness. The Nomination Committee
will discuss any or necessary amendments on the Board Diversity
Policy and propose the amendments to the Board for approval.

The Company conducts structured recruitment, selection and training
program at all levels within the Group to develop more skilled and
experienced potential Board members and senior management.

The Group also adhered to the diversity concept, including but not
limited to the gender perspective, in recruitment of employees. For
the financial year, the Group had 23 employees, of which 57% were
female. The Company is of the view that the current composition of
employees has achieved gender diversity.

During the year, the Board reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and considered it to be
effective.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director is provided with an induction
package covering the Group’s business and the statutory regulatory
obligations of a director of a listed company so as to ensure that he/
she has appropriate understanding of the business and operation
of the Group and that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and the relevant regulatory
requirements.

Code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code requires that all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. During the
year under review, all Directors participated in continuous professional
development programmes and provided a record of training they
received to the Company.
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The individual training record of each Director for the year ended 31
December 2023 is set out below.

BE_FT_-F+A=1T—HLEFE &
EENERIBIECEINAMT -

Types of continuous professional
development programmes

BFESERRREER
Executive Directors HiTEE
LU Yi & 2 B
XU Feng (appointed on 18 September 2023) R (RZF-_=FNH B
TN HEZE)

YE De Chao iz B
XU Xiao Jun (resigned on 18 September 2023)  #%/ME (R=ZZF==FN1 A B
+/1 A BHT)

Independent non-executive Directors BB ITESE

HE Jin Geng Al Bk B
YU Hong Gao EIFARS) B
CHEN Yang bR B

A attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums

B: reading journals, newsletter, seminar materials and updates relating to
the latest development of the Listing Rules, other applicable regulatory
requirements and directors’ duties and responsibilities

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive officer
should be clearly established and set out in writing.
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Since 31 July 2017, Mr. XU Xiao Jun, the Chief Executive Officer, was
also appointed as the Chairman. On 1 August 2023, Mr. XU Xiao Jun
resigned as the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Mr. LU
Yi was appointed as the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. The
Board believes that vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer in the same person has the benefit of ensuring
consistent leadership within the Group and enables more effective
and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group. The roles and
responsibilities of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer have
been set out in writing, and have been approved and adopted by the
Board. The Board believes that the balance of power and authority
for the present arrangement will not be impaired and is adequately
ensured by current Board which comprises experienced and high
calibre individuals with sufficient number thereof being independent
non-executive Directors.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board, headed by the Chairman, reserves for its decision all
major matters of the Company, including: approval and monitoring
of all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control
and risk management systems, material transactions (in particular
those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters. The Board regularly reviews and ensures that
corporate governance principles are in place and at good standard.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the Senior Management. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has
to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions
entered into by the management.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established internal committees which are of no less
compliance requirements than those set out in the CG Code, namely,
Nomination Committee, remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”), audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) and corporate
governance committee (the “Corporate Governance Committee”)
of the Company. To further reinforce independence, these four
committees are structured to include a majority of independent non-
executive Directors.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises four members including
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. YU Hong
Gao as the chairman, Mr. HE Jin Geng and Ms. CHEN Yang, and an
executive Director, namely Mr. XU Feng (appointed on 18 September
2023). The Remuneration Committee comprises a majority of
independent non-executive Directors that brings an independent
and objective view to the remuneration packages of the executive
Directors and Senior Management to provide a significant degree of
protection to the Shareholders. No Director involved in deciding his/
her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee determines the specific remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and Senior Management,
including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments; and makes recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors. The responsibilities of the
Remuneration Committee are described in the terms of reference
adopted. Details of the remunerations of the Directors are shown on
pages 176 to 178 of this annual report. During the financial year, no
Remuneration Committee meeting was held.

The Remuneration Committee reviewed the remuneration packages
of the Directors and the Senior Management, including discretionary
bonus, which were based on individual performance, skill and
knowledge, involvement in the Group’s affairs and performance and
profitability of the Group.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Company adopted a remuneration policy (the “Remuneration
Policy”) comprises primarily a fixed component (in the form of a base
salary) and a variable component (which include discretionary bonus
and other merit payments), taking into account other factors such as
their experience, level of responsibility, individual performance, the
profit performance of the Group and general market conditions.
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REMUNERATIONS OF DIRECTORS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The remunerations of Directors and Senior Management are
determined by the Board with reference to their respective
experience, responsibilities, workload, performance and time devoted
to the Company, and reviewed by the Remuneration Committee.

Details of the remunerations of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in the notes 14 and 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises four members including an
executive Director, namely Mr. LU Yi as the chairman (appointed on
1 August 2023), and three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. HE Jin Geng, Mr. YU Hong Gao and Ms. CHEN Yang.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for making recommendations
to the Board for its approval on the appointment of the Directors,
evaluation of board composition and the management of board
succession with reference to various aspects as well as factors
concerning board diversity as set out in the Company’s Board
Diversity Policy, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, sKills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be based
on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

The Nomination Committee carries out the process of selecting and
recommending candidates for directorship including the consideration
of referrals and engagement of external recruitment professionals
when necessary. The chairman of the Nomination Committee, in
consultation with the person responsible for human resources, should
be primarily responsible for drawing up and approving the agenda
for each Nomination Committee meeting. Potential candidates are
then considered at the Nomination Committee meetings based on
their experience, professional qualifications, independence and
their expected remuneration packages to complement the corporate
strategy and achieve board diversity, where appropriate, before
making recommendations to the Board.
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During the year, the Nomination Committee selected and
recommended candidates in accordance with the procedures and the

process and criteria set out in the Nomination Policy.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the financial year
and the attendance of individual member is recorded as below.

Attendance record of Nomination Committee meeting for the year
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ended 31 December 2023 REZEEEBINHELE
Attendance/
Number of
Members meetings
HERE,
24= BRRE
Executive Directors HITEF
Mr. LU Yi (Chairman) E LA ( TR
(appointed on 1 August 2023) (RZFEZ=FNHA—HEZF) 1/1
Mr. XU Xiao Jun (Chairman) BNMESE (£F)
(resigned on 1 August 2023) (RZFE=Z=F/1A—HEHF) 0N
Independent non-executive Directors BUHHITEE
Mr. HE Jin Geng BERSHS 1/1
Mr. YU Hong Gao CIFANSS e 1/1
Ms. CHEN Yang BR¥F 2zt 1/1

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a nomination policy of the Company (the
“‘Nomination Policy”) which sets out the selection criteria and
nomination procedures to identify, select and recommend candidates
for Directors. The Nomination Policy aims to set out the approach
to enable the Nomination Committee to nominate a Director to the
Board.
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SELECTION CRITERIA

The Nomination Committee shall consider the following selection
criteria and such other factors that it may consider appropriate for a
position on the Board:

a) Attributes Complementary to the Board: the candidate should
possess attributes that complement and expand the skill set,
experience and expertise of the Board as a whole, having
regard to the current structure, size, diversity profile and skills
matrix of the Board and the needs of the Board.

b) Business Experience & Board Expertise and Skills: the
candidate should have the ability to exercise sound business
judgment and also possess proven achievement and
experience in directorship including effective oversight of and
guidance to management.

c) Commitment: the candidate should have sufficient time for the
proper discharge of the duties of a Director, including devoting
adequate time for the preparation and participation in meetings,
training and other Board or Company associated activities.

d) Motivation: the candidate should be self-motivated and have a
strong interest in the Company’s businesses.

e) Integrity: the candidate should be a person of integrity, honesty,
good repute and high professional standing

f) Independence: independent non-executive Director candidates
must satisfy the independence requirements under the Listing
Rules. The independent non-executive Director candidate shall
be independent in character and judgement and be able to
represent and act in the best interests of all Shareholders.
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NOMINATION PROCEDURES
Appointment of New and Replacement Directors

a) If the Nomination Committee determines that an additional or
replacement Director is required, it will deploy multiple channels
for identifying suitable director candidates, including referral
from Directors, Shareholders, management, advisors of the
Company and external executive search firms.

b) Upon compilation and interview of the list of potential
candidates, the Nomination Committee will shortlist candidates
and make recommendations based on the selection criteria and
such other factors that it considers appropriate for consideration
by the Board. The Board has the final authority on determining
suitable director candidate for appointment.

Re-election of Directors and Nomination from Shareholders

Where a retiring Director, being eligible, offers himself for re-election,
the Committee shall consider and, if consider appropriate, make
recommendations to the Board for its consideration, for such retiring
Director to stand for re-election at a general meeting. A circular
containing the requisite information on such retiring Director will be
sent to Shareholders prior to a general meeting in accordance with
the Listing Rules.

a) Where a retiring Director, being eligible, offers himself for re-
election, the Nomination Committee shall consider and, if
consider appropriate, make recommendations to the Board
for its consideration, for such retiring Director to stand for re-
election at a general meeting. A circular containing the requisite
information on such retiring Director will be sent to Shareholders
prior to a general meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules.

b)  Any Shareholder who wishes to nominate a person to stand
for election as a Director at a general meeting must lodge with
the Company Secretary of the Company within the lodgment
period specified in the relevant Shareholder circular (a) a written
nomination of the candidate, (b) a written confirmation from
such nominated candidate of his or her willingness to stand
for election, and (c) biographical details of such nominated
candidate as required under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.
Particulars of the candidate so proposed will be sent to all
Shareholders for information by a supplementary circular.
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REVIEW AND MONITORING

The Nomination Committee will from time to time review the
Nomination Policy, monitor its implementation to ensure its continued
effectiveness and compliance with regulatory requirements and good
corporate governance practice and make recommendations on any
proposed revisions as may be required to the Board for approval.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee reviews the Company’s financial reports,
internal controls and corporate governance issues, appointment of
external auditors and review their independence and makes relevant
recommendations to the Board. The written terms of reference which
describes the authority and duties of the Audit Committee has been
prepared and adopted with reference to “A Guide for Effective Audit
Committee” published by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, and amended in accordance with the CG Code.

The Audit Committee comprises three members including all
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. HE Jin Geng as
the chairman, Mr. YU Hong Gao and Ms. CHEN Yang. Pursuant
to Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, at least one of whom possesses
appropriate professional qualifications, accounting or related financial
management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules. Mr. HE Jin Geng, the chairman of the Audit Committee, is a
qualified accountant and has the relevant financial experience. None
of the Audit Committee members were members of the former or
existing auditors of the Company.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the financial year and
the attendance of individual member is recorded as below. During the
meetings, the Audit Committee reviewed the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group, the interim and annual reports
of the Group and discussed with the external auditors on auditing,
internal control and financial reporting matters.
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Attendance record of Audit Committee meetings for the year

BE-_F-_=F+T-A=+T-HLEEHN

ended 31 December 2023 EREEEERCHELE
Attendance/
Number of
Members meetings
HERE,
RE BRRE
Independent non-executive Directors BUHHITEE
Mr. HE Jin Geng (Chairman) ek E (&) 2/2
Mr. YU Hong Gao CIFANSE e 2/2
Ms. CHEN Yang BR¥F 2zt 2/2
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE TEEREESR

The Corporate Governance Committee comprises four members
including an executive Director, namely Mr. LU Yi as the chairman
(appointed on 1 August 2023), and three independent non-executive
Directors namely Mr. HE Jin Geng, Mr. YU Hong Gao and Ms. CHEN
Yang.

The Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for, including
but not limited to, developing and reviewing the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance and making
recommendations to the Board, reviewing and monitoring the training
and continuous professional development of the Directors and Senior
Management, reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct applicable
to the Directors and the employees of the Company, and reviewing
the Company's compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.

The Corporate Governance Committee reviewed the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report.
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The chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee should be
primarily responsible for drawing up and approving the agenda for
each Corporate Governance Committee meeting and ensure that
all members of the Corporate Governance Committee should have
sufficient information in a timely manner to enable effective discussion
at the Corporate Governance Committee meeting. The chairman
should also brief all members on issues arising at each Corporate
Governance Committee meeting. During the financial year, no
Corporate Governance Committee meeting was held.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the audit fees and non-
audit fees paid/payable to the external auditors of the Group were as
follows:
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HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

Audit services ER 800,000 950,000

Non-audit services FEZRIE Nil £ Nil 4=
DIVIDEND POLICY IR B BER

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) EEeRERE DN —BIREHE ([BK

on payment of dividends. Provided that the Group has distributable
profits and without affecting the operations of the Group, the Company
may consider to declare and pay dividends to the Shareholders.
In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount, the Board shall take into account, included but
not limited to: (i) the general financial condition of the Group; (ii)
the expected working capital requirements and debt level of the
Group; (iii) the actual and future operations and liquidity position;
(iv) the expectations of the Shareholders and investors and industry
practices; (v) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be
imposed by the Group’s lenders; (vi) the general market conditions;
and (vii) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.
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The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands and
the Articles. The Dividend Policy will continue to be reviewed by
the Board from time to time and there can be no assurance that a
dividend will be proposed or declared in any particular amount for
any specific period.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the Consolidated
Financial Statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Directors
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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UNCERTAINTIES RELATING TO GOING
CONCERN

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
Consolidated Financial Statements and presenting a balanced, clear
and comprehensive assessment of the Group’s performance and
prospects. The Directors are aware of the reported loss attributable
to the owners of the Company of approximately HK$152,345,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2023 and, as of that date, the Group’s
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately
HK$530,708,000 and the Group had net liabilities of approximately
HK$507,674,000, in which interest-bearing borrowing and the
respective interest payable and redemption premium payable
amounted to approximately HK$115,000,000 and HK$362,358,000
respectively, while its cash and cash equivalents only amounted to
approximately HK$3,565,000.

These conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties
which may cast significant doubt on the Group'’s ability to continue as
a going concern and therefore it may be unable to realise its assets
and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

MANAGEMENT'S AND AUDIT COMMITTEE’S
VIEWS ON THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S
REPORT

The Directors have given careful consideration to future liquidity and
performance of the Group and its available sources. The Directors
have taken and are taking certain measures to manage its liquidity
needs and to improve its financial position which include but are not
limited to:

(i) Developing existing business

The Group’s existing business is operating as usual and the
Company is using its best endeavours to improve the Group’s
operating results and cash flow by focusing on the existing
business of the Group and will expand the existing business
internationally.

In the second to third quarter of 2023, the economy and
business activities in the PRC finally recovered and became
normal. The Group responded immediately and grasped this
opportunity to fully resume its business. The Company has
put in strenuous effort in identifying and exploring all sorts of
thriving business opportunities in further expanding its natural
gas business regardless of the arduous situation.
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(ii]

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Exploring business opportunities

In addition to development of the existing business, the
Company will also explore different business opportunities
in order to increase cash inflow of the Group to improve the
financial position of the Company.

Repaying outstanding liabilities and collecting account
receivables

The Company is actively negotiating with relevant parties and
will use its best endeavor to repay the outstanding liabilities.
Additionally, the Company is actively collecting its account
receivables from relevant parties to improve the financial
position of the Group.

Enforcing cost-saving measures

The Company will use its best endeavours to minimise its
expenses including but not limited to administrative expenses
as well as operating costs.

Loan capitalisation

The Company is in negotiation with the creditor(s) of the Group
in relation to potential capitalisation of the debt. It will not only
reduce the debt but will also increase the shareholder base of
the Company.

Potential fund-raising activities

The Group is actively seeking opportunities for fund-raising
such as rights issue, placing of new shares, issue of new shares
and/or convertible bonds, depending on the prevailing market
conditions and the development of the Group’s businesses.

Provided that the above measures are successfully implemented

and the financial position of the Group is improved, the Directors
believe that the Group will have sufficient cash resources to satisfy
its future working capital and other financial needs. Accordingly, the
Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared on a going

concern basis.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the view of and assessment made
by the management and based on the detailed plans of the Directors
in addressing the going concern and liquidity issue of the Group, the

Audit Committee agreed with the management’s position concerning
the going concern and liquidity issue.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is overall responsible for evaluating and determining the
nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Group’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Group established
and maintained appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems.

The Board has reviewed the following annually: (a) the changes,
since the last annual review, in the nature and extent of significant
risks (including Environmental, Social and Governance (the “ESG”")
risks), and the Company's ability to respond to changes in its
business and the external environment; (b) the scope and quality
of the management’s ongoing monitoring of risks (including ESG
risks) and of the internal control systems and the work of internal
audit; (c) the extent and frequency of report by the management
of monitoring results to the Board (or Board committee(s)) which
enables it to assess control of the Group and the effectiveness of
risk management; (d) significant control failings or weaknesses that
have been identified during the period. Also, the extent to which they
have resulted in unforeseen outcomes or contingencies that have
had, could have had, or may in the future have, a material impact
on the company’s financial performance or condition; and (e) the
effectiveness of the processes for financial reporting and Listing Rules
compliance.

The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and internal
controls that are significant to the Group on an on-going basis.
The Audit Committee would consider the adequacy of resource,
qualifications and experience and training of staff and external
advisor of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting function.

The management of the Group is responsible for designing,
maintaining, implementing and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control system on a on-going basis, and would review
the effectiveness annually to ensure adequate control in place to
safeguard the Group’s assets and stakeholder's interest. The main
features of the risk management and internal control systems are to
provide a clear governance structure, policies and procedures, as
well as reporting mechanism to facilitate the Group to manage it risks
across business operations.
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The Group has established risk management procedures to identify,
evaluate and manage all the significant risks associated with the
business of the Group. The Board would perform annual review on
any significant change of the business environment and establish
procedures to respond to the risks resulted from significant change
of business environment. The risk management and internal control
systems are designed to mitigate the potential losses of the business.

The management would identify the risks associated with the business
of the Group by considering both internal and external factors and
events which include political, economic, technology, environmental,
social and staff. Each of the risks has been assessed and prioritised
based on their relevant impact and occurrence opportunity. The
relevant risk management strategy would be applied to each type of
risks according to the assessment results. Type of risk management
strategy has been listed as follow:

- Risk retention and reduction: accept the impact of risk or
undertake actions by the Group to reduce the impact of the
risks;

- Risk avoidance: change business process or objective so as to
avoid the risk;

- Risk sharing and diversification: diversify the effect of the risk or
allocate to different location or product or market; and

- Risk transfer: transfer ownership and liability to a third party

The internal control systems are designed and implemented to
reduce the risks associated with the business accepted by the Group
and minimise the adverse impact results from the risks. The risk
management and internal control system are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

In addition, the Audit Committee in ongoing monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group. Deficiencies
in the design and implementation of internal controls are identified
and recommendations are proposed for improvement. Significant
internal control deficiencies are reported to the Board on a timely
basis to ensure prompt remediation actions are taken.
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The Board considered that, for the year ended 31 December 2023,
the risk management and internal control system and procedures
of the Group, covering all material controls including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions
were reasonably effective and adequate.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF
INSIDE INFORMATION

For the purpose of handling and disseminating inside information
in accordance with the Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO”) (Cap 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the
Group has aroused the awareness to preserve confidentiality of
inside information within the Group and send blackout period and
securities dealing restrictions notification to the relevant Directors
and employees on a regular basis as needed, strictly comply with
the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission in June 2012.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

In compliance with code provision D.2.6 of the CG Code, the Board
adopted a whistleblowing policy (the “Whistleblowing Policy”). It
provides employees and the relevant third parties who deal with the
Group (e.g. customers and suppliers) with guidance and reporting
channels to raise concerns, in confidence and anonymity, with the
Audit Committee (or any designated committee comprising a majority
of independent non-executive Directors) about possible improprieties
in any matter related to the Company. All reported matters will be
investigated independently and, in the meantime, all information
received from a whistleblower and its identity will be kept confidential.
The Board and the Audit Committee will regularly review the
Whistleblowing Policy and mechanism to improve its effectiveness.
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ANTI-BRIBERY AND ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

In compliance with code provision D.2.7 of the CG Code, the Board
adopted an anti-bribery and anti-corruption policy (the “Anti-Bribery
and Anti-Corruption Policy”). It outlines guidelines and the minimum
standards of conducts, all applicable laws and regulations in relation
to anti-corruption and anti-bribery, the responsibilities of employees to
resist fraud, to help the Group defend against corrupt practices and
to report any reasonably suspected case of fraud and corruption or
any attempts thereof, to the management or through an appropriate
reporting channel. The Group would not tolerate any form of bribery
and corruption among all employees and those acting in an agency
or fiduciary capacity on behalf of the Group, and in its business
dealing with third parties.

The Board and the Audit Committee will review the Anti-Bribery
and Anti-Corruption Policy and mechanism periodically to ensure
its effectiveness and enforce the commitment of the Group to the
prevention, deterrence, detection and investigation of all forms of
bribery and corruption.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary assists the Board by ensuring the Board
policies and procedures including those on governance matters
are followed. Mr. WONG Hoi Kuen (“Mr. WONG") was appointed
as the Company Secretary on 1 August 2023. Mr. WONG complies
with the requisite qualifications pursuant to Rule 3.28 of the Listing
Rules to discharge the functions of the Company Secretary pursuant
to the Listing Rules. Mr. TSUI Siu Hung Raymond resigned on 13
January 2023. During the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr.
WONG confirms that he has complied with the relevant professional
training requirement and have taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training to update his skills and knowledge.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO
CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING

In accordance with Article 57 of the Articles, an extraordinary general
meeting shall be convened on the written requisition of any 2 or
more members holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition in
aggregate not less than 10 per cent of such of the paid up capital of
the Company as at the date of the deposit carries the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company. Such requisition must state the
objects of the meeting and must be signed by the requisitionists and
deposited at the office. If the Directors do not within 21 days from
the date of the deposit of such requisition proceed duly to convene
an extraordinary general meeting, the requisitionists themselves may
convene the extraordinary general meeting in the same manner,
as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened
by the Directors, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionists as a result of the failure of the Directors to convene
such a meeting shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD ANY
SHAREHOLDERS' ENQUIRIES OR PROPOSALS
TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries or proposals to the
Board/Company Secretary by email: hkoffice@china-infrastructure.com,
or by mail to Room 705A, 7/F., New East Ocean Centre, 9 Science
Museum Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general
meetings of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company continues to pursue a proactive policy of promoting
corporate transparency and communications with the Shareholders,
potential investors and investment community mainly through
publication of announcements, circulars and financial reports. The
Senior Management responsible for investor relations holds meetings
with press reporters and potential strategic investors to keep them
abreast of the Company’s development, if necessary.
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During the year under review, there were no changes in the Articles.
An up to date version of the Articles is available on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website. The Shareholders may
refer to the Articles for further details of their rights.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communications with
all Shareholders so that they can exercise their rights as Shareholders
in an informed basis. The Company has adopted a Shareholders
communication policy (the “Shareholders Communication Policy”)
with the objective of ensuring that Shareholders and potential
investors are provided with ready, equal and timely access to
balanced and understandable information of the Company. Besides
distribution of financial reports, the Company has a corporate
website to foster effective communications with the Shareholders.
It is maintained to disseminate Company’s announcements and
presentations, Shareholders’ information and other relevant financial
and non-financial information.

Another dialogue with Shareholders is the Company’s general
meetings which provide a useful forum for Shareholders to exchange
their views with the Board. The Company shall provide Shareholders
with relevant information on the resolution(s) proposed at a general
meeting in a timely manner in accordance with the Listing Rules.
The information provided shall be reasonably necessary to enable
Shareholders to make an informed decision on the proposed
resolution(s). Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general
meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at the meetings for
and on their behalf if they are unable to attend the meetings.

The Company will maintain an open and effective Shareholders
Communication Policy and to update Shareholders and investors
on relevant information on the Group’s business in a timely manner,
subject to relevant regulatory requirements. The Company has
reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders
Communication Policy and considered it to be effective. Due to the
delay in publication of the audited annual results for the years ended
31 December 2021, 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2023, the
annual general meeting will be held in 2024.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LU Yi (“Mr. Lu”), aged 45, Mr. Lu has been appointed as an
executive Director on 12 August 2021. Mr. Lu has taken up the roles
as the chairman, chief executive officer and chairman of both of the
nomination committee and corporate governance committee of the
Company effective from 1 August 2023. Mr. Lu graduated from Hubei
University of Technology. Mr. Lu has over 20 years of rich experience
in entrepreneurship, mainly in industries such as electronic product
manufacturing, mainland China and overseas trade, mineral
resources industry (exploration and mining, processing, sales and
trade entire industry chain), etc. Mr. Lu founded Glory Grace Group
Co., Limited (“Glory Grace”), a company incorporated in Hong Kong
in 2013. Glory Grace mainly engaged in sales of Petrochemical,
trade of electronic parts, optical fiber and photovoltaic products,
engineering equipment, automobile production and sales, supply of
bulk commodities and exploitation and financing of natural resource
industries.

Mr. YE De Chao (“Mr. Ye”), aged 63, has been appointed as an
executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company on
17 January 2012. Mr. Ye was appointed as the vice chairman of the
Company since 1 August 2012 and was then redesignated as the
acting chairman of the Company on 18 January 2013. Mr. Ye has
been appointed as the chairman of the company on 28 February
2013. Mr. Ye has resigned as the chief executive officer of the
Company but continued to serve as the chairman of the company
effective from 9 March 2015. Mr. Ye has resigned as the chairman of
the Company but continued to serve as an executive director of the
Company with effect from 31 July 2017. Mr. Ye is also the chairman
of Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property Company Limited* (Fg 5 &l & f}
EXABMRAR]) which is an associated company of the Company,
and the chairman of Nanjing Wanlilai Real Estate Development
Company Limited* (AR EFREMERZBRAE). Mr. Ye has
over 20 years of experiences in business operation and management.
Mr. Ye was an electric engineer of Electric Technology Department,
Nanjing Railway Sub-administration, Shanghai Railway Bureau, The
Ministry of Railways of the People’s Republic of China* (F# AR
HMBEHER LEBEHKRBHRERERK S BE NKMEL). He obtained
a bachelor’'s degree from Southeast University in July 1992 and an
EMBA from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business, Beijing, PRC,
in September 2011. Mr. Ye is a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company.

* For identification purpose only
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Mr. XU Feng (“Mr. Xu”), age 51, has been appointed as an executive
Director on 18 September 2023. Mr. Xu graduated from Peking
University Guanghua School of Management* (it RAZE N FEEIEE

BE).

Mr. Xu is a member of The China Democratic National Construction
Association (CDNCA). He has been served as deputy to the 13th,
14th and 15th National People’s Congress of Qigihar City, standing
member of the 12th Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference (CPPCC) of Qigihar City, vice chairman
of the Ninth Committee of Qigihar Youth Federation* and the Fifth
Youth Chamber of Commerce of Qigihar City*, member of the
Standing Committee of Qigihar Municipal Committee of the CDNCA.
He has been awarded the honorary titles including “Excellent
Youth Entrepreneur”, “May Fourth Youth Medal of Qigihar City” and
“Advanced Individual of National Social Work” rated by The CDNCA
Central Committee.

Save as disclosed above, no executive Director has held any other
directorships in listed public companies in the last three years
and none of them are connected with any other Directors, Senior
Management or substantial or controlling Shareholders of the
Company.

There is currently no director service contract between the Company
and any executive Director. There is no specific term in respect of
their respective appointment, but subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years at the annual general meetings of
the Company. The executive Directors are not entitled to director’s
fee but will be entitled to discretionary bonus to be decided by the
Board based on their contributions, the Company’s annual business
performance and the recommendations given by the Remuneration
Committee of the Board. Details of Directors’ remuneration in 2023 are
set out in note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

*  For identification purpose only
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. HE Jin Geng (“Mr. He”), aged 54, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of audit committee
and a member of each of the remuneration committee, nomination
committee and corporate governance committee of the Company
on 1 August 2012. Mr. He holds a doctorate degree in Politics and
Economics from Nanjing University. Mr. He currently serves as the
general manager of Nanjing Bai Ao In Big Data Technology Co., Ltd*
(MR ARREAAXZBERE AR QF). He previously served as a director
and president of Nanjing Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd* (9 RE & H A
fR A7) and as secretary of Youth League of Liuao District of Sanmen
County of Zhejiang Province* (#1/T%& =& ~FEEZ), and also
served different posts in Nanjing Xin Gang High-Tech Co., Ltd* (/4
B SRR AR A R]), including deputy director of the office,
secretary of the board of directors and deputy general manager.
Mr. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants.

Mr. YU Hong Gao (“Mr. Yu”), aged 61, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of remuneration
committee and a member of each of the audit committee, nomination
committee and corporate governance committee of the Company on
1 August 2012. Mr. Yu graduated from Nanjing University of Science
and Technology and holds a doctorate degree. Mr. Yu previously
served as deputy general manager of the department of Entrusted
Assets Management, general manager of Asset Management
Department and general manager of Securities Investment
Department of Huatai Securities Co., Ltd.* (EHRZEEBK MO BR A
7)), deputy manager of the Investment Department of Jiangsu
High-Tech Capital Venture Co., Ltd. of the department of Finance of
Jiangsu Province* (VT # & M HE S H R MTABRIEE R 7)), deputy
head of Chengxi Sub-branch of China Citic Bank Nanjing Branch* ( &
ZIRITE R TIH A 1T), deputy general manager of Securities
Investment Head Office and general manager of Assets Management
Head Office of Xin Tai Securities Co., Ltd.* ({EF=EHFBRMDBRAF]) .

* For identification purpose only
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Ms. CHEN Yang (“Ms. Chen”), aged 50, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director and a member of each of the
audit committee, remuneration committee, nomination committee and
corporate governance committee of the Company on 5 September
2014. Ms. Chen graduated from Southeast University and holds a
master degree. Ms. Chen currently serves as deputy general manager
of Nanjing Yulan Road Branch of Dongguan Securities Co., Ltd.* (&
RAFBREMARBE RIS Z%E0) . She previously served
as sales director of Nanjing Hongwu South Road Branch of Dongxing
Securities Co., Ltd.* (REILFHRH B R A R E LR HEILS 2
%¥20) , marketing manager of Nanjing Hanzhong Road Branch of
Xiangcai Securities Co., Ltd.* Gl BF 7iE 5 M0 B R A &) # 7% i
fE# & 250 ) and customer relationship manager of Nanjing Pacific
South Road Branch of Guotai Junan Securities Co., Ltd.* ( IZ=E & 3F
HFROBR AR ERAFEBLESFEEE) .

Save as disclosed above, no independent non-executive Director
has held any other directorships in listed public companies in the
last three years or is otherwise connected with any other Directors,
Senior Management or substantial or controlling Shareholders of the
Company.

There is currently no director service contract between the Company
and each of the independent non-executive Directors. There is no
specific term in respect of their respective appointment, but subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years at the annual
general meetings of the Company. Each of Mr. He, Mr. Yu and Ms.
Chen received director’s fee of HK$120,000, respectively, in 2023.

* For identification purpose only
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The Directors submit herewith their annual report together with the
audited Consolidated Financial Statements.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in natural gas business and its peripherals and
property development and investment business.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year and the
probable future business development of the Group are set out in
the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. A discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year and the financial
key performance indicators are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. The
financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are
set out in note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. In addition,
the environmental policies and performance, compliance with relevant
laws and regulations and the Group’s relationship with its employees
are disclosed in the environmental, social and governance report of
the Company.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
Business Risks

The Group’s business risk factors include changes in the overall
market conditions, downward pressure on China's economy and
change of government policies in China. The Board is responsible for
overall business management and review of major business decisions
involving disclosure of significant risks from time to time.

Financial Risks

The Group has adopted a series of financial risk management policies
to manage its liquidity risk, credit term allocation risk, financing
structure risk, interest rate risk and exchange rate risk. The Board
also reviews the Group’s management accounts, capital structure and
key operational data on a monthly basis.
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Compliance Risks

The Board takes effective measures to ensure compliance of the
Company with the laws, regulations and rules. The Company has
engaged professional consultants and advisors to keep the Company
updated on the latest changes in the regulatory environment,
including legal, financial, environmental and operational development.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate revenue attributable to the Group’s largest
customer and five largest customers taken together accounted for
approximately 77% and 87% respectively of the Group’s total revenue
for the year.

The aggregate cost of sales attributable to the Group’s largest
supplier and five largest suppliers taken together accounted for
approximately 97% and 98% respectively of the Group’s total cost of
sales for the year.

Save otherwise disclosed, at no time during the year have the
Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the Company
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had any interest in these major customers
and suppliers.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the past five financial years is set out on page 214 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 70 to 71 of this annual report.

The state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2023 are set out in
the consolidated statement of financial position on pages 72 to 73 of
this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: Nil).
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of significant changes in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 18 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Movements in share capital of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in note 33 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and in note 35 to the Consolidated Financial Statements respectively.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed shares during the year ended
31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: Nil).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company'’s subsidiaries are set out in note 34 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

Particulars of interest-bearing borrowings as at 31 December 2023
are set out in note 29 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefits scheme of the Group are set out in
note 32 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance and has committed to comply throughout the year with
the CG Code.

Further information on the Company’s corporate governance practices
is set out in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and at the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. LU Yi (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
on 1 August 2023)

Mr. YE De Chao

Mr. XU Feng (appointed on 18 September 2023)

Mr. XU Xiao Jun (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned as the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
on 1 August 2023 and resigned as an executive Director
on 18 September 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. HE Jin Geng

Mr. YU Hong Gao

Ms. CHEN Yang

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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In accordance with the provisions of the Articles, Mr. LU Yi, Mr. XU
Feng, Mr. YE De Chao, Mr. HE Jin Geng, Mr. YU Hong Gao and Ms.
CHEN Yang shall retire from the Board at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors had any existing or propose service contract
with the Company or any member of the Group which is not expiring
or terminable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as the material related party transactions disclosed in note 37
to the Consolidated Financial Statements, no Director or a connected
entity of a Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to the
business of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (a)
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO), to be entered in the register
referred to therein; or (b) were required, pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein; or (c) were
required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing
Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were
as follows:
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LONG POSITION IN THE ORDINARY SHARES

REBERZIFE

Number of Shares held

BFEZRGER
% to the issued
share capital of
Personal Corporate the Company
Name of Director Interests Interests Total (Note 2)
LR NN
ERITRA
B2 (%)
BEEpR BARER DRER my (F&E2)
Mr. Ye De Chao XEdrs - 110,819,851 110,819,851 25.95
(Note 1)
(HE&E1)
Notes: B ok

(1)  These Shares were held by Legendary Base International Limited, a
company which was wholly-owned by Mr. Ye De Chao. Hence, he was
deemed to have a beneficial interest in all these Shares.

(2)  The percentage to the issued share capital of the Company in this table
was calculated based on the number of issued share capital of the
Company as at 31 December 2023, being 426,991,051 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interest or
short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associate corporation (within the meaning of
the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including any interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 11 July 2008
(the “Share Option Scheme’). The purposes of the Share Option
Scheme are to enable the Group and its invested entities (any
entity in which any member of the Group holds an equity interest)
to recruit and retain high calibre eligible persons and attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group or invested entities, to
recognise the contributions of the eligible persons to the growth of
the Group or invested entities by rewarding them with opportunities
to obtain ownership interest in the Company and to motivate and give
incentives to these eligible persons to continue to contribute to the
long term success and prosperity of the Group or invested entities.
Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the Board may invite any
eligible person including any director and employee of the Company
to take up options to subscribe for Shares. The Share Option Scheme
shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years. The Share Option
Scheme expired on 11 July 2018. No new share option scheme had
been adopted by the Company as at the date of this report.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2023, so far as is known to the Directors or chief
executive of the Company, the following persons (other than the
Directors or chief executive of the Company) had an interest or short
position in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:
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LONG POSITION IN THE ORDINARY SHARES REBIR B
% to the issued
share capital of
Number of  the Company
Name of Shareholders Capacity Shares (Note 6)
LR NN
EBITRA
B2 (%)
RRERB BEEEH R&OEE (Ht=E6)
Central Huijin Investment Ltd. (Note 1) Interests of controlled corporation 110,819,851 25.95
PRESKREFREELE (1) REEEER
China Construction Bank Corporation (Note 2) Interests of controlled corporation 110,819,851 25.95
PEZRIRITRM AR E (HEE2) R NE:
Legendary Base International Limited (Note 3) Beneficial owner 110,819,851 25.95
Legendary Base International Limited (Ff553)  EZIZ#HA A
Expert Ever Limited (Note 4) Beneficial owner 38,395,600 8.99
Expert Ever Limited ( ff7£4) E=EEA
Zhang Xiaojun (Note 4) Interests of controlled corporation 38,395,600 8.99
R (Mizta) REEEER
PHOENIX BRIDGE INTERNATIONAL Beneficial owner 49,054,400 11.49
HOLDINGS GROUP INVESTMENT EREAA
CO., LTD (Note 5)
BEBREZEREEBR AT (EES)
WANG Dade (Note 5) Beneficial owner 59,779,000 14.00

FRAE (FFES5)

Notes:

(1)  China Construction Bank Corporation was owned as to 57.11% by (1)

Central Huijin Investment Ltd..

(2)  According to the disclosure of interest form filed by China Construction (2)
Bank Corporation, China Construction Bank Corporation reported
interests because Prosper Talent Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of China Construction Bank Corporation, was reported to
have direct interests in the Shares. So far as the Company was aware
of, Prosper Talent Limited was a person having a security interest in the

Shares under a share pledge.
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(8) Legendary Base International Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Ye De
Chao, who is a director of both the Company and Legendary Base
International Limited.

(4)  Expert Ever Limited was wholly-owned by Zhang Xiaojun.

(5) PHOENIX BRIDGE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS GROUP INVESTMENT
CO., LTD was wholly-owned by WANG Dade.

(6) The percentages to the issued share capital of the Company in this
table were calculated based on the number of issued share capital of
the Company as at 31 December 2023, being 426,991,051 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, no person (other
than Directors or chief executive of the Company) had an interest or a
short position in the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336
of the SFO.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and Senior Management of the
Group are set out on pages 45 to 48 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Except for the transactions as disclosed in notes 14 and 37 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements, no other contracts of significance
to which the Company, its holding company or subsidiaries was a
party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, subject to the provisions of and so far as may
be permitted by the Law, every Director, auditor, secretary or other
officer of the Company and every agent or employee of the Company
shall be entitled to be indemnified by the Company out of the assets
of the Company against all costs, charges, losses, expenses and
liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or about the execution and
discharge of his duties or in relation thereto including any liability
incurred by him in defending any proceeding, civil or criminal, which
relate to anything done or omitted or alleged to have been done or
omitted by him as officer or employee of the Company and in which
judgment is given in his favour (or the proceedings are otherwise
disposed of without any finding or admission of any material breach
of duty on his part) or in which he is acquitted or in connection with
any application under any law for relief from liability in respect of any
such act or omission in which relief is granted to him by any court of
competent jurisdiction.

The Company did not arrange any directors’ liability insurance as
the Board considered that the risk of material legal claims against
Directors is minimal.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 27 September 2012, Keen Gate Developments Limited
(“Keen Gate”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group), Mr.
YE De Chao (“Mr. Ye”) (an executive Director and a substantial
Shareholder), Modern Admission Group Limited, Mr. Lee Kai Choi
and Forward Investment had entered into a subscription agreement
(the “Subscription Agreement”) in relation to the subscription
of 40% equity interests in Forward Investment by Keen Gate
(the “Subscription”) at a consideration of HK$300 million (the
“Consideration”). The Subscription was completed on 10 December
2012. Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement, Mr. Ye, Modern
Admission Group Limited and Mr. Lee Kai Choi (collectively, the
“Guarantors”) jointly and severally undertake to Keen Gate that the
return to Keen Gate, being the dividend receivable from the Group’s
equity interests in Forward Investment, shall not be less than 12% of
the Consideration per annum. In the event the return to Keen Gate
falls below such threshold, the Guarantors shall compensate Keen
Gate on a dollar-for-dollar basis (the “Return Undertaking”) in cash
on or before 15 May of each calendar year.
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Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement, the Guarantors shall fulfill
their obligations under the guarantee by paying the compensation of
approximately HK$36,000,000 to Keen Gate for the year ended 31
December 2023 on or before 15 May 2024.

As at the date of this annual report, the Guarantors have not
yet fulfilled their obligations under the guarantee by paying the
compensation of approximately HK$36,000,000 each year to Keen
Gate for the years ended 31 December 2021, 31 December 2022 and
31 December 2023, respectively. On 31 August 2023, the Guarantor
committed to the Company in writing that, due to his serious health
condition, the Return Undertaking for years ended 31 December
2021 and 31 December 2022 will be settled on or before 31 August
2024. On 31 March 2024, the Guarantor committed to the Company
in writing that, due to his serious health condition and the impact of
the COVID-19 epidemic, the Return Undertaking for year ended 31
December 2023 will be settled on or before 31 December 2024.

The independent non-executive Directors had been informed about
the abovementioned. The independent non-executive Directors
will closely monitor the status of the fulfiiment of the Guarantors’
obligations regarding the Return Undertaking and will provide
an opinion (the “INED Opinion”) on whether the Guarantors had
fulfilled their obligations. The INED Opinion will be disclosed in the
Company’s next published annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee presently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors. The Audit Committee has reviewed with the
management and the Company’s external auditors, the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed
auditing, internal control and financial reporting process including the
review of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or any of their respective associates, is
interested in any business that competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, nor has
any other conflict of interest with the Group.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable
date prior to issue of this report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed amount of public float during the year and up to the date
of this report as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

On 19 March 2020, Crowe (HK) CPA Limited resigned as the auditors
of the Company. The Audit Committee recommended to appoint HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited with effect from 19 March 2020 to fill
the casual vacancy so arising. On 11 October 2023, HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited resigned as the auditors of the Company. The
Audit Committee recommended to appoint Asian Alliance (HK) CPA
Limited with effect from 11 October 2023 to fill the casual vacancy so
arising.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Asian
Alliance (HK) CPA Limited whose term of office will expire upon the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. A resolution for
the re-appointment of Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited as the auditors
of the Company for the subsequent year is to be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

LUYi
Chairman

Hong Kong, 19 April 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B2 RS

/ EEl(FB)LEHMEBAAERAT
Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
TREEZRERRDA

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of
China Infrastructure Investment Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
70 to 213, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report,
we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial
statements. In all other respects, in our opinion, the consolidated
financial statements have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION
[A) LIMITATION OF SCOPE ON ACCOUNTING

BOOKS AND RECORDS OF TIANJIN HUI LI
YUAN

During the year ended 31 December 2021, a key management
of the Group has been suffering from serious health problems,
which caused great hindrance to him in the management
and daily works in the Group. In light of the disruptions and
uncertainty surrounding the operation of X3EE HRE) R EH
R 28] (Tianjin Hui Li Yuan Power Equipment Co. Ltd.*) (“Tianjin
Hui Li Yuan”), a principal non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Group, all of the employees of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan, including the
key personnel of the management team and the responsible
person for finance and accounting matters of Tianjin Hui Li
Yuan, had left Tianjin Hui Li Yuan. Tianjin Hui Li Yuan has
suspended its operation since the year ended 31 December
2021.

The directors of the Company had taken all reasonable steps to
preserve and maintain the books and records of Tianjin Hui Li
Yuan that were left behind by certain former management and
key personnel of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan responsible for finance and
accounting matters, including but not limited to the management
accounts, ledgers and sub-ledgers account. Despite the
best endeavor of the directors of the Company to (i) locate
supporting documents, such as invoices, purchase orders,
construction agreements (the “Construction Agreements”)
and progress reports (the “Progress Reports”), regarding the
construction in progress, major assets of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan,
and (ii) assemble the explanations on the journal entries, they
were unable to fully access/recover the accounting and finance
records.
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(Continued)

[A] LIMITATION OF SCOPE ON ACCOUNTING [(A) BB X EE 1 FEEZER

BOOKS AND RECORDS OF TIANJIN HUI LI
YUAN (Continued)

In addition, as disclosed in Notes 18 and 36 to the consolidated
financial statements, Tianjin Hui Li Yuan had entered into
an agreement (the “Pledge Agreement”) with a PRC trust
company (the “Lender”), to provide a pledge (the “Pledge”)
of the properties of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan (“Tianjin Properties”),
which are major assets of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan with aggregate
carrying amounts of approximately HK$Nil and HK$Nil as at 31
December 2022 and 28 December 2023 respectively, to secure
a loan in the sum of RMB80,000,000 (the “Loan”) granted by the
Lender to a business partner (the “Borrower”), an independent
third party of the Group. In order to protect the interest of the
Group against the loss which might be suffered by the Group
under the Pledge, the Borrower and the non-controlling interest
of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan entered into a counter indemnity in favour
of the Group pursuant to which they agreed to, among other
matters, indemnify the Group for its liabilities and loss which
may arise from the Pledge. The non-controlling interest of Tianjin
Hui Li Yuan also agreed to indemnify the Group by offering a
pledge of its 40% equity interest in Tianjin Hui Li Yuan to the
Group upon default in loan repayments by the Borrower. On
30 March 2022, XEm & A KERT (Tianjin Nankai District
People’s Court*) made a judgement (the “Judgement”) that
amongst other things, the Borrower shall compensate X)Z¥1E
EHOESERAF (Tianjin Product Import & Export Trading
Co., Ltd.*) (“Tianjin Trading”), being a party which the Lender
has transferred its interest in the Loan to Tianjin Trading. If the
Borrower fails to compensate Tianjin Trading, Tianjin Hui Li Yuan
shall bear the shortfall amount by the proceed from sale of the
Tianjin Properties. As a result, the Tianjin Properties were fully
impaired and impairment loss of approximately HK$113,919,000
was recognised during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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VEZR) ([BRADEBHEZRAH
A R #80,000,0007T ([EFR]) R E
ReBRE BEEBE Mz 2HEZE
WmE BEEEEIBX BRARK
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BAXmAFI L —HRMABE- -EIL-
FERE(HPRIE)FEE BE£EH
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[A] LIMITATION OF SCOPE ON ACCOUNTING (A) BB X EE L FEER

64

BOOKS AND RECORDS OF TIANJIN HUI LI
YUAN (Continued)

As disclosed in Note 40 to consolidated financial statements,
on 28 December 2023, Nanjing Taiye Metal Material
Technology Company Limited*, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into a sale and purchase agreement
with an independent third party in relation to the disposal of its
100% equity interest in FRERT R IEFR AR (Nanjing
Xide Municipal Engineering Co., Ltd.*) (“Nanjing Xide") at a
consideration of RMB1,000,000. Nanjing Xide is an investment
holding company and has 60% equity interest in Tianjin Hui Li
Yuan (the “Nanjing Xide Group”). The disposal is completed
on 28 December 2023 (the “Disposal Date”), and a loss on
disposal of subsidiaries of approximately HK$10,629,000 has
been recognised in the profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2023.

Under the circumstances as explained above, we were not able
to carry out procedures which we considered as necessary on
the books and records of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan, including but not
limited to the Construction Agreements, the Progress Reports,
the Pledge Agreement and the indemnity documents, to satisfy
ourselves as to:

(i) the existence, rights and obligations, completeness,
accuracy, valuation and classification of (a) its total
assets of approximately HK$6,743,000, total liabilities
of approximately HK$84,458,000 and the cumulative
exchange reserve of approximately HK$7,011,000 as at 31
December 2022; and (b) its total assets of approximately
HK$6,576,000, total liabilities of approximately
HK$82,838,000 and the cumulative exchange reserve of
approximately HK$8,978,000 as at the Disposal Date;

(i) the occurrence, completeness, accuracy, cut-off and
classification of (a) its loss of approximately HK$1,154,000
and HK$514,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022
and for the period from 1 January 2023 to the Disposal
Date, respectively; and (b) its total comprehensive income
of approximately HK$3,850,000 for the year ended 31
December 2022 and total comprehensive income of
approximately HK$1,453,000 for the period from 1 January
2023 to the Disposal Date;
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

(Continued)

[A) LIMITATION OF SCOPE ON ACCOUNTING
BOOKS AND RECORDS OF TIANJIN HUI LI

YUAN (continued)

(iii)  the segment information of property investment segment,
the contingent liabilities and other related disclosure
notes in relation to Tianjin Hui Li Yuan, as included in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2023,
have been accurately recorded and properly accounted
for in the consolidated financial statements; and

(iv) the accuracy of the loss on disposal of subsidiaries of
approximately HK$10,629,000 as included in the profit or
loss of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

There were no other satisfactory audit procedures that we could
adopt to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence in this regard.

Financial information in respect of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan is set out

below:

Income and expenses of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan:

FrRRBERZEE »

[A) B B X EELDFRER
R EE R ()

(iii)

EEEHE_ZS-__F+=A
=t+—BRkZFE=Z=F+=AH
Zt+—BUIEFENGREMBRE
FEmEEXETENROMER
BRI DEHER KREER
HMBEEENTERNGEEUMH
MEPERTHEREZSEAER K

 E_E_=ZF+-_fA=+—H
HFEFA E£EEBEZNHE
B /B A 7 &5 48 910,629,000 T
B AR o

WEEMAEEFRA S AEADN
EREFURLEST R LEENE

% o

ng

RBENROFBEEHEIDT :

Finance costs
Administrative expenses

Loss before tax
Income tax expense

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income for the year

FAFERAR
THFEX

BB AT B R
PSR X

FREE
H 2 W as

FREEREAE

KABENROWA KRR
From
1 January
2023 to Year ended
28 December 31 December
2023 2022
—=E—= HE
—A—RB% -
—s=-= +=-—A=+—H
+=—A=+NH IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFET FHET
(538)
- (616)
(514) (1,154)
(514) (1,154)
1,967 5,004
1,453 3,850
FEREEZERERRAR
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

FTRRBERZEE »

(Continued)
[A] LIMITATION OF SCOPE ON ACCOUNTING [(A] BEEXEE L FHRZER
BOOKS AND RECORDS OF TIANJIN HUI LI ERHYEE R # ()
YUAN (Continued)
Assets and liabilities of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan: REENFRWNEERBE:
As at As at
28 December 31 December
2023 2022
BZE HZE
—E—= =
TZAZHNH |t =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FET
Property, plant and equipment ME - BRE KRB = -
Other receivables H i fE W R IE 6,467 6,632
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBELFEY 109 111
Other payables A R (16,400) (17,381)
Amounts due to the Group B BEEERIE (66,438) (67,077)
Net liabilities of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan KEZENRHBEFHE (76,262) (77,715)
Any adjustments found to be necessary to the above matters WMAEVEY FEEEHEMNAE:
might have significant consequential effects on the consolidated AlAfge g 2T _—_F+=A4
financial performance and consolidated cash flows of the Group —F+—BHERZEZ=FF+ZA=1+—
for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December HIEFER ESERKRAVBERAR
2023, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at ReERSRE BHE-_TE-__F+=
31 December 2022 and the related disclosures thereof in the B=+—H&M EBESEZATBHMKR
consolidated financial statements. ARG EREPOABEREEL
BREBERE-
(B) MULTIPLE FUNDAMENTAL UNCERTAINTIES (B) FEF#E&L&E > 2 HEE XK

RELATING TO GOING CONCERN

As stated in Note 3.1 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group reported loss attributable to the owners of the
Company of approximately HK$152,345,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2023 and, as of that date, the Group'’s
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately
HK$530,708,000 and the Group had net liabilities of
approximately HK$507,674,000, in which interest-bearing
borrowing and the respective interest payable and redemption
premium payable amounted to approximately HK$115,000,000
and HK$362,358,000 respectively, while its cash and cash

equivalents only amounted to approximately HK$3,565,000.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

(Continued)

(B] MULTIPLE FUNDAMENTAL UNCERTAINTIES
RELATING TO GOING CONCERN (continuea)

These conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties
which may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern and therefore it may be unable
to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal
course of business.

As explained in Note 3.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared by the directors of the Company on a going concern
basis, the validity of which is dependent on the Group’s ability
to obtain sufficient future funding. Due to the uncertainty of
the Group’s ability to maintain adequate future cash flows, we
were unable to ascertain whether the assumptions made by
the directors of the Company in preparing the consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis are proper and
appropriate.

Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate,
adjustments would be necessary to reclassify all non-current
assets as current assets, to write-down the value of assets to
their recoverable amounts and to provide for further liabilities
which may arise. The consolidated financial statements have not
incorporated any of these adjustments. However, the uncertainty
surrounding the Group’s future cash flows raises significant
doubt about the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
We consider that appropriate disclosures have been made in
the consolidated financial statements concerning this situation,
but we are unable to obtain adequate evidence concerning the
Group’s ability to meet any financial obligations as and when
they fall due and we consider that these material uncertainties
relating to going concern basis.

We consider the cumulative effect of the above matters on the
consolidated financial statements is so extreme that we have
disclaimed our opinion.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
of the Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to
do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
the terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. However, because of the matters
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report,
we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial
statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
Chung Chi Chiu

Practising Certificate Number: PO6610

8/F, Catic Plaza

8 Causeway Road
Causeway Bay
Hong Kong

19 April 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 Bt2 —F - =+ _A=+—HI FZ

2023 2022
—E=-= —E-—
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Bt &E TExT FHET

Revenue W 2 7 12,112 2,715
Cost of sales HHE KA (9,360) (176)
Gross profit EX 2,752 2,539
Other income, gains and losses, net  H AU A ~ a2k & 6518 % 58 9 (100) 36,064
Loss from changes in fair value of KEMENTEEHEEZ

investment properties B8 20 (544) (3,393)
Impairment losses under expected EHEEEEEABE THRE

credit loss model, net of reversal B8 (MERE D) 11 (43,196) (177,609)
Administrative expenses TERAX (8,918) (9,802)
Share of results of associates FEMRE S AR 2 HEE 22 - (766)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HENB ARz EE 40 (10,629) -
Finance costs BF T R AN 10 (91,589) (76,442)
Loss before tax BRELATE 18 13 (152,224) (229,409)
Income tax expense FTERiF X 12 (41) -
Loss for the year FAEE (152,265) (229,409)
Attributable to: i

— Owners of the Company . UNEIEZE DN (152,345) (227,735)

— Non-controlling interests — IR AR R A 80 (1,674)
Loss for the year FAER (152,265) (229,409)
Loss per share FREE 17

Basic K (35.68) centsflli  (53.33) centsflL

Diluted e N/A RiEH N/A 1~ 38 B
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

lén‘\/\ Eﬁll

HAth 2 H W &R

For the year ended 31 December 2023 Bt2 —F - =+ _A=+—HI FZ

Note
e

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income
(expense) for the year:
ltems that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign operations
Share of other comprehensive
expense of associates, net of
related income tax
Reclassification of cumulative
exchange reserve upon
disposal of foreign operations

Other comprehensive expense
for the year, net of tax

Total comprehensive expense
for the year

Total comprehensive (expense)
income attributable to:
— Owners of the Company
— Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive expense

FRER

FREMEEKE (FAX) :

HIZR R EFN D EE B
ZIERH:
BEBINEBEEZIERL

5
JE At Bk X B L Ath 2 T A S2
(FNERERAPT S HE)
22
R EBINEBRER DB
RETERLFHE

FREMEEMAS HE

FAZHEMAXAE

DT REBEEEEE (FX) k&
wE:
. VNEIEZS PN
— IR R M

B TH XA

2022
HK$'000

FET

(152,265) (229,409)
1,129 (6,202)

- (65)
(8,954) (73)
(7,825) (6,340)
(160,090) (235,749)
(160,371) (234,766)
281 (983)
(160,090) (235,749)
HEEZREERA R

—EC=FFR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ra IS AR R

At 31 December 2023 R=-FE - =F+_-H=+—H

2022
g
Notes HK$'000
MW T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME  BEREE 18 = -
Right-of-use assets FRESE 19 - 527
Investment properties B 20 23,034 24,175
Goodwill GES 21 - -
Interests in associates Nl ey 22 - -
23,034 24,702
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories FE 23 1,314 -
Trade receivables EUE SRR 24 10,451 505
Other receivables and deposits E fth fE B N R 6 25 2,717 52,282
Cash and cash equivalents Re MRS EEY 26 3,565 2,347
18,047 55,134
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables BB SRR 27 22,315 13,463
Accruals and other payables FEETE A R HE A FEA 5RE 28 405,865 323,213
Interest-bearing borrowing FEEE 29 115,000 115,000
Lease liabilities HEEBE 30 - 296
Tax payables e HLIE 5,575 5,717
548,755 457,689
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES FEE A FE (530,708) (402,555)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBES
LIABILITIES (507,674) (377,853)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEG
Lease liabilities HES®E 30 - 236
NET LIABILITIES EEFEHE (507,674) (378,089)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e ISR R

At 31 December 2023 R —E =%+ _-H=+—H

CAPITAL AND RESERVES RAK #E

Share capital L@

Reserves i

Equity attributable to owners of ARATEEAELER
the Company

Non-controlling interests R RER

TOTAL DEFICIT A4

The consolidated financial statements on pages 70 to 213 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
19 April 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

LuYi
E
Director

EZE

2022
Notes HK$'000
M RE FETT
33 213,496 213,496
(689,550) (529,179)
(476,054) (315,683)
34 (31,620) (62,406)
(507,674) (378,089)

FIOE21BEAFHGEEM BRIV _—_FT M
FOATNERESTSRHAERKENR A
HTIIALTRREZTERE:

Ye De Chao
HEER
Director

EF

FEEERERRAA
—EC=HER
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

n‘/-ﬁ

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;

R CECCF+ A=+ —HIFFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARRRAAELR
Capital
Capital  redemption Non-
Share Share  reserve reserve  Exchange Accumulated controlling
capital  premium  (Note 1) (Note 2) reserve losses  Subtotal interests Total
ERER
By AXGEE e BEH FRRRE
B w8 (1) (FE2) #E  ZitEE it B aft
HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000
TEn  TEx  TiEn Thr  Thn Thr  TEn Thr  TErx
At 1 January 2022 S 21349 756,049 7 69 (29232) (1021371)  (80917)  (61,423) (142,:340)
Loss for the year ENBE - - - - - (277%5)  (227,735) (1,674)  (229,409)
Other comprehensive income FREM2ERE (FX):
(expense) for the year:
ltems that may be reclassified RETRRET B2 RmL
subsequently to profit or 0ss: EH -
Exchange differences arisingon ~ REGHFBELCERER
translation of foreign operations - - - - (6,893) - (6,893) 691 (6,202)
Share of other comprehensive ERBLNAEM2AMY
expense of associates, net of (MR AREMER)
related income tax - - - - (65) - (65) - (65)
Reclassification of cumulative REEBNERRENIE
exchange reserve upon disposal  23HE R A
of a foreign operation - - - - (73) - (73) - (73)
Other comprehensive (expense) ~ FREMZE (F%) ki
income for the year, net of tax ey - - - - (7,031) - (7,031) 691 (6,340)
Total comprehensive expense FR2ERYEE
for the year - - - —(7031)  (227,735) (234,766) (983)  (235,749)
At 31 December 2022 WoB--E4+-A=+-H  2134% 756,049 72 69 (36263) (1249,106) (315683)  (62,406) (378,089)
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
meERSER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{2 —F - =F+_-A=+—HI FF

Attributable to owners of the Company
ARREEAERE
Capital
Capital redemption Non-
Share Share  reserve reserve  Exchange Accumulated controlling

capital premium  (Note 1) (Note2)  reserve losses  Subtotal interests
EXER
B EXfE 1 B git FERBR
B BE (WD) (H&E2) ikt B8 it i Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEz TE=n TR TR TEn THExn TEr TiEn

At 1 January 2023 W-2-=%-HF-8 213496 756,049 7) 69  (36263) (1,249,106) (315683)  (62,406) (378,089)

23

(Loss) profit for the year ER(BR) &N - - - - - (152,345)  (152,345) 80  (152,265)

Other comprehensive income FREM2ERE (FX):

(expense) for the year:
ltems that may be reclassified RET#RENEZER L

subsequently to profit or 0ss: Ef -
Exchange differences arisingon ~ MESHERELEFZH

translation of foreign operations - - - - 928 - 928 201 1,129
Reclassification of cumulative REEBNERRERHE

exchange reserve upon disposal  Z&TTE X (&

of foreign operations - - - - (8,954) - (8,954) - (8,954)
Other comprehensive (expense)  EREMEE (B%) k-

income for the year, net of tax it - - - - (8,026) - (8,026 201 (7825)
Total comprehensive (expense) FR2E (B WaBE

income for the year - - - - (8,026) (152,345)  (160,371) 281 (160,090)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 40) &M BAA] (fi540) - - - - - - - 30,505 30,505
At 31 December 2023 W-B-ZE+-AS+-0  2134% 756049 7 69 (44289) (1401451 (476,05) (31,620 (S07674)

Notes: B 5T

1. The capital reserve of the Group represents the excessive injection of 1. AEEERHEENBEARGZMER 2B
the registered capital of a subsidiary. FE

2. Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of shares 2. BB R IR AR ks M BB IR ) 2 |
repurchased out of distributable profit. (ER

HEEZRERRAR
RO
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n‘/-ﬁ/\Iﬁlﬁl)le%

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — & —

ZFF A= —HIEFE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

Interest income

Finance costs

Loss from changes in fair value of
investment properties

Impairment losses under expected credit
losses model, net of reversal

Loss on early termination of a lease

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries

Share of results of associates

Operating cash flow before movement in
working capital
Increase in inventories
Increase in trade and other receivables
and deposits
Decrease in trade and other payables

Cash (used in) generated from operation
Income tax paid

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest received
Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiaries

NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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SR FIVE R
ME - BE RREA R
EREEENE
FEIA
BTG RAR

REMEAFEEDHES

ZER

BHEEEERAETH

BEER (R#ER)
RELRILHEEZER
HEMB AR ZER
iR NI

REeBELRHA2KERS

e
FEIE
FEN B 5 RR R A
Yok Ia R & 4 hn
e E B RN R E b
(BEZSEV:52%

g (R RBHRE
EATEHR

REEB (A RBRE
R

REXK

EFE

HEMBARIZEZRA
HE

REXBEMBHREFR

2022
HK$'000

T T

(152,224) (229,409)
125 352
(2 (6)
91,589 76,442
544 3,393
43,196 177,609
105 -
10,629 -
= 766
(6,038) 29,147
(1,314) -
(10,158) (22,999)
11,311 525
(6,199) 6,673
(41) -
(6,240) 6,673
2 6

989 -
991 6




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

n\/T\ Iﬁﬁ/)lbiﬂa—%

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayment to a substantial shareholder
Advance from a director

Advance from a related company
Repayment of lease liabilities

NET CASH FROM (USED IN) FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT THE END OF THE YEAR

BMEXE

Al —% X BRREEFE

—REFBX

‘*F?F%%ﬁi&‘

BEMEERE

BMEXKHRE (A RE
R

RERREEEY (BD)
1IN FER

RENZRERBEEEY

SN SR 2 B B

RERZAESRREEEY

2022
HK$'000

FBTT

(101) (1,292)

4,184 -
935 -

(135) (387)

4,883 (1,679)
(366) 5,000

2,347 1,862
1,584 (4,515)
3,565 2,347
HEEEREERAT

—EC=FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R YA

For the year ended 31 December 2023 Bl2 —F - =F+_-H=+—HIF&F

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Infrastructure Investment Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 16 June 1992 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law of the Cayman lIslands. The shares of the Company are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”’). The address of the registered office of
the Company in the Cayman Islands is The R&H Trust Co.
Ltd., Windward 1, Regatta Office Park, West Bay Road, Grand
Cayman, Cayman Islands. The address of the registered office
and the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong was Room 705A, 7/F., New East Ocean Centre, 9 Science
Museum Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries (together with the Company, the
“Group”) are described in Note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HKS$"), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. BRI REBIIERY

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs THAT
ARE MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE FOR THE
CURRENT YEAR

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual
period beginning on 1 January 2023 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the
October 2020 and February
2022 Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to Hong Kong
Accounting Standards
("HKAS") 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform-Pillar
Two model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
the consolidated financial statements.

BHREER ([EEMB
WEER ) REAEE
BREE

A IR i £ 3K Y F AT R
AENEET B BRI & 2ER

RAFE AEECEHEXRMB TS
BEGM g ([EREFEALE])
BHIR_T_=F—-—A—HRAKZ
AR B FEHIE R B AR #A] R AR
ERBMBHRELNRREETH
Wk

BB TR 2ER
FATH (BIEEB
B RS R 17
P —_TFF
T REBEIAR=ZE
ZZFZRBE]
)

HEEEFTER ([EB st 2 EE
BETER ) FE85

REAEK

(ERI )
BEGHERIF129 BE-QFME
(EFTA) HEZEERA
BB ZEL
IR
R ERIFE125 BBREB e E—
(EFTA) IR ZIDE
R
ERGFEREIR SABREE
REBEBUMERE
ERNERRE
FE25% (BFTAC)

Br TN SCRT At o) - AN F 2 8 AR #T AT RAR
ERAMBRELANLTBEAANEH
BRTERENFENMBRRRKRBER,
AV BRRABZWEENEK
THERTE-

FEEEZRERRAA
—EC=FFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F — =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvec)

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs THAT
ARE MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE FOR THE
CURRENT YEAR (continuead)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 8
Definition of Accounting Estimates

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. The amendments define accounting estimates as
‘monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require
items in financial statements to be measured in a way that
involves measurement uncertainty. In such a case, an entity
develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective set
out by the accounting policy. The amendments to HKAS 8 clarify
the distinction between changes in accounting estimates, and
changes in accounting policies and the correction of errors.

The application of the amendments in the current year had no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 12
Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. The amendments narrow the scope of the
recognition exemption of deferred tax liabilities and deferred
tax assets in paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 /ncome
Taxes so that it no longer applies to transactions that, on initial
recognition, give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences.

The application of the amendments in the current year had no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvec)

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs THAT
ARE MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE FOR THE
CURRENT YEAR (continuead)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 12
Income Taxes International Tax Reform-Pillar Two
model Rules

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. HKAS 12 is amended to add the exception
to recognising and disclosing information about deferred tax
assets and liabilities that are related to tax law enacted or
substantively enacted to implement the Pillar Two model rules
published by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development (the “Pillar Two legislation”). The amendments
require that entities apply the amendments immediately upon
issuance and retrospectively. The amendments also require
that entities to disclose separately its current tax expense/
income related to Pillar Two income taxes in periods which
the Pillar Two legislation is in effect, and the qualitative and
quantitative information about its exposure to Pillar Two income
taxes in periods in which the Pillar Two legislation is enacted or
substantially enacted but not yet in effect in annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

The Group is yet to apply the temporary exception during the
current year because the Group’s entities are operating in
jurisdictions which the Pillar Two legislation has not yet been
enacted or substantially enacted. The Group will disclose
known or reasonably estimable information that helps users
of financial statements to understand the Group’s exposure
to Pillar Two income taxes in the Group's annual consolidated
financial statements when the Pillar Two legislation is enacted
or substantially enacted and will disclose separately current tax
expense/income related to Pillar Two income taxes when it is in
effect.

FE 5] R RIERT BB B

BEER ([FBIK
£ ) REMEE

BREE @

A JZ R F E 3K Y BT AT R
AETTE BRI B EER
()

Y PEFE B BRI 125 (1557
&) BB NS E -
AR

AEBERANFEEREREBETA-
BREGERF125RLEET - A M
BRLBRBEEARERKCEAFRER
BEEBEM I SOEER (X
ME])MBMBEE LR BHEM
MCELEHBEERABEERZHIH
BR-ZEFETRETERARNEMR
RN M EPEER - ZFEETIR
ME BRANR_Z_=F—H—H
FERBZFERSHE 2RI
BENSE - AE MR BT
PiS TR < BNERTI T B S A - IA
MEBERIME L ECRHREE
FEEMIEE R AR A
HE_FBRHZEEREEEH -

AR ASRERTERESE AW
ARBEMREL EHRRMHZ ADAER
REXG AEERAFEEHKES
BTHISMER -8 X HE ZAB M
FELLEEMK AEBBERS
BONFEFAVBBRRPEESHH
EEMEFHNEN BHMBRERER
ETHASERR XE_MEHEA
0 W XA Z SR E R B ITR
BEXIE B A /R HI IR
XA o

FEEEZRERRAA
—EC=FFR

81



82

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F — =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvec)

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs THAT
ARE MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE FOR THE
CURRENT YEAR (continuead)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy
information”. Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included in an entity’s
financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information
may be material because of the nature of the related
transactions, other events or conditions, even if the amounts
are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy information
relating to material transactions, other events or conditions
is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial
accounting policy information, such information must not
obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
(the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an
entity applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting
policy disclosures and to judge whether information about
an accounting policy is material to its financial statements.
Guidance and examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact
on the Group’s financial positions and performance but has
affected the disclosure of the Group's accounting policies set
out in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2023

FE 35T R RA&RT BB B

BEER ([FBIK
£ ) REMEE

BREE @

A JZ R F E 3K Y BT AT R
AETTE BRI B EER
()

HEMEEEERF19 (15T
K)REEBUMBHREEREHHE
E2RE R EENTE

AEBERANFEEREREBETA-
BEGHERNBEIRY FH X 25/ 1K1E
RINEEEERREM]I K IEE
SHEER] —ANMEBR-WERE
BUBHERERAEMBEN —HEE &
ARREMANAEEHEYERM
MBERENEIEEAERBEZFNH
BERAELORE AIZEHABRE
FEEK-

RZEERNRF BEEEIA EE
RIAARZEE KM FEKER &
AAHERERDAEEAN AT A IEFT
FEBARS HMERRBENEH
VB ERREMAGYBER-HWE
BEBRBEFTIESHEREN A
MENTHREIZSTEEREM:

ERMBREERNEERE L2 FEL
EXEAE (BRBERE]) MEEFT
R E AN [ AEAMERAE
ARG BRIEENRFEERE S
BERNENHEVBHRREEBEK-
EBRECIEMIES| A -

F& R 5% F1E AT I 8 3 7K & B 0 B A% 5K
ARRBELEEAFE BERER
EMBRERWASAHEATEN S I
RE-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. BRI REBIIERY

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvec)

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs THAT
ARE MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE FOR THE
CURRENT YEAR (continuead)

Change in accounting policy as a result of application
of the HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications
of the abolition of the Mandatory Provident Fund
(“MPF”’) - Long Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong

As disclosed in Note 32, the Group has several subsidiaries
operating in Hong Kong which are obliged to pay LSP to
employees under certain circumstances. Meanwhile, the
Group makes mandatory MPF contributions to the trustee
who administers the assets held in a trust solely for the
retirement benefits of each individual employee. Offsetting
of LSP against an employee’s accrued retirement benefits
derived from employers’ MPF contributions was allowed
under the Employment Ordinance (Cap.57). In June 2022, the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
("HKSAR”) gazetted the Employment and Retirement Schemes
Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance
2022 (the “Amendment Ordinance”) which abolishes the use
of the accrued benefits derived from employers’ mandatory
MPF contributions to offset severance payment and LSP (the
“Abolition”). The Abolition will officially take effect on 1 May
2025 (the “Transition Date”). In addition, under the Amendment
Ordinance, the last month’s salary immediately preceding
the Transition Date (instead of the date of termination of
employment) is used to calculate the portion of LSP in respect
of the employment period before the Transition Date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F — =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvec)

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs THAT
ARE MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE FOR THE
CURRENT YEAR (continuead)

Change in accounting policy as a result of application
of the HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications
of the abolition of the Mandatory Provident Fund
(“MPF”’) - Long Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong (Continued)

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting implications
of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong” which provides guidance for the accounting for the
offsetting mechanism and the impact arising from abolition of
the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong. In light of
this, the Group has implemented the guidance published by the
HKICPA in connection with the LSP obligation retrospectively so
as to provide more reliable and more relevant information about
the effects of the offsetting mechanism and the Abolition.

The Group considered the accrued benefits arising from
employer MPF contributions that have been vested with the
employee and which could be used to offset the employee’s
LSP benefits as a deemed contribution by the employee towards
the LSP. Historically, the Group has been applying the practical
expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 to account for the
deemed employee contributions as a reduction of the service
cost in the period in which the related service is rendered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. BRI REBIIERY

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs””) AND CHANGES IN OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs THAT
ARE MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE FOR THE
CURRENT YEAR (Continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of application
of the HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications
of the abolition of the Mandatory Provident Fund
(“MPF”) - Long Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong (Continued)

Based on the HKICPA's guidance, as a result of the Abolition,
these contributions are no longer considered “linked solely to
the employee’s service in that period” since the mandatory
employer MPF contributions after the Transition Date can still
be used to offset the pre-transition LSP obligation. Therefore,
it would not be appropriate to view the contributions as
“‘independent of the number of years of service” and the
practical expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 is no longer
applicable. Instead, these deemed contributions should be
attributed to periods of service in the same manner as the gross
LSP benefit applying paragraph 93(a) of HKAS 19. Accordingly,
the Group has recognised a cumulative catch-up adjustment
in profit or loss for the service cost, interest expense and
remeasurement effect from changes in actuarial assumptions
for the year ended 31 December 2022, with corresponding
adjustment to the LSP obligation. The cumulative catch-up
adjustment is calculated as the difference at the enactment date
(16 June 2022) between the carrying amount of the LSP liability
calculated under paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 before the
Abolition and the carrying amount of the LSP liability calculated
under paragraph 93(a) of HKAS 19 after the Abolition.

The application of the amendments did not have a material
impact on the Group’s profit or loss for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2022 and the Group's and
the Company'’s financial position as at 31 December 2023 and
31 December 2022.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F — =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvec)

AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs IN ISSUE BUT
NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint

Venture!

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants?

Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements?

and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the
directors of the Company (the “Directors”) anticipate that the
application of all other amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. BRI REBIIERY

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER
ACCOUNT'NG POL'C'ES (Continued)

AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs IN ISSUE BUT
NOT YET EFFECTIVE (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for
at least twelve months from reporting date for classification of
liabilities as current or non-current, which:

o clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option
of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer
of the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do not
affect its classification as current or non-current only if
the entity recognises the option separately as an equity
instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation.

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period. Specifically,
the amendments clarify that the classification should not
be affected by management intentions or expectations to
settle the liability within 12 months.

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date which are conditional on the compliance
with covenants, the requirements introduced by the 2020
Amendments have been modified by the 2022 Amendments.
The 2022 Amendments specify that only covenants with which
an entity is required to comply with on or before the end of the
reporting period affect the entity's right to defer settlement of
a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting date.
Covenants which are required to comply with only after the
reporting period do not affect whether that right exists at the
end of the reporting period.
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e PR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F — =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvec)

AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs IN ISSUE BUT
NOT YET EFFECTIVE (continuea)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”) (Continued)

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the disclosure
requirements about information that enables users of financial
statements to understand the risk that the liabilities could
become repayable within twelve months after the reporting
period, if an entity classifies liabilities arising from loan
arrangements as non-current when the entity’s right to defer
settlement of those liabilities is subject to the entity complying
with covenants within twelve months after the reporting period.

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective date of applying
the 2020 Amendments to annual reporting periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2024. The 2022 Amendments, together with
the 2020 Amendments, are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024, with early application
permitted. If an entity applies the 2020 Amendments for an
earlier period after the issue of the 2022 Amendments, the entity
should also apply the 2022 Amendments for that period.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 December
2023, the application of the 2020 and 2022 Amendments will not
result in reclassification of the Group's liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1BASIC OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

As stated in the consolidated financial statements, the
Group reported loss attributable to the owners of the
Company of approximately HK$152,345,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2023 and, as of that date, the
Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets
by approximately HK$530,708,000 and the Group had
net liabilities of approximately HK$507,674,000, in
which interest-bearing borrowing and the respective
interest payable and redemption premium amounted to
approximately HK$115,000,000 and HK$362,358,000
respectively, while its cash and cash equivalents only
amounted to approximately HK$3,565,000. In addition,
due to an array of epidemic prevention measures including
lockdown measures implemented by the PRC government
due to COVID-19 and downturn of the property market in
the PRC in 2023, the business operation of the Group was
inevitably affected. These conditions indicate the existence
of material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt
about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and therefore it may be unable to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F — =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. HEVKBRRFEREER
FESHHRER @

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)
3.1BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 1 ERFRRAZE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL E (@)

90

STATEMENTS (Continued)

The Directors have given careful consideration to future

liquidity and performance of the Group and its available

sources. Certain measures have been taken to manage its

liquidity needs and to improve its financial position which

EECDBEZEAEBEARKNR
HEERKRLEAAER KR -
ERBRETHEREERSDESS
KRB EMBRR ZEHEE

includes but not limited to: EELIERNEEY
(i) Developing existing business il BRABEK
The Group's existing business is operating as usual REBERBXEBRTES

and the Company is endeavoring to improve the
Group’s operating results and cash flows by focusing
on the existing businesses of the Group and will

BEXRABBEINAE
EREEEBRHENES
%.Z«( M%Ziﬁiﬁimui

expand the existing business internationally. WHEERE ERRIARE
% o
In the second to third quarter of 2023, the economy RZE_=FF_FE=Z

and business activities in the PRC finally recovered
and became normal.
immediately and grasped this opportunity to fully
resume its business. The Company has put in

The Group responded

strenuous effort in identifying and exploring all
sorts of thriving business opportunities in further
expanding its natural gas business regardless of the

“_9"‘}* B O e
BEHERIRELE - A%
EDZ‘J%J@%WE%%@’
EEMEEER - ARAF

HﬁEﬁﬂj}E&%U&?”%’%
FREDERNBEH A
—HPREEBERNBRT

arduous situation. BERARXARER-
(ii) Exploring business opportunities lii) FEBEKSE

In addition to development of the existing business,
the Company will also explore different business
opportunities in order to increase cash inflow for
the Group to improve the financial position of the
Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.1BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

(iii) Repaying outstanding liabilities and

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

collecting trade receivables

The Company is actively negotiating with relevant
parties and will use its best endeavors to repay the
outstanding liabilities. Additionally, the Company is
actively collecting its trade receivables from relevant
parties to improve the financial position of the Group.

Enforcing cost-saving measures

The Company will use its best endeavours to
minimise its expenses including but not limited to
administrative expenses as well as operating costs.

Loan capitalisation

The Company is in negotiation with the creditor(s)
of the Group in relation to potential capitalisation of
the debt. It will not only reduce the debt but also will
increase the shareholder base for the Company.

Potential fund-raising activities

The Group is actively seeking opportunities for fund-
raising such as rights issue, placing of new shares,
issue of new shares and/or convertible bonds,
depending on the prevailing market conditions and
the development of the Group’s businesses.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F — =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.1BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Provided that the above measures are successfully
implemented and the financial position of the Group is
improved, the Directors believe that the Group will have
sufficient cash resources to satisfy its future working
capital and other financial needs. Accordingly, the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 have been prepared on a going concern
basis.

The consolidated financial statements do not include
any adjustments that would result from the failure of
the Group to obtain sufficient future funding. Should
the Group be unable to continue to operate as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to reduce
the carrying amounts of the assets of the Group to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for further liabilities which
might arise and to reclassify non-current assets as current
assets.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for the investment
properties that are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.1BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technigue. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but
are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS
2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 /mpairment of
Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would the asset in its highest and best use.

For investment properties which are transacted at fair
value and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs
are to be used to measure fair value in subsequent
periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that at
initial recognition the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F — =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.1BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HWEMBHRREHERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FESTHRER )
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)
3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 32T EEHREHN

INFORMATION
Basis of consolidation mEE%E
The consolidated financial statements incorporate FEVBREEEARARRA
the financial statements of the Company and entities AIAREE AR %‘JE’]f L
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is @k MBI TIBR AR
achieved when the Company: N A EUAS 1 ) 4
e has power over the investee; o  HREESIWHIRET:
e is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its s ERXNMEAEE ﬁéﬁi%ﬁ %

involvement with the investee; and BREEMEAEE®RN

[R B sk A
e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. e BHRNEREEINUZE
HEHR-
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an MEERBRKRE Lt =183% %U
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are BEERMN—HI U EHERE
changes to one or more of the three elements of control REBEGEHN %ﬁ%géﬂﬂﬂx
listed above. BB
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group WE“’T@EH 7R &R B HAS Y
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the N A R R AR AR A ARR
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income I[E(‘ﬁ%‘%l%%ﬁ g Nkl
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of BEREIE-LEZ RNEAKE
during the year are included in the consolidated statement SHEMBAGMKARAZ S
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from RAEBMEZEGHEEARER
the date the Group gains control until the date when the REBEKIEHE QR ZEGIEE B
Group ceases to control the subsidiary. IFEREt AR B am R B2 E
a5z e
Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive v A 318 K H M 2 T W a5 &
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to FIEEHHEBEBREAARES AR
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income FE#E Hxﬁx%%ﬁﬁo WEAA®E
of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company AU =BEEBRARAHEE A
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in K IE#= Hxﬂxiﬁé = BN R e
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. BHEERBR R RO ERTE LR
& & o
FEREEZERERRAR
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HWEMBHRREHERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FESTHRER &)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 32 FEEFHEFER ()

INFORMATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to
a proportionate share of net assets of the relevant
subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or
group of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, which represent the
lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HWEMBHRREHERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FESTHRER &)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 32 FEEFHEFER ()

INFORMATION (Continued)
Goodwill (Continued)

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when there
is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable
amount is less than its carrying amount, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any
of the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-
generating units, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the amount of profit or loss
on disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation
within the cash-generating unit (or a cash-generating
unit within a group of cash-generating units), the amount
of goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of the
relative values of the operation (or the cash-generating
unit) disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating
unit (or the group of cash-generating units) retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition
of an associate is described below.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. &RE

MBERREREER

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FESTHRER &)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 32 FEETHEREN (&)
INFORMATION (Continued)
Interests in associates RE&E QT z2 R
An associate is an entity over which the Group has BENREAEBGEHETHFE
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to AREBNZER - BEATENIE
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions A2HEFRERRCHBREE
of the investee but is not control or joint control over those REET I R RIESZS
policies. BRZET -

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an
investment in associate is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associates. Changes in net assets of the associates
other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are not accounted for unless such changes resulted in
changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When
the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the
Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses
are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HWEMBHRREHERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FESTHRER &)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 32 FEEFHEFER ()

INFORMATION (Continued)
Interests in associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in
an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is
not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal
of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Interests in associates (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an
interest in the former associate and the retained interest is
a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying amount
of the associate and the fair value of any retained interest
and any proceeds from disposing of the relevant interest
in the associate is included in the determination of the
gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the
Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that associate
on the same basis as would be required if that associate
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in
other comprehensive income by that associate would
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain
or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant
associate.

When a group entity transacts with an associate, profits
and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate
or joint venture that are not related to the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Interests in associates (Continued)

Changes in the Group's interests in associates

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes
an investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement
to fair value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the
proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that
reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities.

Acquisition of additional interests in associates

When the Group increases its ownership interest in an
associate but the Group continues to use the equity
method, goodwill is recognised at acquisition date if there
is excess of the consideration paid over the share of
carrying amount of net assets attributable to the additional
interests in associates acquired. Any excess of share of
carrying amount of net assets attributable to the additional
interests in associates acquired over the consideration
paid are recognised in the profit or loss in the period in
which the additional interest are acquired.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a goods or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction on the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

- the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

- the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. &RE

MBRREREER

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FESTHRER )

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3.2
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining goods or services promised under the contract,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to
consideration in an amount that corresponds directly with
the value of the Group’s performance completed to date,
the Group recognises revenue in the amount to which the
Group has the right to invoice.
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STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
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(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 32 FEEZTHEREHN #)

INFORMATION (continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation (Continued)

Sale with a right of return/exchange

For a sale of products with a right of return/exchange
for dissimilar products, the Group recognises all of the
following:

(a) revenue for the transferred products in the amount
of consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled (therefore, revenue would not be recognised
for the products expected to be returned/
exchanged);

(b) arefund liability/contract liability; and

(c) an asset (and corresponding adjustment to cost
of sales) for its right to recover products from
customers and are presented as right to returned
goods asset.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether the
nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide
the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a
principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be
provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Principal versus agent (Continued)

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service
by another party. In this case, the Group does not control
the specified good or service provided by another party
before that good or service is transferred to the customer.
When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue
in the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects
to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified
goods or services to be provided by the other party.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components, including contract
for acquisition of ownership interests of a property which
includes both leasehold land and non-lease building
components, unless such allocation cannot be made
reliably.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

Except for those that are classified as investment
properties and measured under fair value model, right-of-
use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HWEMBHRREHERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FESTHRER &)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3.2
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
Right-of use assets that meet the definition of investment
property are presented within “land use right” including in
investment properties.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and initially measured at
fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in
the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F — =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent review/
expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified
as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term except for investment properties measured
under fair value model.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted
for under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F — =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HWEMBHRREHERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FESTHRER &)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 32 FEEFHEFER ()

INFORMATION (Continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise, except for exchange differences on
monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign
operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely
to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the
foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other
comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to
profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the Group’s
interests in associates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HWEMBHRREHERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FESTHRER &)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 32 FEEFHEFER ()

INFORMATION (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for
the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at
the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
exchange reserve (attributable to non-controlling interest
as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset),
all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F — =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. HEVKBRRFEREER
FESHHRER @

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 32 FEEFHEFER ()

INFORMATION (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued) INEE (4%)
In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary AN B REBAEB K E
that does not result in the Group losing control over B B8 A B 42 ) 2 B o S B B
the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated ~al AR UL L B G RETIE H =
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling HENGERFERRR#ER

interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all M TRIBEZAER -FLATAEE

other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates
that do not result in the Group losing significant influence),
the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Exchange differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
income”.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F — =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) and state-managed retirement benefit
schemes are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the
earlier of when the group entity can no longer withdraw the
offer of the termination benefit and when it recognises any
related restructuring costs.

Short-term employee benefits and other long-term
employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HWEMBHRREHERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FESTHRER &)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 32 FEEFHEFER ()

INFORMATION (Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)

Short-term employee benefits and other long-term
employee benefits (Continued)

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value
of the estimated future cash outflows expected to be
made by the Group in respect of services provided by
employees up to the reporting date. Any changes in the
liabilities” carrying amounts resulting from service cost,
interest and remeasurements are recognised in profit or
loss except to the extent that another HKFRS requires or
permits their inclusion in the cost of an asset.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from loss before tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F — =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HWEMBHRREHERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FESTHRER &)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 32 FEEFHEFER ()

INFORMATION (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of the
transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. &

EMBHRREREER

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FESHBERER @)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 32 FEEFTHEFEN ()

INFORMATION (continued)
Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises
from the initial accounting for a business combination, the
tax effect is included in the accounting for the business
combination.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F — =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HWEMBHRREHERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FESTHRER &)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 32T EEHREN (2
INFORMATION (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment ME- -BEREE
Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that V- -WEMEEDFERRE
are held for use in the production or supply of goods 7 oA B P ok AR 7% S VR T B A
or services, or for administrative purposes (other than B BREE(TXHLEED
properties under construction as described below). ERON) - ME - BE RBEILRK
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the R E & B ITE R A& ZFR
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less BEE(MB)REE MBI
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent =HIIER -

accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Property, plant and equipment in the course of AREE -HEXNTHRRAEZZHE
construction for production, supply or administrative B BB K& AR AR E
purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised B ERBEREIES R KA
impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly REEGEARBEEER s
attributable to bringing the asset to the location and NERBEEMNANKEEMVT
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in WALEMGEHNERRKE: LE
the manner intended by management and, for qualifying EREEMS BREBELREE
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the G BREARENEER A -8
Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, HmYEEEZAE K ZF
on the same basis as other property assets, commences BEENARERERERRIAT

i

when the assets are ready for their intended use.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets other than properties under construction less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F — =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HWEMBHRREHERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FESTHRER &)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 32 FEEFHEFER ()

INFORMATION (Continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties also included leased properties
which are being recognised as right-of-use assets and
subleased by the Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at fair value, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued
operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties
under construction are capitalised as part of the carrying
amount of the investment properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposal. A leased property which is recognised
as a right-of-use assets is derecognised if the Group as
intermediate lessor classifies the sublease as a finance
lease. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset)
is included in profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.
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e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HWEMBHRREHERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FESTHRER &)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 32 FEETHEREN (&)
INFORMATION (Continued)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment and ME - BERRBREARE
right-of-use assets BEEZRE

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
established. The recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with
the carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or
group of cash-generating units.

RBERR AEEEHYE-
BERREBREREEERTE
FHEH NEETRFEERD
HBR AR EBETR - W H 3R
BRTS R HBEE A
Wm e UEERERIE (4
BIZREE-

ME-BELREBRERBEE
B A] Y B R 1T 0 BIAE AT o fi
REFEFRBAIRE SR A
SEGAZREENMBZRESES
Bz EEEE-

RETRE EEEMRERR
B ZEEXEERARIA
M—BOREERSEZHEAR
TELEBMN B THOREAE
VEBEM—HoEEENK)E
PIIREELEM - AW E S ER
TCREEMBRSELEEMLR
TELEBENEMNETE I EMERH
ReErBNRReELEMHA
PR BREEETLR

FEEEZRERRAA
—EC=FFR

123



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F — =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares
the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-
generating units, with the recoverable amount of the group
of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment
loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to
the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HWEMBHRREHERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FESTHRER &)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 32 FEETHRER (#)
INFORMATION (Continued)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment and ME - BERRBREARE
right-of-use assets (Continued) BEEZRBE &)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-
generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject
to regulatory restrictions that result in such balances
no longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for
investment or other purposes.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F — =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents (Continued)

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management. Such
overdrafts are presented as short-term borrowings in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into
account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the
effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is
virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising
from past events but is not recognised because it is
not probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with
sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to
be met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability
and it is not recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow
of future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision
is recognised in the consolidated financial statements in
the reporting period in which the change in probability
occurs, except in the extremely rare circumstances where
no reliable estimate can be made.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HWEMBHRREHERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FESHBERER (@)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 32 TEESHHKEEHR #)

INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities
at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

- the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

- the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

- the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HWEMBHRREHERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FESTHRER &)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)
3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 32 FEETHRER (#)
INFORMATION (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) ERMITE (&)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE (&)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial asset
the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised
by an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS
3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

- it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

- on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

- it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HWEMBHRREHERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FESTHRER &)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3.2
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit impaired.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HWEMBHRREHERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FESHBERER (@)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3.2
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade receivables, other receivables and
deposits and bank balances) which are subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well
as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of
a default occurring since initial recognition.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
1 32 Annual Report 2023

FEEFHEFEF #)

€I A (&)

RI5 & BRI 75 3 & £ R E 93
ETTHRAEFFAL B9 2 B8 ol 1

AEBERBEREVHREERE
O MR E R E - IR TRHEEE IR
(TAMFEERRUYSRE
E(BRERESERR EE
WRIB KRS MIRITHES) ETT
BEFGE - FREEEENESRE
REHREEREN ARBRE
IREREREERRNE(-

2HEHEERBRERERTA
TR A AT A AT RE R E A
EMELZEMEREBE - BR-
12 ABEREEERE(M12@A
FHFEEEREEHNESA
HMERI2EANATREELENENS
HEHZ 2 HERPEREERHED -
AEERASENBEEERR
REEL  YHEBABFERE
ERGENARMKREBHRTR
Y R A Ko R K TEUBI 4

AEE—BEREKE S RAER
EHEHEEEE-

HRFBEMIA AEEF=E
MEBEERESM2EAERES
EBiE - RIEBNRERREER
REEIEMN REBERT A&
ERAE:HEHAEEBE-ZD
EHERAHEREEEENTMGE
TERBYVEHERARELEEN
Z PRI BE 1 Sl e O BR B 4 0 o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR ERR M
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued,)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition,
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without

undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has

increased significantly:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

- significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default

swap prices for the debtor;
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

- existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

- an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days
past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F — =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iii)  Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or

more events that have a detrimental impact on the

estimated future cash flows of that financial asset

have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is

credit-impaired includes observable data about the

following events:

(a)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower's
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

v)

The Group writes-off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
assets written-off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical
data and forward-looking information. Estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights. The Group uses
a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade
receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F — =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS

OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MA

TERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant
credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

- Past-due status;

- Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

- External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount with the exception of trade
receivables, other receivables and deposits where
the correspondence adjustments are recognised
through a loss allowance account.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F — =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments that are issued are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade payables, accruals and
other payables, interest-bearing borrowings and lease
liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group'’s obligations are discharged, cancelled
or have expired. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or
loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F — =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4. BAS2E &ty R fh=t 1 8f

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the Directors are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENT IN APPLYING THE
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the Directors have made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the consolidated financial statements.

Going concern and liquidity

As explained in Note 3.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, the financial position of the Group indicates the
existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
The assessment of the going concern assumptions involves
making judgement by the management, at a particular point of
time, about the future outcome of events or conditions which
are inherently uncertain. The management considers that the
Group has ability to continue as a going concern and the major
conditions that may cast significant doubt about the going
concern assumptions are set out in Note 3.1 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continvea)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,

and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of

the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing

a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities within the next financial year.

(i)

Deferred tax assets

As at 31 December 2023, no deferred tax asset has
been recognised in relation to unused tax losses of
approximately HK$22,654,000 (2022: HK$25,248,000)
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The
realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends
on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future, which is a key
source of estimation uncertainty. In cases where the
actual future taxable profits generated are less or more
than expected, or change in facts and circumstances
which result in revision of future taxable profits estimation,
a material reversal or further recognition of deferred tax
assets may arise, which would be recognised in profit
or loss for the period in which such a reversal or further
recognition takes place.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F — =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continvea)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(ii) Provision of ECL for trade receivables

The Group uses practical expedient in estimating ECL
on trade receivables which are not assessed individually
using a provision matrix. The provision rates are based
on aging of debtors as groupings of various debtors
taking into consideration the Group’s historical default
rates and forward-looking information that is reasonable
and supportable available without undue costs or effort.
At every reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the ECL and the Group’s trade
receivables are disclosed in Note 6(b).

(iii) Provision of ECL for other receivables and
deposits

The Group calculates the ECL for the other receivables
and deposits by grouping the counterparties with similar
nature under general approach. The provision rates are
based on internal credit ratings, which considered the
historical settlement records and historical default rates of
the counterparties. The ECL also takes into consideration
forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort. At
every reporting date, changes in the forward-looking
information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the ECL and the Groups’ deposits
and other receivables are disclosed in Note 6(b).
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continvea)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(iv)] Fair values of investment properties and the
respective land use right

Investment properties and the respective land use right
are stated at fair value based on the valuation performed
by independent professional valuers. The determination
of the fair value involves certain assumptions of market
conditions which are set out in Note 20.

In relying on the valuation report, the Directors have
exercised their judgement and are satisfied that the
method of valuation is reflective of the current market
conditions. Changes to assumptions, including the
potential risk of any market violation, policy, geopolitical
and social changes or other unexpected incidents as a
result of change in macroeconomic environment, travel
restrictions implemented by many countries, increased
complexity in international trade tensions geopolitics,
changes in policy direction and/or mortgage requirements,
or other unexpected incidents would result in changes in
the fair values of the Group’s investment properties and
the corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or
loss reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.

The Directors have performed internal assessment on the
risks of change in macroeconomic environment through
performing sensitivity analysis in relating to the Group’s
investment properties and respective land use right.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of the
Group’s investment properties and respective land use
right are approximately HK$16,423,000 and HK$6,611,000
(2022: approximately HK$17,237,000 and HK$6,938,000),
respectively.
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5. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5. EXEREE

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities within
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation
of its debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes interest-bearing borrowing and lease liabilities net of
cash and bank balances, and equity attributable to owners of
the Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves of
the Group.

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2023 and 2022 were as

AEEZEAEREERRAEE S
TERBRBELE LRAKEEE
b7 B3 2 T8 4T AR
EASDEBEE  AEEERBE
FETEBEWTE -

AEBZEARBEREAGBFE (H
BRENRRE RRITERRZFTE
EEMEERE) RARREE ARKA
#a (BRAEBEZEBHITRARR
) e

R—ZEBE_=ZFk_ZT-_—_F+=-A

follows: T —HAZEXABHERNAT:
2023 2022
—E-=F g
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Interest-bearing borrowing FFEEE 115,000 115,000
Interest payable and redemption ERMEREERE (GTA
premium payable (included in FE T2 P I A A FE <P 5RIE)
accruals and other payables) 362,358 271,297
Lease liabilities HEAE - 532
Total debts BEAH 477,358 386,829
Less: cash and cash equivalents BRekReFED (3,565) (2,347)
Net debt BEFHE 473,793 384,482
Total equity attributable to ARBHEEABLERERH
owners of the Company (476,054) (315,683)
Net debt to equity ratio EEFHEEHERLLER (99.5%) (121.8%)
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6. ©RITH

(A) 2@ T AR5 5

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

[A] CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets SREE
Amortised cost BB
Financial liabilities EA= =N
Amortised cost BB

[B] FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
receivables, other receivables and deposits, cash and
bank balances, trade payables, accruals and other
payables, interest-bearing borrowing and lease liabilities.
Details of the financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes to these consolidated financial
statements. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include interest rate risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. The management of the Group manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented in a timely and effective
manner.

2023 2022
—ZE_= —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
16,733 55,134
543,180 452,208

(B] & & 7 bz & 2 B 1%

B

AEENTIZMTABTERK
B S M EEGRIARES
Re RBITHES BNEZERR
FET & M M E R S 5RR 5B
fEErHERB - EMTAZF
BRZEFEMBHRRSMED
BE-BZEeMITAEREZA
RERMNERAR- EERR MR
BELRR - BEZFER 2K
RER TN -AEHEEEEEE
K ERZ B R R ARERE R
BRI EREE Z1E -

FEEERERRAA
—EC=HER
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6. TRTH »)
B) B E R & B #Z

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea)
[B] FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to interest-bearing borrowing and lease liabilities.
The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank balances. The Group's
cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the
fluctuation of interest rates on bank balances. The Group
manages its interest rate exposures by assessing the
potential impact arising from any interest rate movements
based on interest rate level and outlook. The management
will review the proportion of borrowings in fixed and
floating rates and ensure they are within reasonable range.

Total interest income from financial assets that are
measured at amortised cost:

Financial assets at amortised cost (R KA EN SR EE

Interest expense on financial liabilities not measured at
FVTPL:

B (#)
FZER

AEEmHEREFEEEREESR
BEREBEORFENXER KX&E
= Jr b B BRTTAE SR B M
ReRnENEXAR AEERE
MEMNXERETEEPRRITHE
BRI R 1R B o AN R B AR AR I K
K Ko A R4l (AR A == 2 B Ay
EAMNBEYE UEEHERNX
R - EREREXRESREE
MEELD - WHREESIEEH
I

REBHERATENTREENH
SEON LR

2022

HK$'000
TAET

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

Sensitivity analysis

The management consider that the exposure of cash flow
interest rate risk arising from variable-rate bank balances
is insignificant and no sensitivity analysis to interest rate
risk is presented.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED

1 48 Annual Report 2023

HESHX AT ENERAE

FEURFEFABENEREE
MEFRX:

2022

HK$'000
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6. ERMITH (»)
Bl 2 Ef2 & HIZR

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea)
[B] FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures
are primarily attributable to trade receivables, other
receivables and deposits and bank balances. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
to cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets.

The Group performed impairment assessment for
financial assets. Information about the Group’s credit risk
management, maximum credit risk exposures and the
related impairment assessment are summarised as below:

Trade receivables

In respect of trade receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring
credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on
the customer’s past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining
to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are due within 30 days.
Debtors with balances that are more than a year past due
are requested to settle all outstanding balances before
any further credit is granted. Normally, the Group does not
obtain collateral from its customers.

The Group applies simplified approach on trade receivable
to provide for ECL. Trade receivables are group based on
shared credit risk characteristics by reference to the aging
of outstanding balances and the industry of debtors. For
defaulted trade receivables, defined as past due more
than 90 days, management of the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual debt at the end of
the reporting period to ensure that adequate provisions for
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts on
trade receivables. Details of quantitative disclosures are
set out below in this note.

B (#)
EEEB R ERE

FERBREASENRZEFE
RENETERARBEYBER
MER AEEZEERRETIE
KB REWKE SRR H b UK
BRBEeRBTER AEEY
B A TR RS b (E S
BARBERESBREERBNE
Bk -

AEEHSREEETTRERNS -
ERAEEEERARER &X
EE RO & A B ER &8
BRFRRTX:

FEW & 5 B

RERKEZEARME BRMAE
EXRBBETEESRZER
BagETENEENE Lt FF
HEEHHEFPBERIHRKZ
BERRE MR Z XD A
ZREFPZBEEMMREFP
RERRZBBER -BRES
BRR=TRREHB-BEBHEAL
AEBEEMAAS —FNALZ
fERR - DA ER T EMEMEE-
AEE—RTERE P YEE
e

AEBERERABECTENERES
ERZEREEBRELERE-
ERREZERIELEREES
BRI REBATERREHR
REERBREBETIE -HE
HBBEIORNENEKE 5 KRR
mME AEEEEERREHAR
2 B & (8RR 75 /0 AJ 4k 3 & B8 A
FE LR 3L FE U 8 5 AR 5K B0 T AT W [ml
CHEHARAREERREE T
EFRBEERFBRAMETXH

it o

FEEEZRERRAA
—EC=FFR
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea)
[B] FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

At 31 December 2023, trade receivables from the largest
debtor amounting to approximately HK$10,468,000 (2022:
approximately HK$835,000), representing approximately
99.2% (2022: 79.1%) of the total gross trade receivables.

At 31 December 2023, the Group’s concentration of
credit risk by geographical location is in the PRC, which
accounted for 100% (2022: 100%) of total gross trade
receivables.

Bank balances

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit agencies. The Group
assessed 12m ECL for bank balances by reference to
information relating to probability of default and loss given
default of the respective credit rating grades published
by external credit rating agencies. Based on the average
loss rates, the 12m ECL on bank balances is considered
to be insignificant and therefore no loss allowance was
recognised.

Other receivables and deposits

In respect of other receivables and deposits, management
of the Group makes periodic individual assessment on
the recoverability of other receivables and deposits based
on historical settlement records, past experience, and
also available reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. Except for amounts that the Directors believe
there are significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition and the Group provided impairment based
on lifetime ECL, the Group provided impairment on the
amounts that the Directors believe there are no significant
increase in credit risk are based on 12m ECL.
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B (%)
EERBRRENE (2)
JEWE SIS ()

R-ZFZ=%+-A=+—8H"
RERKNEBANERE S KRR
A #910,468,0008 L (—Z & = =
835,000 ) 1 FEWE
SRR BEENI 2% (ZFE ==
F:791%) o

RZEBEZ=F+=ZA=+—8"
EREwES B AEBZEE
BEREFRFE - LHEKESE
HABEWN100% (ZE - =
100% ) °

RITHER

HRRZEF HEBEREERS
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Re-AEE2EIMEEFRK
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HABEHEERRRESTEX
Bt - 3 48 e SR RS TR A
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6.

[B] FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Other receivables and deposits (Continueqd)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
provided allowance for credit losses of approximately
of HK$42,785,000 (2022: HK$128,336,000) in respect
of other receivables and deposits. Detail of quantitative
disclosures are set out below in this note.

EMIR
B 2 @B f2 & H 1Z R

BF (%)
FERKERBERSE (&)
H W EREE ()

HE-_Z-_=F+=-R=+—
BIEFE  RNEB R EMmERR
HEZSTIREEBBEREEGD
42,785,000 T (&2 ==
128,336,000/8 7T ) ° & = # & 1Y
AHIBERAMET X

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

Internal credit rating Description

AEERNFEERRERTEE

BIATERH

Trade receivables

Other financial assets

A EE TR it W E 5 R HittemEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not Lifetime ECL - not 12m ECL
have any past-due amounts credit-impaired
YEN HFHMENRRRE BYREMEHTE PHESREERR- T EABRHEEEE
AEERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually settle  Lifetime ECL - not 12m ECL
infull credit-impaired
HERE EBABERIBERBEE-REULER PHESBCERR- T EAERHEEEE
AEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk since  Lifetime ECL - not Lifetime ECL -
initial recognition through information developed credit-impaired not credit-impaired
internally or external resources
B BRBANZENERIINPE RN IR AR PHRSBCERE- 2HRYEERE-
EERBRBEEM AMEERE AEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired Lifetime ECL - credit-  Lifetime ECL -
impaired credit-impaired
ER RRBETAEREEENE PHRSBCERE- 2HRYEERE-
EERE EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe Lifetime ECL - credit-  Lifetime ECL -
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic impaired credit-impaired
prospect of recovery
A FBEETNEBARABENHBREAASENCFE 2HENCEHE- 2HRHEEEE-
AT OB EERE EERE
FEEERERRAR

—EC=FFR
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

[B] FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The table below details the credit risk exposures of
the Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ECL

6. TRTH »)

[B) Tt B e &2 H1ZR
HF (&)

EERRRBENE (&)

TRAMBRBEAREERBENG
MAEBETREENERERR

assessment:
2023 2022
—8C= S
External Internal Gross Gross
Notes credit rating  credit rating 12-month or lifetime ECL carrying amount carrying amount
B HBEETR ABEETR T-ARAHENEEER AREE BEREE
LCODR I HKS000  HK$000
TR TR T ThEr
Financial assets at amortised costs
REBERATENERER
Bank balances 26 B1-At N/A 12m ECL
RiTHER Bi-Af ek T_EAEHEERE 3,547 2319
Other receivables and deposits 25 NA (Note 1) 12m ECL
BB RES T (FzET) T_EAEHEERE 2,609 7,019
Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired)
SHEREEEE (FENE) 72328 74937 117579 124,598
Trade receivables 24 NA (Note 2) Lifetime ECL (Provision matrix)
ENESER T (MizE2) THESEEFE (RERE) 10,553 1,055
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

[B] FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Note:

1) For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the
Group uses past due information to assess whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition.

6. TRTH »)

(Bl @ EfEEHER
B F ()
EERkEN&RETE (&)

B 3

1) AN EERMEEMS A&
BFEABPEEHTEEERR
B AR RS R BERE -

Not past due/

No fixed
repayment
Past due terms Total
K@
mEEHEE
B HABR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T FHET
2023 —BEZ-=HF
Other receivables and deposits HEMm AR EE 72,328 2,609 74,937
2022 —E-=
Other receivables and deposits HEib B RIBRIES 117,579 7,019 124,598

2) For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at
lifetime ECL. For defaulted receivables, defined as overdue
by more than 90 days, management of the Group reviews
the recoverable amount of each individual debt at the end
of the reporting period to ensure that adequate provisions
for impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts
on trade receivables.

2) HEWEZERF AEEERE
B SRS RERIFEISE AR
FENEZBAHEEESE
H) B 1R B o BLia BRI BO0K 1Y
BAORWREMS  AEEER
BR#HsHRENSENES
BV AT Bl 78 - ARE AR BT U
2 MR E A AU E & B R EE ST
RREREREE-

THERREARAH
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. TRIT R (s

[B) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT [B) @B fr &7 B 1ZE R
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) B (%)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group
uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its
customers. The following table provides information about
the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables, which are
assessed on a collective basis by using provision matrix
within lifetime ECL.

fERARRAETE (#)

ERAEEEERREEN —B
o AKEFAEBANREKS
HEFPETHMEN G TREHR
ERERAEHEREEBERE
Rl R B EEETH AN ER
BHERZEERBRHEF -

2022
Average Average Trade
loss rate receivables loss rate receivables
FUERE EUESEY JERREl i ES S
HK$’000 HK$'000
THT TET
Gross carrying amount BEHE
0 - 30 days past due #HI0ZE30H 10,553 0.7% 189
91 days - 2 years past due wEOIA =2F - 63.4% 866
10,553 1,055

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the
debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort. The grouping
is regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
provided allowance for credit losses, net of reversal
of approximately HK$411,000 (2022: approximately
HK$49,273,000) in respect of trade receivables based on
the provision matrix.
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6. RIT A &)

[B) £t B e & 2 H 1Z R
HF (&)

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

[B] FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
EER R RRERE (#)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

TRIVREET AT EERE
SERERNEHEREERBE

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the

simplified approach: &
Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2HEHEE 2HEHE
BE(REE EFBE(EE
HE) HE) @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET FHET
As at 1 January 2022 RZE-_—_F—AF—H - 86,714 86,714
Changes due to financial instruments R =Z = —F— 7 —BERK
recognised as at 1 January 2022 TRITASHNE
~ Impairment losses recognised —EERAEEE 1 49,272 49,273
- Write-off — i iH - (128,643)  (128,643)
Exchange alignment BE 5, 3 & - (6,794) (6,794)
As at 31 December 2022 RZZEZZF+=A=+—H 1 549 550
Changes due to financial instruments R =Z = =F— 7 — BERK
recognised as at 1 January 2023 CRITASNNEE
— Impairment losses recognised —ERAREESE - 310 310
~ Impairment losses reversed - BREREESRE (1) - (1)
— Write-off — 88 - (845) (845)
New financial assets originated or EESREANTEMEE
purchased 102 - 102
Exchange alignment B 5, A B - (14) (14)
As at 31 December 2023 R-E-=%+=-A=+-—-H 102 - 102
FEEZREBRAA

—g-=ggg 100



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
mE B HRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B2 —F - =F+_-_A=+—HI FF

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continvea) 6. TEIT A »)
[B) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT Bl @A EZEHER
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) BE (#)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EERMRBEMNME (&)
Change in the loss allowance for trade receivables are ERESERREEREB 2SS E
mainly due to: ZHRN:

Increase Increase
(decrease) (decrease)
in lifetime ECL in lifetime ECL

(not credit-impaired) (credit-impaired)
HRABGEEESR 2HRPEEEFR

#mOms) #m L)

(REERIE) (S ERE)

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET THET

New financial assets originated EENNomEE 102 -
Further impairment made for MEZEREEKE FEXR

credit-impaired trade receivables (e i — S i(E - 310
No realistic prospect of recovery of  l§ o] 4= 28 1) fE WK & 5 BR 70

trade receivables - (845)

2022
B F

Increase Increase

(decrease) (decrease)

in lifetime ECL in lifetime ECL

(not credit-impaired)  (credit-impaired)
HEHEEEE 2HBEHEEEE

2GR ) 2 (R )
(REEERIE) (EERIE)
HK$'000 HK$'000
THBTT FHET
Further impairment made for REBERERIE ZEX
credit-impaired trade receivables  {EH#E—FRIE - 49,272
No realistic prospect of recovery of g EBMEIEZ FEREH
trade receivables - (128,643)
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continvea) 6. TET R »)
[B)] FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (B) & /B iz & 7 H 1 K
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) BR ()
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) FERRKBERNG (&)
The following table shows reconciliation of loss allowances TR Bt E A W R IE KR
that has been recognised for other receivables and THERHBIEREEER:
deposits:
Lifetime ECL
12m ECL (credit-impaired) Total
HRNEERE
T-AARHEERR (EEHE) s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThEL T TR
As at 1 January 2022 s Ed=! 818 99,162 99,980

Changes due to financial instruments W= = =F—A—HERL
recognised as at 1 January 2022 PRHTAEHNE

~ Transfer o lifetime ECL S R

(creditimpaired) (EERE) (746) 746 -
- Impairment losses recognised -BRARESE - 128,336 128,336
- Write-off — 48 - (148,063) (148,063)
Exchange alignment R A% ) (7,935) (7.937)
As at 31 December 2022 RZZ__+-A=+-H 70 72246 72,316

Changes due to financial instruments X =F = =F— A — BB
recognised as at 1 January 2023 £ BT AEHHE

- Transfer to lifetime ECL -BREZ2HEBHEEER
(credit-mpaired) (EERE) (70) 70 -
~ Impairment losses reversed -BEEREES - (64) (64)
~ Impairment losses recognised -ERAREEE - 42819 42,819
- Wiite-off i . (41,080) (41,080)
New financial assets originated EXGBANNCREE
or purchased 30 - 30
Exchange alignment 5 - (1,801) (1,801)
As at 31 December 2023 RZEZ=f+-A=+-H 30 72,190 72,220

THERREARAH
“E=FFR 157



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F — =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea) 6. EMI R @
(B] FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT Bl @ EEEZEHER
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) BE @)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) FERREBERL (&)
Change in the loss allowance for other receivables and HiEWRIERIZeBEEER 2
deposits are mainly due to: BERETEMRN:
2023
Increase
(decrease)
in lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)
—E-=
2HREHEERE
B G 2>)
(EERE)
HK$’000
FHE T
Further impairment made for EEREEMEWFIERIZSED
credit-impaired other receivables  # — &
and deposits 42,819
No realistic prospect of recovery of g [ 4 58 #y H b g U 50 18 N2 3% 4
other receivables and deposits (41,080)
2022
Increase
(decrease)
in lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)
=
2HBEHREEER
2GR
(ZERE)
HK$'000
FHET
Further impairment made for credit- Fi{= BB £ b fE 5008 Mg & B
impaired other receivables and E—RIE
deposits 128,336
No realistic prospect of recovery of U [ 48 58 #y H b fE U 30 T8 2 12 4
other receivables and deposits (148,063)
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. TRIT R (#)

[B] FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (B)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group’s
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as
possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet
its liabilities when due, without incurring unacceptable
losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to approval by the parent company’s board when
the borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels of
authority. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its
liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of
cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay. The maturity dates for other
non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates.

Weighted On demand or

THEEEEHER
B (%)

REBE SRR

REERBESAR ARER
ERERBESHRMANTERE
ARERREAFTERRDES N
BEINPEL EIIFELEEE
BEMnERISASERERE-

ARBEETENEGERERER
BFMNBELER BRERSAR
MERKRERSEEEH iR
BHBREeF R ERERELSE
THEEREKFRAREFEQR
EEEHE-AKRENBRRTE
HEEHEHRDESTERAEET
EERNNER LR &R
AR eHENRETIBMEHE
BYRRNCAREZRE MU
mEHEMERERNORDES

EE-

TRFLAKESRABER®RA
MEBMBE-AXRDRBREBESRAE
RASEAKRERLERNRE R
HWEeRmaERMRRSREF
HeEMmIETESRm B EN D
BIERBEEERH-

More than Total

1 year but contractual
less than  undiscounted Carrying
PATE cash flows amount

—EN0EE  HERFR
TREWME REREBLE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT THER THR

115,000 115,000
22,315 22,315

362,358 362,358

43,507 43,507

average within

interest rate one year

REXY,

MET5F %= —FR

% HK$'000

TR
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=%#+-A=1+-H

Interest-bearing borrowing TEEE (Note)

(M&E) 115,000

Trade payables FERTE SRR N/A FE 22,315
Interest payables and STAERTERREM
redemption premium payable &1~ ZX TE B9 FE 1< K
included in accruals and BREMERRE

other payables 20 362,358
Accruals and other payables  FEFT B FR K EL b FE A

IR NA FER 43,507

543,180

543,180 543,180

FEEEZRERRAA
—EC=FFR
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea) 6. RIT A &)
(B] FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT Bl @ EEEZEHER
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) B (#)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBESRK (&)
More than
Weighted On demand 1yearbut Total contractual
average or within lessthan  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year 2 years cash flows amount
BEXY —FNEA NEATR
METIH & —£R THAME  HEeRE8E KHfE
% HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
T TET AT T
At 31 December 2022 R-BZZE+ZA=T-H
Interest-bearing borrowing iEES (Note) 115,000 - 115,000 115,000
Trade payables EREHER N/A 13463 - 13463 13463

Interest payables and redemption  3F AR B R E M B ZER)
premium payable included in ERFISRERERER

accruals and other payables 20 271,297 - 271,297 271,297
Accruals and other payables A EARAMENTE NA 51916 - 51916 51916
Lease liabiliies HERE 6.90 323 242 565 532

451,999 242 452,241 452,208

Note: Pt ok

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, the interest- REBEE_T__FR-_ZT_=F+=

bearing borrowing is carried default interest at 20% per annum A=+—HLFE B 1%?&&20%3’]

with redemption premium result in an internal rate of return of 20% FRRFEHERFE M EEREE

from the borrowing utilisation date to the date when the Company BHEHEBRERABREEARR 7%%1

fully repaid the borrowing. BEERE BNAEEHREF20% °
(C] FAIR VALUES MEASUREMENTS OF (C] @ T Az 2 -FiEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS =

The Directors considers that the carrying amounts of EERANGEVBHREERN

financial assets and financial liabilities recognised in the TRHEERSHABENEEESR

consolidated financial statements approximate to their fair HERFEMBSE-

values.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{2 —F - =F+_-A=+—HI FF

7. REVENUE

[I) DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE FROM
CONTRACT WITH CUSTOMERS:

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Type of goods or services

Sales of construction materials
Property management service

Total

Geographical markets
PRC

Timing of revenue recognition
A point of time

Over time

Total

AmR AR EE
SHE R EM Y

M EERTS

st

o & T 5

FE

e #5 FE SR B

7 e 2

Ry A BR

Bt

iy z=

(] XEEF &K ZDHF
Wiz

BE-Z-_=%+=-A=+—H
IEEE

Properties Natural
investment gas

segment segment Total
NERE KRR

2 8 28 #st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THET THET

= 9,348 9,348
1,318 - 1,318
1,318 9,348 10,666
1,318 9,348 10,666

= 9,348 9,348
1,318 = 1,318
1,318 9,348 10,666

HEEZRERRAR

—g==ggg 10]
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B2 —F - =F+_-_A=+—HI FF

7. REVENUE (continvea) 7. W&o
[I] DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE FROM () FEEF&EHNZTHK
CONTRACT WITH CUSTOMERS: (Continued) Was )
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from TXHINBEFPEARZHDFE
contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed in BLET % 7R SR IB R E R

the segment information.

Properties Natural

investment gas

segment segment
NERE RKAR

Pl 2 H

Total

et

HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET FHxT
Sales of construction materials HEEEM R — 9,348 9,348
Property management service MEERRE 1,318 = 1,318
Revenue from contracts with customers EF & &K & 1,318 9,348 10,666
Leases HE 1,446 - 1,446
Total revenue FeAl g 2,764 9,348 12,112
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

7. REVENUE (continvea)
(] DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE FROM

CONTRACT WITH CUSTOMERS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

e
] KEEF&EHZ DK
Wzs (&)

B2 -_—_F+=ZA=+—H
FE

Properties
investment  Natural gas
segment segment Total
Pal:iL DE HBEt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT T TAET

Type of goods or services EmEREER
Property management service MEEERR®E
Geographical markets i & ™ %

PRC H

Timing of revenue recognition Wy 228 e 8 I P
Over time I PR ER

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from
contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed in
the segment information.

1,273 - 1,273
1,273 - 1,273
1,273 - 1,273

TXEINEFAORmEYHE

P I BE FRIB A ETBR o
Properties Natural
investment gas
segment segment Total
PaN:iL DE HEt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T TAET

Property management service Y E R R

Revenue from contracts with customers & F & AUk
Leases e

Total revenue Pl g

1,273 - 1,273
1,273 - 1,273
1,442 - 1,442
2,715 - 2,715

FEERREERAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F — =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E
7. REVENUE (continvea) 7. W&o

(Il PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS FOR ) EFE & EXEF
CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

Sales of construction materials

Revenue from sales of construction materials which can be
used in producing natural gas pipelines in the natural gas
business of the Group are recognised at a point in time
when control of the goods has transferred, being when the
goods have been delivered to the specify location. The

normal credit term is up to 30 days upon delivery.

Property management service

HEREMH

HERMAREEARBRARE
BHRORAREBOEZEN K
ANFEE VD12 | R B8 7 ) B () B A
R BB R B 45 E 3 B
MR CTHEEEH/ARER
30K e

MR EE R

Under the terms of the contract, property management BESNER MEEERSIZ
service is satisfied over time. The property management REBRBEIT- MEEEBRAL
fee income are recognised throughout the respective EEREGOHNER - EFE
contract period. The normal credit term is up to 30 days EH AN FHEIEI0K .

upon the payment period.

() TRANSACTION PRICE ALLOCATED DB EFHEHEFEFZ&SH
TO THE REMAINING PERFORMANCE e T EXNEMFHX
OBLIGATION FOR CONTRACTS WITH 21815
CUSTOMERS
Sales of construction materials HEREMS

MEEPEHARY—FHIAT-
AN E B B 15 ¥R S RSB 1658 P
R B IARBEIEEZFTRE
TEHNZXHER-

All contracts with customers are for periods of one year
or less. As permitted by HKFRS 15, the transaction price
allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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7. REVENUE (continvea)

(Il) TRANSACTION PRICE ALLOCATED
TO THE REMAINING PERFORMANCE
OBLIGATION FOR CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

Property management service

7. W&o

N2 B ZEHEFZ &

HIEE T BEXEEHX
Z1EE @)

MR EE R

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) and the expected timing of recognising

revenue are as follows:

7
#B

NV
Ay
I

-
[=]

fic
%
tE

22
O

EHRTEHNET(RELHOH
BN ZERKIEHK
REROT

2023 2022
—E-= —F-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Within one year —F LA 717 675
More than one year but not —FUERFEAA
more than two years 322 235
More than two years and not MFEAERFURA
more than 5 years 308 28
1,347 938
[IV] LEASES (VI HE
2023 2022
—E=-= T
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHET
Total revenue arising from leases HEBIE
For operating lease: BEHE:
Lease payments that are fixed EEMHEE N 1,446 1,442
FEEZREBRAA

—EC=FFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F — =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the board of Directors (the “Board”),
being the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on types of goods or services delivered or
provided. No operating segments identified by the CODM have
been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments of the
Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under HKFRS 8
are as follows:

(a) Properties investment — generated property management
service income and rental income from operating leases of
Group’s investment properties in the PRC;

(b) Natural gas - trading of natural pipelined gases and its
construction materials in the PRC; and

(c) Investment holding — investment in associates on a
geographical basis of the PRC.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{2 —F - =F+_-A=+—HI FF

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continvec)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results

by operating segment for the years ended 31 December 2023

and 2022:

Properties
investment

HK$'000
TR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BZ-F-=F+-A=+-ALEE

Segment revenue
From external customers

Segment profit

Interest income

Other income, gains and losses, net

Loss from changes in fair value of
investment properties

Impairment losses under expected
credit loss model, net of reversal

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries

Other corporate expenses

Profit (loss) from operations
Finance costs

Loss before tax
Income tax expense

Loss for the year

Other segment information
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Loss on early termination of lease

Segment assets

Segment liabilities

DEER (#)

NTINARBEZE_E_=Fr_F=_=
i‘?— A=T—RALtFEXREHEKE

5 HE S

ETE
gas
RAR
HK$'000
TR

Investment
holding
RELZR
HK$'000
THR

Unallocated
ROE
HK$'000
THEL

D2 W M R AT

Total
&g
HK$'000
TR

2Bk
RENIER 2,764 9,348 - - 12,112
AR 2,444 308 - - 2,752
FEWA 1 1 - - 2
EtA B RERFE 3 - - (105) (102)
&é%% TEEDEL BE
(544) - - = (944)
BEGERRREABTHRESS
(MBRER) 65  (14,438) (28,823) - (43,196)
LENBRATZER - - - (10629)  (10,629)
EtERT (1,680) (1,017) (227) (5,994) (8,918)
LERT (HE) 289  (15,146) (29,050) (16,728) (60,635
HBRA (514) - - (91,075) (91,589
BBiRIEE (225)  (15,146) (29,050) (107803)  (152,224)
MRS (41) - - - (1)
FRER (266)  (15,146) (29,050) (107803)  (152,265)
HiaHEs
FREEAENE - - - (125) (125)
REKAEZBX - - - (105) (105)
PEHEE 23,349 17,709 - 23 41,081
PR (21,011)  (22,339) (662) (504,743)  (548,755)
HEEEREARA T

—EC=FFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F — =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

~ R E W
8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continvea) 8. 7HER @
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results LWTEREBE-_TS_=FR=-_F=-=
by operating segment for the years ended 31 December 2023 F+-_ A=+ BLEFEAEERRE
and 2022: (Continued) CENHE D WRREEZ DT
(%)
Properties Natural Investment
investment gas holdng  Unallocated Total
NERE RAE RERR Vi B%
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ-Z__F+-A=+-ALL%EE
Segment revenue AHKE
From external customers RENDER 2715 - - - 2,715
Segment profit A BEH 2,539 - - - 2,539
Interest income BN 6 - - - 6
Other income, gains and losses, net ~ EMA K REEFE 5 5 36,000 48 36,058
Loss from changes in fair value of REMELTEESEL 2 BR
investment properties (3,393) - - - (3,393)
Impairment losses under expected BAGEEREAETNAESE
credit loss model, net of reversal (M) (2)  (133487) (44,120) - (177,609)
Share of results of associates [ A UN A - - (766) - (766)
Other corporate expenses EtERT (2,425) (180) - (7,197) (9,802)
Loss from operations "EFR (3,270)  (133,662) (8,886) (7.149)  (152,967)
Finance costs BB (538) - - (75,904) (76,442)
Loss before tax BREAER (3808)  (133,662) (8,886) (83,053)  (229,409)
Income tax expense FrERAY - - - - -
Loss for the year EREE (3,808)  (133,662) (8,886) (83,053) (229,409)
Other segment information AttABER
Depreciation of right-of-use assets RREAENE - - - (343) (343)
Depreciation of property, plant nE BEREENE
and equipment 9 - - - 9)
Segment assets PHEE 33,152 18,284 27,720 680 79,836
Segment liabilities HHEE (40,636) (8,638) (479) (408,172)  (457,925)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continvec)

Segment revenue represents revenue generated from external
customers. There were no inter-segment sales during the year
(2022: Nil).

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment performance
is evaluated based on reportable segment profit (loss). The
segment profit (loss) represents the result generated from
each segment with allocation of (i) general and administrative
expenses, selling and distribution costs under the heading of
other corporate expenses; (i) share of results of associates; (iii)
interest income; and (iv) compensation income and other sundry
income under the heading of other income, gains and losses,
net; (v) loss from changes in fair value of investment properties,
net; (vi) impairment losses under expected credit loss model,
net of reversal; and (vii) loss of disposal of subsidiaries. This is
the measure reported to CODM for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, all assets and liabilities
are allocated to reportable segments other than corporate
assets and liabilities.

GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS

The Group’s operations are located in the PRC.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers
is presented based on the location of the customers. Information
about the Group’s non-current assets is presented based on the
geographical location of the assets.

Revenue from
external customers

The PRC F

DERE R #)

DERETIREAINT T 2 ek F
AW EDHEEE (T _F ) o

ﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁzaﬁﬁﬁEKEIZA
AABRERER - D EBRRIREANZ

2 &b A (B KA L A
(BB ESDBMELL DB E N
THREZRE: (V" RETBAX A
R ZIATHE KD HERA: (i)
FEIERE 2 R Al 2 E A (i) B M A
(V)R B YA R B A AT 2 B 5 TR
WA (MEREMERATFEEHELZ
BEFE: (viREHEEEEEXET
MR EE R (OB E) - R(viph &
MEARZER ZtEHATIAE
xakﬁﬁ%ﬁi AS &R 2 B &

2 EBRIE A T E A HORE ©

AN 4|§

#T%%%ﬁ&“%ﬁ o BC & IR
FMEEENRAEHIEEZEANZR
MEEEERABBERI) -

ﬁ) nn\ g'ﬁ

fﬂ B2 7 /'\_\4
REBERPEEEES-
BRASEXREIBEF RENER

BEPUEZI -AHAKEERD
BENERNREENHEUERY -

Non-current assets

RESMBEF KRS FRBEE
2022
HK$'000
THET
12,112 2,715 23,034 24,702
FEERREERAT

—EC=FFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F — =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

aNkvi| P N
8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (coniinueq) 8. DHEHR )
INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR CUSTOMERS TEEFZEHN
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years HMEFEERMASE LK AI10%
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are as BREEFPHBALT :
follows:
2023 2022
—E-= —E-
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Customer A Natural gas business 9,348 -
EFPA RARFK 9,348 -
Customer B Properties Investment business N/A* 420
=B MERE X BB
Customer C Properties Investment business N/A* 316
ZPFC MEREE B A
Customer D Properties Investment business N/A* 298
EFD MEREE TiE A
Customer E Properties Investment business N/A* 336
EPE MEREED TEA*
* Less than 10% of the Group's total revenue Y PR EFBIKARI10%
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

9.

OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES,
NET

Interest income on bank deposits
Compensation income arising from profit

guarantee realisation (Note) BEWA (M5E)
Loss on early termination of a lease REKIEHEZEE
Others HAh

Note:

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, as Forward
Investment (PRC) Company Limited (“Forward Investment”) suffered
operating loss and no dividend have been declared, the Return
Undertaking (as defined in Note 22(i)) was exercised and the Guarantors
(as defined in Note 22(i)) are obliged to pay the compensation income
of HK$36,000,000 and HK$36,000,000 to the Group for the years ended
31 December 2022 and 31 December 2023, respectively. As such,
a compensation income from the Guarantors of HK$36,000,000 was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2022. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the
management of the Group considered the Guarantors are in default of
payment of the compensation income for the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2022, and thus, no compensation income was recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2023.

RITEFZHBUA
mANERERMEELZ

HAabWA - s REEF
#

2023 2022
—E_=F =T

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

2 6

- 36,000

(105) -

3 58

(100) 36,064

i :

HEeE—" S =K -—"T-——HF+-F=+—
BIEFE BREMEE(PE)ERQA
(RMBRE|)AZKEBBEBAYTES KR
B B AGE (A0kf sE22()Fr R E ) FEB 1T -
MERA (K F22()FF R E) A ERE
ECE-—F+-A=+—BAR-TB-=%F
T A=+t —BLEFESMAEESZ N
18 4 A.36,000,0005% 7T }2.36,000,0005% 7T °
It 2K B #E R A B 48 8 U A36,000,0007% 7T
EREE_ T -_—F+-_A=1T—HLEFE
NG BEERNER - BE2-F_=F1+=
A=+ RLFE AEEEEERBER
NERBEZZEZ—FR_FT-_=_F+=A
“+—BLEFENHERA Bt KRE
ECBE-=F+-A=1+—HILFEENEA
B R NERBERA -

FEEEZRERRAA
—EC=FFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F — =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

10. FINANCE COSTS

11.

10. 81 7§ R A

Default interest on interest-bearing FHEBR IR FE

borrowing

Redemption premium on interest-bearing i BfER 2 EE R E
borrowing

Interest on lease liabilities HEARBEZNE

Interest on litigation liabilities (Note 28 (d))

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER
EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET
OF REVERSAL

e BB (FFE28(d))

2023 2022
—Eg2-= —EF-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
THExT FHET
55,551 46,293
35,510 29,590

14 21

514 538
91,589 76,442

M. BHREEFEEXEN
WEEE (HRER)

Impairment losses recognised on:

— Trade receivables —EWRE F IR
— Other receivables —H fib pE U FRIA

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 6(b).
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THET FAT

411 49,273

42,785 128,336
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12. FREBIB X

2022

HK$'000
TR

Current tax BN ERT TR

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group
entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will
be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed
at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax
of the qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first
HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as
the Group has no estimated assessable profits arising in, nor
deriving from Hong Kong for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

In 2023, XEEZEYRAMR AR (Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics
Company Limited*) (“Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics”), a non-wholly
subsidiary of the Company, fulfils the requirement of small and
micro enterprises and is subject to 20% preferential EIT
pursuant to Cai Shui [2022] No. 13 and [2023] No.6 issued by
Ministry of Finance of the PRC. In addition, Tianjin Jun Hua
Logistics is also entitled to a tax concession for 25% of its
taxable income for the annual taxable income of less than
RMB3,000,000 (inclusive) for the year ended 31 December
2023.

No provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been made as
the Group had no assessable profit arising in or derived from
PRC for the year ended 31 December 2022.

*  For identification purpose only

*

41 -

RIBEEBHNESHERBHFESHEHEZ
A EREEEE/NE2,000,000% 7T #)
i F 15128, 25% &4 i MR #82,000,000
7 TR A #1216 5% HH > T A W
BEFEHEFNEER 2 EBERE

wm MG EEIR G — T E16. 5% - B
It & &% & B E M E2,000,000%
T HY 1l 5T B R B B 5 128.25% Uk
EEFB T - AR 82,000,000 7T A
fHET R BE A 8 1216.5% B & 7B
FIBRL o

HRARERMEFELENKESE
BEB MGG ERUE A - 8 EAE
HEBEENSHEE -

B (PFEAREMBGEMBE)
([ KEZEMRBBZE) DR ERST
FoE) BRG] B BB A RN
EFEr X HB25% o

RZZEZ=F ARaMFE2EWE
REREEEZEMRABBR LG ([ RKER
EYRFANROEZE TRE
B B 50 A8 46 B B B [2022]135% K
[2023]65% F X20% M B R XS
FReotdh #HE-"T-=ZF+ - A
—+—RHAIEFE REEEYRNTF
[ R B AER A R ¥3,000,0007T
(B)H AT ZERERBUA25%H T
WEE-

AR AEERBE_ZS-__F+=A
S+ HBUEFEYERPEELESR
B B A FE AR BE A - iR 4 B R
EMSHELRE-

EHZT

FEEEZRERRAA
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/ ==
12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (coninued) 12. FRrEBBE = (o)
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the AERGABERTHAEHA AR
loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss BRIAIEBEZHERM T
as follows:

2022
HK$'000
FHET

Loss before tax MRBAIEE (152,224) (229,409)
Tax calculated at domestic tax rate of HERFE165% (T ==

16.5% (2022:16.5%) 16.5% ) st B 1R 1E (25,117) (37,852)
Tax effect of share of results of associates FE{GHE & A B EE4E 2 TG & - 126
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for N A] HIREIBASE 2 T IS &

tax purpose 25,174 43,660
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BEARBMAZ G E

purpose - (5,942)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AR MIBEENREE 82 184
Utilisation of tax loss not recognised RERZEEARIEEBE = (187)
Effect of preferential tax of PRC FEMNBAREEMRE 2 ZE

subsidiaries 157 -
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries FE i AARE A2 BB A 7

operating in other jurisdiction HEARzZE (255) 11
Income tax expense FrEBAx 4 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

Az it ¥ — |
13. LOSS BEFORE TAX 13. BRBLAIES 18
Loss before tax has been arrived at after charging (crediting): BREIRIEBE MR (FFA) THSIE:
2022
—E-—F
HK$'000
FET
Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments BIRAK (BIEES
(Note 14)): B < (FFeE14) ) -
— salaries, allowances and benefits in kind —¥e WM EYH T 2,610 3,387
— retirement benefits scheme contributions —RIRAEFIFT B 3K 88 95
Total staff costs S TRAERR 2,698 3,482
Auditor's remuneration ZERB 800 950
Depreciation of right-of-use assets HRREEEITE 125 343
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment %% - = R R HITE - 9
Legal and professional fee EERBES 262 310
Cost of inventories recognised as expense BRAEFAXHNEERR 9,040 -
Gross rental income from investment properties & B & ¥ ~
AP CE (1,446) (1,442)
Less: Direct operating expenses from investment & : FRELH S UA 2
properties that generated rental income WEME L BEEKE
during the year X 320 176
(1,126) (1,266)
FEREEZERERRAR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B2 —F - =F+_-_A=+—HI FF

14.DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND CHIEF 14. EERESTTHRAEME
EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the years, EENEETBRAEBEZTFANESRIE
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the Hong EALEMRAREERAGH 2HE
Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows: BREOT:

Salaries, Retirement

allowances benefit

Directors’ and benefits scheme
Fees inkind  contribution Total

HE HER RIKEH
EzHs BRE EE 3 &t
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$’000

TR TR TR TR
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-E-_=F+-A=t-HLEE
Executive directors: BTES:
Xu Xiao Jun (Notes a & d) fRME (fisakd) - - - -
Ye De Chao (“Mr.Ye") ELTEAE S 23] = = = =
Lu Yi (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) B (ZER1TEREE,) (HaEb)
(Note b) - 64 1 65
Xu Feng (Note ) fRIE (Bizke) - - - -
- 64 1 65
Independent non-executive directors: BYFHTES:
He Jin Geng ek 120 - - 120
Yu Hong Gao BiE 120 - - 120
Chen Yang B 120 - - 120
360 - - 360
Total EH 360 64 1 425
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

14. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND CHIEF

14 EERESTHRAEME

EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (continveq) (%)
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
Directors’  and benefits scheme
Fees in kind contribution Total
e ik RIKEAH
EE2 kA EMF& RENTS CHI
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT THT TET THT
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-_E-__#+-A=1+-HLEE
Executive directors: HTES:
Xu Xiao Jun (Chairman and Chief Executive — 1/\ME& ( F/EFTHAEZ)

Officer) (Notes a & d) (Fiztakd) - - - -
Mr. Ye Ep i - - - -
Lu i (Note b) B (M) - - - -
Independent non-executive directors: BUFHTES:

He Jin Geng A&k 120 - - 120

Yu Hong Gao B 120 - - 120

Chen Yang R 120 - - 120
360 - - 360

Total &t 360 - - 360

Notes: B 5 -

(a) Resigned as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer on 1 August (@ RZZE_=FNA—BEEEERT

2023.

(b)  Appointed as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer on 1 August
2023.

i, o

RZEBE-_=FN\A—HEZTAEERFR
FATHRAEH, -

FEEEZRERRAA
—EC=FFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F — =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

14. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION (continveq)

Notes: (Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Appointed as executive director on 18 September 2023.

Resigned as executive director on 18 September 2023.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services as Directors.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the Directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office.

Except for those disclosed in material related party transactions

in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements, no other

transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the

Group’s business to which the Company or any subsidiaries of

the Company was a party and in which a director had a material

interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the

year or at any time during the year.
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(%)

MisE: (&

(c)

(d)

(e)

(h)

R-B-ZFAA+\BAEEEAN
TEE

RZE-_=FAA+N\BBENTE
=

NERITEENME DEREEER
AR B RAEEER LR E R

N EBIFEATESOME AR E
EHEEE LRENRS -

BE-_Z-_=%+-RA=+—8Bk=
T F+ZA=+—HIEFE B
BEERGREITTHRABNEXRE N
ERMAMES R

HE-_T-_=FR=-_F-_—_F+=A
=t+-ALFE AEBTERNES
AT B PAYE A IR 51 18 55 in AR
5 B S A A0 A B 2 52 B X 1 A B B 4

8

BN e MR M 37 E KRR E
AEXRSFABEERZIN RERK
REZEMNBEBEEFERARF N
ARABZEAMBRAREEALR
EFERAMEEREANRZZAR
BERBGHEBNEORS ZHREDH-
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

A =
15. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 15. AV RS HMES
The five highest paid employees of the Group during the FAXEB AU EaTNEERE =
year included three (2022: three) directors, details of whose FB(ZE2ZZF =F)EF EH W
remuneration are set out in Note 14 to the consolidation financial FEHN LS E M BmEM 14 -
statements above. Details of the remuneration for the year of BTRE(ZEZZF WA )EAR
the remaining two (2022: two) highest paid employees who are AEFIAERTHRABNES HHE
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as B EHMWHFBENOT
follows:
2023 2022
—EB-=F g
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e mEREYANE 1,622 2,155
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RRE MBI R 18 36
1,640 2,191
The number of the highest paid employees who are not the FHNTFUTHENEESN RS
Directors whose remuneration fell within the following bands is IEE ABMT :
as follows:
Number of employees
EEAH
2022
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 21,000,000 7T 1 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,0017% 7C £ 1,500,000/ 7T 1 1
2 2
16. DIVIDENDS 16. iR B

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2023, nor
has any dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting
period (2022: Nil).

HE-_T-_-F+-A=+—HIHF
[ 30 48 [A) AR A B B AR IR AR B ok #E
TREERE S B E BRUAKRITARIE
BRE(ZE=Z=F: &)

FEEERERRAA
—EC=HER
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F — =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

17.LOSS PER SHARE 17.

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following
data:

BRER

EYNGE T PN JEETE S T
18 T 4R 05T 5 B 5 -

2022

HK$'000
TAT

Loss for the year attributable to owners R FHE &I E A K #E 518

of the Company for the purpose of RARHAE AEIEFAERE
basic and diluted loss per share

)

(152,345) (227,735)

2022
—E-F
'000

T

Number of shares i ¢=|

Weighted average number of ordinary AR ESRER REEEEDY

shares for the purpose of basic and TR E T8
diluted loss per share

No diluted loss per share for both years ended 31 December
2023 and 31 December 2022 were presented as there were
no potential ordinary shares in issue for both years ended 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2022.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. ¥ BMEKRE
Construction Office
in progress equipment Total
EEIR WAERE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FTAT
COoST 5N
At 1 January 2022 RN-ZTE-_—_F—H—H 217,597 78 217,675
Exchange alignments bE 3 (17,131) - (17,131)
At 31 December 2022 RZE-_—_F+=-A=+—H 200,466 78 200,544
Exchange alignments P 5 (4,993) - (4,993)
Eliminated on disposals S B 8 (195,473) - (195,473)
At 31 December 2023 R-ZEBE-=5+-A=+-—H - 78 78
ACCUMULATED B WMERREE
DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2022 R-E-_—_F—F—H 217,597 69 217,666
Provided for the year FNRE - 9 9
Exchange alignments M 58 B (17,131) - (17,131)
At 31 December 2022 RW_E-—%#+-F=+—H 200,466 78 200,544
Exchange alignments [ W 7R (4,993) - (4,993)
Eliminated on disposals o 6 B 4 8 (195,473) - (195,473)
At 31 December 2023 R-ZB-=%+=-H=+-H - 78 78
CARRYING VALUES BREE
At 31 December 2023 R-ZB-=%+=-H=+-—-H - - -
At 31 December 2022 R-E-—F#+-A=+—H - - -
HHERREERA

—EC=FFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F — =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

19

(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, except for
construction in progress, are depreciated on a straight-line
basis at the following rates per annum:
Office equipment 10 - 20%

The carrying value of land under construction-in-progress was
held under medium-term lease on the PRC.

As at 31 December 2022, certain properties under construction
were pledged to secure a loan granted to an independent
third party by the Lender (defined in Note 36) in the sum of
approximately HK$90,248,000 (equivalent to RMB80,000,000).
The carrying amount of the pledged properties were HK$NIl as
at 31 December 2022. Further details are set out in Note 36 to
the consolidated financial statements.

18. ¥ -HERRKE =2

tamE -BEAEREERER (EZ2TRE
BROMN IA T FRABREEFE

WAERME 10—20%
FEIZLtHZEmEARP HZS
HFR 435 A -

W-—_Z-_—_F£+-_fF=+—80 %
TEREWERER EFREF (ER
A6 BRF—2BUE = HEHE
#990,248,000/8 L (HHE N AR
80,000,000 ) EX MR- KN ZF
ZZF+ZA=1+—HB EAEDEDN
FEEASAT #E—SHBHNE
& R EMIFE36 -

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 19. FREEE
Leased
properties
HEmE
HK$'000
FHET
At 1 January 2022 R=-ZE=-_=—fF-HA—H
Carrying amount REE 268
Addition = 602
Depreciation charge WEER (343)
At 31 December 2022 R-ZB-ZZH+-A=+—H
Carrying amount ARMEE 527
Depreciation charge TEER (125)
Early termination BB (402)

At 31 December 2023
Carrying amount

fRE{E
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continueq) 19. EREEE »

2022

HK$'000

FHET

Total cash outflow for leases HERSRLAE 135 387

For both years, the Group leases leasehold offices for its
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of
2 years (2022: 2 years). Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain different terms and conditions.
In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a
contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

Lease liabilities of approximately HK$532,000 are recognised
with related right-of-use assets of approximately HK$527,000 at
31 December 2022. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets
that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

REZMERN AEBHERERAE
ARegE-HEANEMF (=T =
FMF)NBEEEMFIZ -HHHE
& 1% 7 - B 1 T R AR R sk i - EE A
HEFE A RESNRORER K
SERMANERLBERE AN AT
Y HARR

EEREE & E4532,0008 7T F &
R-ZE - —F+-_/F=+—HHER
T & FE #9527,0008 T o H E B E I T
MR EHEAMSEHEHEEEFRNE
REZAINOERNRFB-HEEET
SREEEER-

FEEEZRERRAA
—EC=FFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # 2 —F —

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

ZFESf A= —HIEFE

20. REWHE

Investment
properties
REWE
HK$'000
T
At 1 January 2022 R -_—F—HF—H 29,816
Decrease in fair value recognised RIB R R A TFER
in the profit or loss (3,393)
Exchange alignment b 5 (2,248)
At 31 December 2022 RZZE-_—_F+—-_A=+—H 24175
Decrease in fair value recognised in the RERERHQFERD
profit or loss (544)
Exchange alignment b 5, 58 5 (597)
At 31 December W+=—A=+—H 23,034
2022
=
HK$'000
FHET
Net unrealised loss on property STABEZYMESRR
revaluation included in profit or loss REBEEIEFEHE (544) (3,393)
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, all the investment properties RZEZZ=ZFR-_F-__F+=A
are located and leased in the PRC held under medium-term E-i— A - FrEREMEHLRN S E
lease. RAEREBEFEHEERE -
The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result HRFTBEHEANEBREESENY

of lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the

respective functional currencies of group entities. The lease

contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/or

lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of lease

term.

The Group leases out various industrial properties under

operating leases with rentals payable monthly. The leases
typically run for an initial period of 1 to 5 years (2022: 1 to 5

years).
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continuea) 20. REWZE =

In determining the fair value of the relevant properties and
land use right, the Group engages third party qualified valuer
to perform the valuation. The Directors work closely with
the qualified external valuers to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The fair value
of all of the Group’s investment properties as at 31 December
2023 has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried
out on the respective dates by Valtech Valuation Advisory
Limited (“Valtech”) (2022: Valtech), an independent qualified
professional valuer not connected to the Group.

There has been no change from the valuation technique used in
the prior year. In estimating the fair value of the properties, the
highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

Valuations of its industrial properties in PRC is based on
an estimate of current cost of replacement of the buildings/
improvements less allowance for physical deterioration and all
relevant forms of obsolescence and optimisation.

The market value of land use right assuming sale of the lands
in its existing state by making reference to comparable sales
transactions as available in the relevant market. Comparison
is based on the considerations realised on actual transactions
of comparable lands. Comparable lands with similar sizes,
characters and locations are analyzed and carefully weighed
against all respective advantage and disadvantage of each land
in order to arrive at fair comparison of value.

The following table gives information about how the fair values
of the investment properties as at 31 December 2023 and 2022
are determined (in particular, the valuation techniques and input
used):

RETHBEYERIHERENQTF
BER AEBEZRBRE=-FT5EKMHE
METHBE - EFHGERINDEE
MBI EIEABESENGERTER
RANB AR AEEMEREY
¥R _E_=ZF+-_A=+—HHAQ
FEDRERAEETVEBENE L
AEREEGFEMABRIHAER AT
([FR]) (ZE==F:71R)NHAE
HEETR G EMER -

BEFEMRANGESALEZS)-
M ZEMELRATER ZEMHE
ZERBMRERE/EERNAE-

HBENTENTEDENGELDER
MO EBERBFEE " RERENR
ERBRNE —OHEBT AN RERE
e BRIEL -

THERENTEDRRALRAMN
MEEL I 2ERBET IS LAELL
BREHEX S LBRBEAELR L
MERXZREEL - BBELURE
FHARUENAELREMA S L
MABEEBERELBETONRERS
B AEERFHLRER

TREIREMERZ_ZE_=F K=
T —FE+ - A=+—HOQAFED
EEAFN(ABmME MAGESER
WABUE) -

FEEEZRERRAA
—EC=FFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F — =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continuea) 20. REWZE =

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the
highest and best use of investment properties is their current

MEREMEZATER REME
ZEEMRERESEERAE-

use.
Investment properties Fair value  Valuation Significant unobservable
held by the Group Fair value hierarchy  technique inputs Sensitivity
TEEMBRENE NYE ATERS HERE EAFABEGAER HRE
2023 2022
ZECCE ekl
HK$'000 HK$'000
TRT FEL
Investment properties 16,423 17,237 Level 3 Depreciated Replacement unit cost rate A significant increase in unit
located in the PRC F=R replacement cost  of RMB1,297/m? cost rate used would result in
- industrial building approach (2022: RMB1,327/m?) significant increase in fair value,
URPENRENE FEAEEMSE EEEESTLHRARK1,297%  and vice versa
-IX87F (ZBZZ%:8F5% FREBAEEREERLTE
AEH13277) REEEM R 2T A
Land use right located 6,611 6,938 Level 3 Direct comparison ~ Market unit rate RMB425/m? A significant increase in market
in the PRC Y approach (2022: RMB428/m?) unit rate used would result in
ARTER LA 8141973 TEASTHFRARKIST significant increase in fair
(ZZZZF:5FHK value, and vice versa
AEB4287) FRTEABEREERLTE

The fair value measurement is categorised into Level 3 fair value
hierarchy. There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during
the year.

The future aggregate minimum rental receivables under
non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

KR R 2%
AFEHEDAE=RAFHER
RS = R A -

1858 7T T 98 40 R 8 0 R R MEC A
WA % @I T

Not later than 1 year —FR
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years —FRBRERLFNAN
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734 376

1,629 1,202




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

21. GOODWILL 21. 8
2022
HK$'000
FHET
Cost AR A
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—BRER+ZRA=+—H 79,909 79,909
Accumulated impairment losses W EEE
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—BK+ZA=+—H 79,909 79,909
Carrying amounts FREE
At 31 December W+=ZA=+—H - -
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill was allocated HBEARANE HEEIEEZME
to two cash-generating units under the properties investment KEPH THMERSELEEN W
segment, as follows: N
Properties Investment Segment
MERE D ER
Success Take Limited Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics
Success Take Limited REBREYR
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=F —_=FT-= —E_=HF =T
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEx FHET FTET FHT
Gross amount HEE 27,118 27,118 52,791 52,791
Less: Accumulated i : 2R EEE
impairment
losses (27118) (27,118) (52,791) (52,791)
Net carrying amount FEEEE - - - -
FEEZREBRAA
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F — =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

22.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 22. NEFE NEl 2=
2022
—E-—F
HK$'000
FET
Unlisted investment, at cost KA EZIELTIRE 354,124 354,124
Share of post-acquisition losses FEAE W B2 B 1 (368,890) (368,890)
Share of other comprehensive income JE(RE M2 E 14,766 14,766
At 31 December w+=ZA=+—H - -
Details of the each of Group's associates at the end of the RRERREAEEEZ RRIMNTBED
reporting period are as follow: e
Place of incorporation Proportion of Proportion of
and principal place ownership interest voting power
Name of operation held by the Group held by the Group Principal activities
TR AR L 3t B
2% TEEXENY EEEREREZLLA AEERERERZLE TEEXH
2023 2022 2023 2022
ZECCE ekt T -5 kSt
Direct associate
EEHENT
Forward Investment (PRC) Hong Kong 40% 40% 40% 40%  Investment holding
Company Limited
(“Forward Investment”)
ZAEE (RE)ARAR ([RNRE]) FE REZR
Indirect associate
BEBHEAR
Nanjing Taihe Yingke Trading Group The PRC 40% 40% 40% 40%  Property development
Company Limited* and property
investment
HRENENEEEEERAA Rl NERERDERE
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group's interests in RZEZ=FR_FT=__F+=H
associates represent 40% equity interests in Forward Investment =t+—RH AEERBEAR 2 ER
and its subsidiary (together, the “Forward Investment Group”). EREMEERAEMB AR ([RAMIR

BRE]) 240%0 5% -

*  For identification purpose only
© ERES
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continvec)

Details of Forward Investment are as follows:

(i)

On 27 September 2012, Keen Gate Developments
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a subscription agreement to subscribe
approximately 40% equity interests in Forward Investment
(the “Subscription”). The Subscription was completed on
10 December 2012.

Pursuant to the subscription agreement, Mr. Ye, one of
the Directors, and the original beneficial owner of Forward
Investment (collectively referred to as the “Guarantors”)
jointly and severally guaranteed the dividend income
distributed by Forward Investment to the Group. The
Guarantors will provide compensation income to the
Group if the dividend income from Forward Investment is
lower than HK$36,000,000 (12% of the consideration of
the Subscription) per annum (the “Return Undertaking”).
The guarantee will be valid from the completion date (10
December 2012) of the Subscription and up to the Group
ceases to be a shareholder of Forward Investment.

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
as Forward Investment suffered operating loss and no
dividend have been declared, the Return Undertaking
was exercised and the Guarantor is obliged to pay
the compensation income of HK$36,000,000 and
HK$36,000,000 to the Group for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 31 December 2023, respectively.
As such, a compensation income from the Guarantors
of HK$36,000,000 was recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December
2022. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the
management of the Group considered the Guarantors are
in default of payment of the compensation income for the
years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022,
and thus, no compensation income was recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended
31 December 20283.

22. REFERNTI 2R (8)

FAREFHBOT:

(i)

RZE—ZFhLAZ++AH &
RA—RE2EMBRAIEEZERE
BRABEIN —HDREBHBHEAR
BERMIEE 2 440%0 % ([RB
EE]) REZTHERZ-_Z—=
F+=ZA+HEK-

BEREWR EF 2 —¥%4%
REMEEZREHBA (K
BRITERAL R X @R ZRF
FANEERMAEES IR 2R E
WA M= MEERME 2 FER
B A K 736,000,000 7T (R
EEEREZ12%) ERAZR
7N [E AR A E U A (] B 8]
#w) ZERKERBEIETK
B (ZE—=F+=-HA+AH)
BEEAEETHAZMEER
HIFEHBAER -

BHE_T_=—"FRk_F_Z

+ZA=+—RHLEFE BRFE
MEEAREEEEETETIR
f& B - B WA E BT mER
ANBEIREE T - —F+—
A=+—RAR-_ZT-_=%+=-A#
=t—HLEFESRRAEHE
37 {4 ¥ 18 Y A.36,000,000/% 7T &
36,000,000/ 7T ° E It - 2K B R
A Y 47 18 42 A.36,000,000/% 7T E
REBEEZTE-_—_F+_A=+—
HIEFEMGFEEmRNER.
BE-_FT-_=F+=-_H=1—8H
EFE AEEEEERAER
AERBEE_ZS - —F+= A
=+—BkZFE==F+=A
=t+—HALEFENHERA A
I AREBEE-_ZT_=ZF1+_A
=t —HLEFENGEEERA
R ERA -

FEEEZRERRAA
—EC=FFR

189



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F — =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continvec)

(ii)

(il

In accordance with JTE®E BB E K (2019)165%
X (the Jiangning Land Resources Preliminary Review
Letter (2019) Document No. 16*) issued on 11 November
2019, R+ ERBEIIESF (Jiangning Branch of
Nanjing Department of Land and Resources®) approved
the project scope of “ERM/IERES4 LIEE —HT
2 (Phase Il Project of Jinniushan Supercharging Station*)
in Jiangning District, Nanjing Jiangsu Province, the PRC
(the “Jinniushan Project”)”. The project scope includes
the land under development (the “Guli Project”) held by
the Forward Investment Group located in Guli community
Jiangning District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, the PRC.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, in order for the
Jinniushan Project to proceed, AEHEBERZEE (Guli
Community Residents Committee*) (“Guli Committee”)
entered into a compensation agreement with & R %
MEFE ZEE R QB(Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property
Company Limited*) (“Nanjing Taihe”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Forward Investment, pursuant to which Guli
Committee offer to compensate Nanjing Taihe for the land
resumption (the “Land Resumption”) for approximately
RMB18,619,000 and Nanjing Taihe accepted the offer.
Therefore, Naning Taihe recognised a loss on disposal of
construction in progress included in property, plant and
equipment amounted to approximately HK$121,161,000
resulted from the Land Resumption during the year ended
31 December 2021.

Summarised financial information in respect of the Forward
Investment Group is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents amounts shown
in the associate’s financial statements prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs.

The associates are accounted for using the equity method
in these consolidated financial statements.
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22. REFERNTI 2R (8)

(i)

(iiif)

BER-ZZT-—NLF+—A+—
BEZENIEEH T EBEE K
(2019)165% 3 - FA R T Bl - & IR
BIES R ETRBRIHREE R
TIEESSFIEELE TR
(&4 LEBR]MIEBEEEE- 17
BEHEREMRTEIHERER
MIZEREABEHEHEMKRESE
EHEemAZr L ([RAEHE
B1)-

BE-_FT-_—F+=-H=+—8H
IEFE - AESFILEBBNE
T ARBHEERZE® (AR
HE]EZMEENZENE
ARERRNARBEEEGR AR
((AREMDITLHERR &
I A B Eg U E i ([ i
WE ] REREMRHEBELIA
R #18,619,0007T * f@ = &= M #%
XHEE-A EmRENREZE
—E-_—HF+Z_A=+—H8IF
ERAB T KB EENEER
BIR(GFAYE BEKKHE)
E51849121,161,000/8 It °

BRZMRESRENTHERY
ZHIMT - ATHBEERBE
RTAREBEEEVHRE LR
M E R R BRRTBTIANE
B

SEWLAANERS T BRE

RREAREAETEERE -
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22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continvec)

(iif)

22. REFERNTI 2R (8)

(Continued) Giiy  (#&)
Forward Investment Group RNRER
2022
HK$'000
FHET
Non-current assets EMBEE 4,284 6,068
Current assets mEEE 29,451 32,365
Current liabilities neBE (645,957) (99,367)
Net liabilities BEFRE (612,222) (60,934)
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REBREMIEEEED
interest in Forward Investment Group Ffr 7 #& e 171 40% 40%
The Group’s share of net assets of AEEEEEMEEEE
Forward investment Group BESE - -
2023 2022
—E-= —ET-
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHExT T
Revenue & - -
Loss for the year FAEBE (557,846) (45,820)
Other comprehensive income (expense)  Hih 2 mE Uk s (BAsZ) 6,558 (17,193)
Total comprehensive expense PHEMZAHE (551,288) (63,013)
Dividend received by the Group A& EYELAY AR B - -
The unrecognised share of loss of RIEREREE R ER
associates for the year FAEE 223,138 17,561
Cumulative unrecognised share of loss RIERIEEE R EH
of associates RETEE 240,699 17,561
FEREEZERERRAR

—EC=FFR
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23.INVENTORIES 23. &

2022
HK$'000
FHET
Finished goods BIRY G 1,314 -

24. TRADE RECEIVABLES 24. EWWE Z R
2022
T F
HK$'000
FHET
Trade receivables JEUNE 5 BR X 10,553 1,055
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEBERE (102) (550)
Trade receivables, net JEUNE 5 IR FUF R 10,451 505

As at 1 January 2022, trade receivables from contracts with
customers amounted to approximately HK$140,568,000, net of
allowance for credit loss of approximately HK$86,714,000.

The Group generally allowed an average credit period due
within 30 days to its trade debtors. The Group does not hold
any collateral over these balances. The following is an aged
analysis of trade receivables, net of allowance for credit losses,
presented based on the invoice date (or date of revenue
recognition, if earlier).

RZE-_—_F—HA—H KBEEFA
)M FE I E 5 B8R R0 A140,568,00078
JC - fNBR (= B BT 18 # 5 4986,7 14,0008
7T|:D

REE-RUEKREZERFE T FY
BORMEEM - AEBYERZLFTH
BREAEEAEFR - EXBERAH (K
WaER B UREERE)Z2IIW
RIIKEERRRBZIEEE SRR
ZERE DT »

0%30H
3890 H

0 to 30 days
Over 90 days
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2023 2022
—_=E_= —E-

HK$°000 HK$'000

THET FAT

10,451 188

- 317

10,451 505
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

25

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of approximately HK$Nil (2022: HK$317,000) which are
past due as at the reporting date.

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are set
out in Note 6(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

24. BWWE ZERF (2)

RZEZ=F+ZA=+—H A
AEBERKESEREHR AEDRE
HEEBT(ZE - ZF 317,000/
T)REL  ERHmER -

B U 55 B R EL B A 0 AL
&8 B WA RE6(b) -

OTHER RECEIVABLES AND DEPOSITS

25. HttEWRE R RS

2023 2022
—E-= —ET-
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5E TR FET
Other deposits Hibige 8 123
Trade deposits B 5%Ee (i 2,419 49,241
Other receivables E & W SR IE 510 3,234
Compensation income receivable  JEUHE UL A (ii) 72,000 72,000
74,937 124,598
Less: Allowance for credit losses BB EBERE (72,220) (72,316)
2,717 52,282
Notes: B 5

(i) The amount represented trade deposits paid for construction
materials. Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, the delivery time for
the construction materials has been delayed, the Group and the
suppliers reached consents to refund the trade deposit paid by
the Group.

(i)  The amount represented compensation income from the
Guarantors, details of which has been set out in Notes 22 and 37
to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of impairment assessment of other receivables and
deposits are set out in Note 6(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits and short-
term deposits for the purpose of meeting the Group’s short-term
cash commitments, which carry interest at market rates range
from 0.01% to 0.25% (2022: 0.01% to 0.35%).

() ZEHARBEEMBINNESES-
i PACOVID-195% 15 - EEM B 22+
BRELEE AEEEEHERRER
EAREDIANES RS-

(iy ZEeBERABERANHELA F
BB RN AR & M IR 22
37 °

HAh e R IR R R R E R AR B
AR A B ISR EE6(D) ©

ReMBeEEYBREHEREE
HEF BEEREASBEZEHE S
A E LN F0.01%%0.25% (==
— =% :0.01%%20.35% ) 2 T %5 & =&
TR

FEEEZRERRAA
—EC=FFR
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26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Included in the cash and cash equivalents are the following
amounts which are subject to foreign exchange control
regulations and not freely transferable:

26 BERBESEEY

RekReFEVERATEE &
AESTINEEBAR - TR B hER:

2022
T F
HK$'000
FAET

Amounts denominated in RMB MAREGEN SR

Details of impairment assessment of bank balances are set out
in Note 6(b).

27. TRADE PAYABLES

3,632 2,299

BRASRITESRORENHFIFHNM
H6(b) ©

27. BN E SR

2023 2022
—E_= T F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THE T FAET

Trade payables FETE SRR

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented
based on the invoice date:

22,315 13,463

NTREREZRHZ2INENES
R ZBRER DA

0 to 30 days 0&30H
Over 90 days B0 H

The average credit period granted by suppliers is 30 days.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
1 94 Annual Report 2023

2023 2022
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HK$000 HK$'000
TFHET FHET
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12,201 13,463
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28. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

28. EETE AR Htt B FR

2022

—E-F

HK$'000

FHET

Amounts due to associates (Note (a)) FEA B & A | 5RIB (FFE(a)) 2,744 2,761
Accruals and other payables (Note (b))  JEFH& &Eﬁﬂ[&ﬁm £

(P EE(p)) 394,176 302,925

Litigation liabilities (Note (d)) FRBE (M) - 13,600

Amount due to a substantial shareholder — FEfT—H& = Z R FZIA (MsE(c))

(Note (c)) 3,826 3,927
Amount due to a director (Note (c)) R —REEFIE ( WE\I( )) 4,184 -
Amount due to a related company FEAS — B E A B 3E (M sk (c))

(Note (c)) 935 -

405,865 323,213

Notes: B =

(a) The amounts due to associates were unsecured, non-interest () ENBELAIREBABEERA RER
bearing and have no fixed terms of repayments. ﬁﬂi%?ﬁﬁﬁ

(b) As at 31 December 2023, included in accruals and by RZE-_=F+=-FA=+—H80"
other payables of approximately HK$206,808,000 (2022: AEGFERAREMENKIES
HK$151,257,000) and HK$155,550,000 (2022: HK$120,040,000) #)206,808,0008 T (ZE = — 4 :
represented the interest payables and redemption premium 151,257,000/ 7T ) }2155,550,000/% 7T
payable in relation to the HK$115 million interest-bearing (ZZ = =4 :120,040,000 L) 5 A
borrowing (Note 29). #115,000,000/% 7o &1 B 18 51 A FE 1+ 7

BREMNERGE (MF729) -

(c)  Amount due to a substantial shareholder, a director and a related (c) EN—ZBXTEWHR —FLE=K—H
company was unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no fixed B ARINRIEAEER 2 ERE
terms of repayments. (& TE 38 7R o

(d)  According to the court judgement (2019) Jin 0116 Min Chu (d) WREBHBAEA-Z-_—F=-A+HHZE

No0.4718 dated 10 March 2021, Tianjin Binhai New Area
People’s Court has forced Tianjin Hui Li Yuan, to repay the
outstanding construction expenses with the interests and other
related expenses amounted to approximately RMB9,251,000,
RMB2,235,000 and RMB107,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$11,153,000, HK$2,694,000 and HK$128,000) respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the litigation liabilities
are derecognised upon disposal of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan (Note 40).

Bt %15 (2019) #0116 R #147185%

KEMAEBEGHEARERAH BkK
/%/Ejj/ﬁ giﬁ;ﬁ i%LSﬁﬁﬂﬂ
EREMBEERYT 2BI LA
R #9,251,0007T « A R #2,235,000
T M ARB107,000T (HERLD
11,153,000 7T - 2,694,000 7T &
128,000/87T) ©

HE-Z-_=F+-—A=+—HLHF
B FRAEREEREENRER
1EfERR (F95E40) ©

FEEEZRERRAA
—EC=FFR
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29.INTEREST-BEARING BORROWING 29. 5t EEE

2022
—E-_F
HK$'000
FHET
Secured borrowing BEAEE 115,000 115,000
The carrying amount of above secured A FEBREREEGRTRD
borrowing contain a repayment on BEMEEZERE
demand clause (shown under current (REBEETIIR)
liabilities):
— Within one year ——FR 115,000 115,000

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the borrowing was secured RZEZ=FR_FT=__F+=A

by pledged shares of the Company held by Mr. Ye, one of =t+—H EEHEEFZ—RARAA

the Directors and a substantial shareholder of the Company,
pledged shares of related companies, in which Mr. Ye is the
beneficial shareholder, pledged deposit and personal guarantee
by Mr. Ye.

The interest-bearing borrowing was expired during the year
ended 31 December 2019.

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, the interest-
bearing borrowing is carried default interest at 20% per annum
with redemption premium result in an internal rate of return of
20% from the borrowing utilisation date to the date when the
Company fully repaid the borrowing.
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30. LEASE LIABILITIES

31

30.

HE&E
2022

HK$'000
TAET

Lease liabilities payable: ENHEEaE:
Within one year —FNR
Within a period of more than one year —F BT BAMRFE

but not exceeding two years

Less: Amount due for settlement with
12 months shown under current
liabilities

Amount due for settlement after
12 months shown under non-current
liabilities

The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities is
6.90% (2022: 6.90%).

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

At 31 December 2023, the Group had unused estimated tax
losses of approximately HK$22,654,000 (2022: HK$25,248,000)
available for offsetting against future taxable profits. The unused
estimated tax losses could be carried forward indefinitely
except for the tax losses arising in the PRC of approximately
HK$17,428,000 (2022: HK$20,022,000) that will expire in five
years for offsetting against future taxable profits. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of the tax losses due to
the unpredictability of future profit streams.

31.

= 296

- 236

= 532

- (296)

= 236

HAREEEBGBEZEMEK
6.90% (—E - —4:6.90%)

B IR B

RZEZ=F+_A=+—H *r&5H
B R B) A 1l 51 7% 18 B 18 922,654,000
B (2T = =4 125,248,000/ 7T )
AR SE R R FERR s A - R B) R 1
AR EEEERBALAE  HER
EEMIEEE#17,428,0008 T (=
T — ~ 4 :20,022,0008 7T ) B o &
H7E T N B B % A 4 85 R 2R FE AR R
S ) o B P AR Bl TEURI AR 2R s A - E it
WERTBEBERECEHEEE -

EST

FEEEZRERRAA
—EC=FFR
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32. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS 32. EERKER

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong
Kong. Under the scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of
the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. The assets of the schemes are
held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the
control of trustees. The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll
costs capped at HK$1,500 (2022: HK$1,500) per month to MPF
Scheme in which the contribution is matched by employees.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiary is
required to contribute certain percentage of payroll costs to
the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
scheme is to make the specified contributions.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of approximately
HK$88,000 (2022: HK$95,000) represents contributions paid
and payable to these schemes by the Group at rates specified
in the rules of the relevant schemes. As at 31 December 2023,
contributions of approximately HK$18,000 (2022: HK$34,000)
due in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023 had not
been paid to these Schemes.

At 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the Group had
no forfeited contribution available to reduce its contributions to
the retirement benefit schemes in future years.
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AEETEHNBEARZEEZERE
B e 2 BREEARKENGTE -
bt Y B & B 7B [R) R R IR AR A T 8 4E
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BAF S - B ERELDRERK -

18 2= R 2 [ 2 48 %E 988,000/ 7T
(ZEZZF:950008L) AL EH
REBHE AR ERE [
LENZSHE 2 HFR - RT =
F+-_A=+—H BT ==
FT+ZA=+—RALFEENMZHK
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33.SHARE CAPITAL 33. kA
Par value Number of shares Nominal value
SREE BB EE HE
2023 2022
—EB_-= T
HK$ HK$’000 HK$'000
BT FHx FET
Authorised: EE:
At beginning of the year REH) 0.5/0.05 100,000 10,000,000 500,000 500,000
Share consolidation (Note) — B&f3 & #f (HiEE) N/A i@ - (9,000,000) - -
At the end of the year RER 0.5 100,000 1,000,000 500,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR:
At beginning of the year REA] 0.5/0.05 426,991 4,269,911 213,496 213,496
Share consolidation (Note) — B&fh & 6 (FftE) N/A T3 B - (3,842,920) = -
At the end of the year RER 0.5 426,991 426,991 213,496 213,496
Note: M5E -

Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed in the extraordinary general
meeting held on 24 January 2022, the Company proceed with the share
consolidation, whereby every ten shares of the Company’s issued and
unissued shares with par value of HK$0.05 each in the share capital
of the Company have been consolidated into one share with par value
of HK$0.5 (the “Consolidation Share”). The share consolidation had
become effective on 26 January 2022. The Consolidated Shares rank
pari passu in all respects with each other.

All new shares rank pari passu with other shares in issue in all respects.

BIERA-E-_—F—HF - +MHHEETHERE
BRlAe FBBENEERER NARET
iR & B UL AR B A Z AR EE0.05
BITHETRARRBEHITRAEITRDE
HFAE—BREREESE TG ([E8R
B]) BHPEHERZZE-__F—A=-+
BEK - AHRMHES AL EERSER-

PrEFRODEE D EEREMED FAREFE

Z5 o
fm

FEEEZRERRAA
—EC=FFR
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34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by the

Company as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are set out below:

Names of
subsidiaries

HELAER

Place of
incorporation

HRRLEH

Particulars of issued
and paid up capital/
registered capital
BRIRRMRL/
HfiAEE

Prospect Sync Holdings Limited
Prospect Sync Holdings Limited
Honesty Services Limited
FERBERLA

Honesty Treasure Limited

ERERERAA

Success Teke Limited
Success Take Limited

City Vision Investments Limited
BEREBRAA

Ampleline Holdings Limited
Ampleline Holdings Limited

Sun On Chung King (Hong Kong) Limited
HEPR(EE)ARAA

Xinan Zhongjing Gas Company Limited* (note (i))
FRIRMRERLR ()

Xinan Shengjie Gas Company Limited" (note (i)

FRBRRIARAF (M)

Keen Gate Developments Limited

BERRERLA

Nanjing Taiye Metal Material Technology Company

The British Virgin Islands

(the ‘BVI')
RERAES
([#BRZEE))

Hong Kong
&%

Hong Kong
b

The BVI
RERTES

Hong Kong
B

The BVI
RERTES

Hong Kong
B

The PRC
HE

The PRC
w8
The B/
HERRES

The PRC

Limited (Former known as Nanjing Taihe Natural Gas
Accessory Engineering Company Limited) (note (i)
EREEERIHHRERAR (FIRAREA TE

AASREIRERARD) (W)
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Registered: US$50,000
Unpaid: US$49,999
i 50,000% T

R 49.909E T

HKS1
12T
HKS2

28T

USst
1R

HKS1

&R

Ut
X7

HKS1

&7

RMB10,000,000
AEH10,0000007

Registered: RMB30,000,000
Unpaid: RMB24,000,000
i AR30,0000007
R AR 24000000

Usst
e

RMB40,000,000

AR %40,000,0007T

. KRB EEMMB L TFHE

Proportion of ownership interest

02
F F

held by the Company
AREARENERRLA
2023
8-z
Directly  Indirectly WBIEN
=t 3 43 ER
100% - 100%
100% - 100%
50% 50% 50%
100% - 100%
- 100% -
100% - 100%
- 100% -
= 90% -
- 100% -
100% - 100%
- 100% -

Indirectly
i

50%

100%

100%

90%

100%

100%

R_E_=ZFR_T__F+_A
ET—HB ARAEELEEFAEZ
MEBAREHIIWT
Proportion of voting power
held by the Company Principal activities
FRARENRRRLA IERH
2023
t i3
I GGV Directly  Indirectly
E# [ E% B
100% - 100% - Investment holding
RAER
100% = 100% - Holding of motor vehicles
RERE
50% 50% 50% 50%  Provision of management services
REERRE
100% = 100% - Investment holding
BRRR
= 100% - 100%  Investment holding
RERR
100% = 100% - Investment holding
RAER
= 100% - 100%  Investment holding
RERR
- 90% - 90%  Natural gas construction projects
ARRRFER
- 100% - 100%  Natural gas construction projects
RARRRER
100% = 100% - Investment holding
BRER
- 100% - 100%  Trading of construction materials

BENHES
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34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL U ARAEEMBRABFR

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued) (#)
Particulars of issued
Names of Place of and paid up capital/ Proportion of ownership interest Proportion of voting power
subsidiaries incorporation registered capital held by the Company held by the Company Principal activities
BRREARE/
WEARAR ERiEAR ARBAHE ARARENERRLA FRARENRARLH IERH
2023 2023 2022
it Sl t- i3 ZRICE
DG (VG  Direclly  Indirectly [VICHOTMUGTERGM  Diectly  Indirectly
E# B B% i R B B i3
Gangning Investment Company Limited* (note (7)) The PRC RMB57,250,000 - 100% - 100% - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
EEREERAR (M) hE ARHS7,250,0007 REER
Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics Company Limited The PRC RMB109,934,489 - 51% - 51% - 67% - 67%  Property investment
(‘Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics')" (note (i)
REGENRERAE ((RREEIR)) (W) =8 AR100,984 48970 VS
Tianjin Hui Li Yuan (note (ii)é(iv)) The PRC RMB48,806,027 - - - 60% - - - 60%  Property investment
REENR (M) hE AR4880602770 VESE
Shenzhen Zewu Infrastructure Investment Company  The PRC Registered and unpaid = 100% - - = 100% - - Trading of construction materials
Limited (*Shenzhen Zewu')" (note (ii)) RMB10,000,000
AENEERABRLA (TRYBN)) (W) +E kS EHITRHES
ARH10,0000007
Runwu Development (Hainan) Company Limited The PRC Registered: RMB10,000,000 - 100% - - - 100% - - Trading of construction materials
(‘Runwu Development *)* (note (ii) Unpaid: RMB9,999,900
EEE (68 ERAA (RNRE)) (W) =8 i AR 10,000,000 BEMHES

* For identification purpose only

Notes:

A AR9999.9007

(i) Registered under the laws of the PRC as wholly owned foreign

enterprise.

(i) Registered under the laws of the PRC as domestic enterprise.

(i)~ Shenzhen Zewu and Runwu Development was incorporated in

* EHAS

P &L

(i) BREPREEEMAIEHBEERE-

(iy MEBEFEREREIMARNEDLE-

iy FIEVMREMERAN T _=F

October 2023. T AFMAAL
(iv)  Tianjin Hui Li Yuan was disposed of during the year ended 31 (iv) REENRABEZ-_Z-_=F+-A
December 2023. Details are disclosed in Note 40. ST HIEFEHEE FBERER
B 5E40 o
FEEZREBRAA

—EC=FFR
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34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 4. RPN BIEEMBARIFIE
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continueq) (%)
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in ERINHEERRTEFEARAEHRE
the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or BREENEARAINBARI -EFR
assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, A IREEMMBARMNFEZER
in the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive RIBBRITK
length.
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the REXR BEHRBRARZITEMERS
end of the year. &5 o
At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other RBEBR ZNAREMKE R R
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. A majority of AEBMEUTEKR-ZEMBERF
these subsidiaries operate in the PRC, Hong Kong and the BVI. ABOEFH BEARABRELHS
The principal activities of these subsidiaries are summarised as BE O HFXEBEBHREOT -
follows:
Principal activities Principal place of business Number of subsidiaries
TEEK TEEEMD MEAREE
2022
—E-_F
Investment holdings The PRC 5 6
B H
Hong Kong 3 1
BB
British Virgin Islands 1 1
EBREIHE
9 8

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continved)

DETAILS OF NON WHOLLY-OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAS MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTEREST

The table below shows details of a non wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Group that has material non-controlling interests:
Place of Proportion of ownership

incorporation and interest and voting power

Names of subsidiaries place of business held by the Company
AL 3t B I FLARBANERER

WEAREH BEBY RERLA

Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics The PRC 51% 51%

PN ES D w

Tianjin Hui Li Yuan The PRC - 60%

RKEENR h

Individually immaterial
subsidiaries with
non-controlling interest

ABERRRRERZ
ERIFEERMB AR

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests is set out
below. The summarised financial information below represents
amounts before intragroup eliminations.

U. ARBETEMBEARFE

(%)

HEEEAFERRFKED
HIFEZERE 2 AR EF 15

TRINTEBERNFZEBRBRE K
REBEFE2EMBRRNFS:

Profit (loss) allocated to

Accumulated non-controlling

non-controlling interest interest
AEREFERRRESN
R (B8 EHER T
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E_=F - St 3 —EC_=F% —E-ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
TAR TET TERT TET
90 (1,195) (32,542) (32,212)
(206) (462) - (31,086)
196 (17) 922 892
80 (1,674) (31,620) (62,406)

ERASERBEAFERBERESR
HIPSE AR IS E R B Z BN T3
NTHBENGRZEERAKNE QA

W 54 A B A8 o

FEEEZRERRAA
—EC=FFR
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34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL U ARNAEEMBRABFR
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continved) (4)

DETAILS OF NON WHOLLY-OWNED BEEAHEZRKRRER
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAS MATERIAL NON- WHEZEHE LG FIE
CONTROLLING INTEREST (Continued) ()

Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics RKEBREYR
2023 2022
—E—-= —F-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Current assets MEEE 1,367 3,379
Non-current assets FERBEE 23,034 24,875
Current liabilities mENAE (90,813) (93,993)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE - —
Equity attributable to owners of Tianjin Jun REBEYREE A
Hua Logistics FE(EHE = (33,870) (33,527)
Non-controlling interests of Tianjin Jun Hua RABBEY) R IR
Logistics IR R = (32,542) (32,212)
Revenue Weas 2,769 2,726
Expenses A (2,585) (5,165)
Profit (loss) attributable to owners of Tianjin KEBEMIRIERB A
Jun Hua Logistics JE(R & T (E518) 94 (1,244)
Profit (loss) attributable to non-controlling RAEGEY) MIEIER
interest of Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics % BR M 2 FE (R ) (598 90 (1,195)
Profit (loss) for the year FRmF (E18) 184 (2,439)
Other comprehensive expense attributable to ~ KEEEYIREAR A
owners of Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics EhEMmEmASY (437) (1,507)
Other comprehensive expense attributable to  KE B 957 JEIE I
the non-controlling interest of Tianjin Jun Hua — BX RS (G H ith
Logistics 2HEMAX (420) (1,447)
Other comprehensive expense for the year FAREMEEMAS (857) (2,954)
Total comprehensive expense attributable to  KIEEEYTREAR A
owners of Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics EihE2mEAS A% (343) (2,751)
Total comprehensive expense attributable to  KJEEFEY) iR IEFEAL
the non-controlling interest of Tianjin Jun Hua  B¥ B4 &5 4G
Logistics EHAY BT (330) (2,642)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FAZEALBE (673) (5,393)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interest of EARRREEY) R IFER
Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics R ER A R R - —
Net cash (outflow) inflow from operating KE BB B
activities Cm i) mAFRE (1,884) 477
Net cash inflow from investing activities KEEESABRSRAFE 2 5
Net cash (outflow) inflow R O mAFRE (1,882) 482

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL U ARAEEMBRABFR

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continved)

DETAILS OF NON WHOLLY-OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAS MATERIAL NON-

(%)

HEEEAFERRRER
HIFEZEN B L AR GF 15

CONTROLLING INTEREST (continued) (%)
Tianjin Hui Li Yuan KBEDR
2023 2022
—EC-=F “E-—F
HK$000 HK$'000
TER FET
Current assets mBEE - 6,743
Non-current assets ERBEE = -
Current liabilities mEBEE = (84,458)
Non-current liabilities FRBDEE = -
Equity attributable to owners of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan — KZENBHE AREEER = (46,629)
Non-controlling interests of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan REENIR IR I R R - (31,086)
Revenue Yo g - -
Expenses 53 (514) (1,154)
Loss attributable to owners of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan REENFES AELESE (308) (692)
Loss attributable to non-controlling interests of REENFIEEIR R R
Tianjin Hui Li Yuan LR (206) (462)
Loss for the year FABE (514) (1,154)
Other comprehensive income attributable to REENFRES AEGEM
owners of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan 2EKE 1,180 3,002
Other comprehensive income attributable to RORE DI FE 122 P e R e s A
the non-controlling interest of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan HE 2w 787 2,002
Other comprehensive income for the year FRNEMZERR 1,967 5,004
Total comprehensive income attributable to REENFRES AES
owners of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan THEHNGER 872 2,310
Total comprehensive income attributable to REENRIELRRF N
the non-controlling interest of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan FHEMNEEE 581 1,540
Total comprehensive income for the year FREEREER 1,453 3,850
Dividend paid to non-controlling interest of ERREENRIEERRE
Tianjin Hui Li Yuan ) - =
Net cash outflow from operating activities REFEBRBRSTLEE - )
Net cash outflow Bemm s = (9)
FEEZREBRAA
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

[A] STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

OF THE COMPANY

NON-CURRENT ASSET
Interests in subsidiaries

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables

Amount due to subsidiaries
Interest-bearing borrowing

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES
NET LIABILITIES

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital
Reserves

TOTAL DEFICIT

The Company’s statement of financial position was
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 19 April 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

FRBEE
NI PNCIPA: £

hRBEE
RBekReEHEY

RBEE
H fth & 5RIR
FE S BT /B8 2 Rl 3R IR

AHREE

RBEEFE
REFE
RAREE
LN

ffé #55

&5 At 48 5R

35%@%2%%%%%&%

(A] K 2\ 58] 2 B FE AR 8 7

2022
HK$'000

FAT

16,232 16,180
13 13
387,180 290,832
873 857
115,000 115,000
503,053 406,689
(503,040) (406,676)
(486,808) (390,496)
213,496 213,496
(700,304) (603,992)
(486,808) (390,496)

ARBZHBRARNR —F M
FUATNBEREZTSHERK
BT THNMIALTRERES

A%%:

& 25
B ARA

LuYi
E R
Director

EF

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  35. &2 8] 2 B #5ik 5 3k B &

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

& ()

(Continued)
[B) MOVEMENTS OF THE RESERVES OF THE (B] X2\ Al t# 1 .2 &
COMPANY
Capital
Share redemption Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
N
B 17 5518 B[ 15 St &
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FHET
At 1 January 2022 RZZEZ=F—A—H 756,049 69  (1,283,476) (527,358)
Loss for the year FABE - - (76,634) (76,634)
At 31 December 2022 HZEZZF+=ZA=+—H 756,049 69  (1,360,110) (603,992)
Loss for the year FREE - - (96,312) (96,312)
At 31 December 2023 R=-F=-=%t+=-A=t—-H 756,049 69  (1,456,422)  (700,304)

The Company’s reserves available for distribution
represent the share premium and accumulated losses.
Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, share
premium of the Company is available for the Company’s
distributions to shareholders subject to the provisions of
the Company’'s Memorandum or Articles of Associations
and provided that immediately following the distribution
the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business. As at 31 December 2023, the
aggregate value of the share premium and accumulated
losses of the Company available for distribution is
approximately HK$Nil (2022: HK$Nil).

Note: Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of
shares repurchased out of distributable profit.

KR R) 2z Al I A e A
ErRRABE - REFEHER
IR NN AL S bR i e
A B RAF 0 R - A X AR A
Z AR ERR KM A B 2 RSP
BME MR ERED KK N2 T
VEABRNEBEREEBLS I
HeBB - R_T_=F+_H
=t—B A#HDIKRZARAK
MaEBERRFERABENSTE

T(ZE-——F EHT) o

BEE: BAREEREEE A 2R
Boim 2 mE-

HEEZRERRAR
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36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 36. HAREE

On 1 August 2017, the Group acquired 60% equity interest
of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan of which principal asset is a land use
right for a parcel of land. Starting from year 2015, Tianjin Hui
Li Yuan entered into a financial guarantee contract with a PRC
trust company (the “Lender”) to provide corporate guarantee
by a pledge of certain properties to secure a loan granted
by the Lender to a business partner which is an independent
third party (the “Borrower”) in the sum of approximately

RMB80,000,000 (the “Loan”).

In order to protect the interest of the Group against the loss
which might be suffered by the Group under the guarantee,
the Borrower and the non-controlling interest of Tianjin Hui Li
Yuan entered into a counter indemnity in favour of the Group
pursuant to which they agreed to, among other matters,
indemnify the Group for its liabilities and loss which may arise
from the guarantee. The non-controlling interest of Tianjin Hui Li
Yuan also agreed to indemnify the Group by offering a pledge
of its 40% equity interest in Tianjin Hui Li Yuan to the Group
upon default in loan repayments by the Borrower. On 30 March
2022, X:EMmMAFEARZER (Tanjin Nankai District People's
Court*) made a judgement (the “Judgement”) that amongst
other things, the Borrower shall compensate X E#)E# T+ 0
Z S ARAa (Tianjin Product Import & Export Trading Co.,
Ltd.*) (“Tianjin Trading”), being a party which the Lender
has transferred its interest in the Loan to Tianjin Trading. If the
Borrower fail to compensate Tianjin Trading, Tianjin Hui Li Yuan
shall bear the shortfall amount by the proceed from sale of the

properties of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan (“Tianjin Properties”).

Tianjin Properties had been sealed by the court and has not
yet been auctioned by the court because it does not meet the
conditions for court disposal.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Tianjin Hui Li
Yuan was disposed as detailed in Note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Save as disclosed above and elsewhere in the notes to these
consolidated financial statements, the Group had no other
material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2023.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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RZZE—+tFNA—B AEBKE
REENRZ60%KBHE HXEEER
— MRt EAE-BE-F -1
Fig REENREGREEEAR([E
FRI LM BERE QAR HDFEE
R ARXNBREFEBERETWER
—BREBEMH(BIE=F) ([EX
A EEE 4 A K #80,000,0007T
([ER])1EER.

RREAEER 2 REZERM
BAEBEEXBR BRARKZEE
NROFEERBREE=ARER AT
mAFIY—MORABEE B BER
BE(EAeE BErEERZERM
AEEECBERBAR - REENR
HFEIER R R E R IR B R E R AL
RERERFRNAEBERFEENKE
ERA0% R ER EFRIERFEE - =
T F=ZA=+H REMEHRE
ABEEBER #R ([HR]) - B 6
B EBERANEABEREYEELDE
SERRAR(IREES]) (AEEHR
MAEESHEHNZERER 2 —
7)o MERAREFEREZES X
EENREADEREBERYE ([X
BYIE|) TS RIAREERE -

RAEMEERBAEER AR E N
BEEEAREE NG EREERN
BEhE-
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37. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the Group had the following material transactions

and balances with its related parties for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2022:

(a)

As detailed in Note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements, Mr. Ye, one of the Directors, is one of the
Guarantors in respect of the Return Undertaking.

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
as Forward Investment suffered operating loss and no
dividend have been declared, the Return Undertaking
was exercised and the Guarantor is obliged to pay
the compensation income of HK$36,000,000 and
HK$36,000,000 to the Group for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 31 December 2023, respectively.
As such, a compensation income from the Guarantors
of HK$36,000,000 was recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December
2022. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the
management of the Group considered the Guarantors are
in default of payment of the compensation income for the
years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022,
and thus, no compensation income was recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended
31 December 20283.

The interest-bearing borrowing was secured by pledged
shares of the Company held by Mr. Ye, one of the
Directors, pledged shares of the related companies, in
which Mr. Ye is the beneficial shareholder, pledged deposit
and personal guaranteed by Mr. Ye.

The key management of the Group comprises all Directors,
details of their remuneration are disclosed in Note 14 to
the consolidated financial statements. The remuneration of
the Directors is determined by the remuneration committee
having regard to the performance of individuals and
market trends.

V. EXRBEALIRS

BRAGATERREMOBOMBERE
o AEBEREBEE T _ZF+=A
=F+—HBERZEZZF+ZA=1+—
BEFERNEHEEBEATETUT
BARGRBUTHEE:

(a) fnth A B 55 WA K o2 B
BE 7 —EE4 BRRAEIE
RAZ—>

HE-_ZT_-"FRkR=-FT=__F
+T-_A=+-—BLFE BARZE
MEEAZEEBBATETIK
BB Bl A ERIT MER
AEEERBE_ZSE-_F+=
A=+—BRk-ZZT-_=%+=_H
—t+t—HLEFESRAEHE
S # 18 U A.36,000,0007% 7T &
36,000,000/ 7T ° E It - 2K B R
N HY 48 18 J2 A.36,000,000/% 7T E
REBE-E-_—_F+-_A=+—
HEFENGREBZRANER-
HzE_FT_=F+-HA=+—H
FFE AEEEEERAER
AERBE-ZFE=-_—F+=A
=t+—BkZFE=Z=F+=A
=T HBLEFEONRERA B
I AREEZT_=F+=A
=T -HALEFENGEEERA
TR ERA -

(b) FIEEENESFZ —¥(%54/H
MARRCEABRND XEER
HERSBIRNBEEAR 22 EA
i BEEFERERELRERH
HEAERIEE A -

(c) AEEXREEECREEZEES
BEFEZHHMFBRERE BB RE
M4 B -EEHMEFMHE
BeREEAAXRREMEBEE

TE°

FEEEZRERRAA
—EC=FFR
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38. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified
in the consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from
financing activities.

Amount
duetoa
Litigation Interest  substantial
liabilities payable  shareholder
EREE

EENL ENFER 3

RAE

. AMETHMEENERFEZ
¥ AR

TRFIAEEBEZIAELENE
B2y BREASIIFRSETH @
BRPMELANABENRSREC K
ARREREFNEERLRERD

BRARERBMELZHRERE

Amount due Interest-
Amountdue  to arelated Lease bearing
to a director company liabilities  borrowing Total
A FENBRR
EERE REARE HEAE HEEE &zt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL T TEL T TEL FET FhEx ThL
At 1 January 2022 R-E--%5-fA-B 14,196 195,414 5219 - - 296 115,000 330,125
Non-cash changes: *RE28:
New lease entered MRS - - - - - 602 - 602
Interest expenses FEBAX 538 75,883 - - - 21 - 76,442
Exchange alignment A% (1,134) - - - - - - (1,134)
(596) 75,883 - - - 623 - 75,910
Changes from financing cash flows: RERSHESE:
Repayment 0 a substantial shareholder ~ MEERAEH - - (1292) - - - - (1,292)
Payment of lease liabilities YAHEaE - - - - - (387) - (387)
. . (1292) . : (387) - (1679)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R=E-=F+-A=+-HR
“3-z%-f-H 13,600 271,297 3927 - - 532 115,000 404,356
Non-cash changes: FReEH:
Interest expenses MERAX 514 91,061 - - - 14 - 91,589
Disposal of subsidiaries LENRBAR (13,771) - - - - - - (13.771)
Early termination of a lease RELIEAL - - - - - (411) - (411)
Exchange alignment 5% (343) - - - - - - (343)
(13,600) 91,061 - - - (307) - 77,084
Changes from financing cash flows: RERSRESE:
Repayment 0 a substantial shareholder ~ AEBRAEH - - (101) - - - - (101)
Advance from a director EZIN - - - 4,184 - - - 4,184
Advance from a related company BB ARBH - - - - 935 - - 935
Payment of lease liabiliies YHREAE - - - - - (135) = (135)
- - (101) 4,184 935 (135) - 4,883
At 31 December 2023 R=B=-=f+-A=t-H - 362,358 3,826 4,184 935 - 115,000 486,303
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21 O Annual Report 2023



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

39. PLEDGED ON ASSETS

40

A loan granted to an independent third party, as detailed in
Notes 18 and 37, had been secured by the pledge of the
Group’s assets and the carrying amounts of the respective
assets are as follows:

39. EEEH

W18 RI7TATFME T — 2B L FE =
FHERERAEEB 2 EERMEE
R-MEEEEZEREENT:

2022

HK$'000
TET

Construction in progress included in property, FFAYIE - BEREENTEREIRE

plant and equipment

At 31 December 2023, no asset was pledged.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 28 December 2023, Nanjing Taiye Metal Material
Technology Company Limited*, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into a sale and purchase agreement
with an independent third party in relation to the disposal of its
100% equity interest in FREETRIIZEER AR (Nanjing
Xide Municipal Engineering Co., Ltd.*) (“Nanjing Xide") at a
consideration of RMB1,000,000. Nanjing Xide is an investment
holding company and its held 60% equity interest in Tianjin Hui
Li Yuan (the “Nanjing Xide Group”). The disposal is completed
on 28 December 2023.

R-ZE_=ZF+-_A=+—H HEE
HMEREE-

40. HEKME QA

RZEZ=F+ZA=Z+NH X2
RI2EMBARERTESLBMHE
RERARE-—BBLE = FHURK
B AR #1,000,000C &R REBET
HIEARAA ([EBEEE]) 100%
BET I EEHZE - BREEA—ME
BEERANT A REENRE0%MK
(SRR EEE]) HEFHER
—E=F+ZAZt+NAHZTK-

THERREARAH
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40. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continuea)

40. BLEHB AT

The net liabilities of Nanjing Xide Group as at the date of HRERESEERNLEAHNEEFE
disposal were as follows: o
—E-=
HK$’000
FET
Consideration received: 2R E:
Cash received BUIR & 1,100

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control
was lost:

Other receivables and deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Other payables

Amount due to group companies

Net liabilities disposed of

Loss on disposal of a subsidiary:
Consideration received

Net liabilities disposed of

Non-controlling interest

Amount due from Nanjing Xide Group
Release of exchange reserve upon disposal

Loss on disposal
Net cash inflow arising on disposal:

Cash received
Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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BAZHENEEREBIN:

Ht WA RILS 6,467
RekREEEY 11
HAtb FE 3B (16,400)
FEfT R B A B FRIB (119,338)
BHEBEFSE (129,160)
HEMBARERE:
2B 1,100
EHEAEFE 129,160
FEVERR IR SR A 2 (30,505)
FE W e R R SR B FRIE (119,338)
A E R s R TR R 8,954
HEEE (10,629)
HEEENBESARAANTE:
2R E 1,100
B EHEREERSEED (111)
989



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ 2 —F - =4+ - A=+—HI FE&E

41.MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS NEEFRERS

The Group entered into the following major non-cash investing REBEF AT ERGERSRER
and/or financing activities which are not reflected in the RENEFEFRSRER SARBER
consolidated statements of cash flows: 2
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group enter HE_Z_-_—_F#+-_A=+—81LtF
into the lease agreement for an office premise located in Hong B REBEFRURBEEN —ENAWME
Kong. On the lease commencement, the Group recognised AV ERZ - HEMRBR AEERE
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of approximately RiFEAREE EN602,0008 T REES
HK$602,000 and HK$602,000 respectively. & 49602,000/%5 T °

FEREEZERERRAR
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FEMBEE

=
RESULTS E47
For the year ended 31 December
BZ+t-A=1+-HLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E=-= —E--fF ZE--% ZZ-FTF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiEx FEL FEL FET FEL
Revenue BED 12,112 2,715 3,157 127,414 56,935
Loss attributable to owners of ANREE AEEEE
the Company (152,345) (227,735) (581,677) (278,857) (28,900)
Dividends gy - - - -
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
At 31 December
R+=ZA=+-8
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—EC-= —T--F T —T-TF —T-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET FET FET
Total assets EERE 41,081 79,836 240,184 698,047 1,029,417
Total liabilities BEEE (548,755)  (457,925)  (382,524)  (212,431) (229,306)
Net (liabilities) assets (BEFH)EETE (507674)  (378,089)  (142,340) 485,616 800,111
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GROUP PROPERTIES
ESERE S

At 31 December 2023 R-—FE - =#F+_-H=+—H

Location Intended use
B BERZ®

Category of
lease term

BAFHER

Total gross
floor area Group’s
BEEME interest
(sq. m.) AEBZRER

(SFI3K) (%)

Properties held for investment $ER & ¥ %

No. 34 Di Ba Da Jie,
Development Area, EHERE 2 ITEME
Tianjin City,

the PRC

aE

RAET

3 &=

55 )\ K #3457

Properties held for sale & {EH &M %

Rooms 810 and 1706 in Block 8 of  Residential/Commercial

premises
No. 699 Chengxin Main Road, T/ EEWE
Moling Jiedao,

Jiangning District,

Nanjing City,

Jiangsu Province,

the PRC

ae

LERE

MRm

THE

MIEHE

A K IBO995E

ETNERETFSE

810 1706%

Industrial premises for rental

Medium

5

Long
231

Approximately 51
#111,512.07

Approximately 40
#1116.67

THERREARAH
“E=FFR 215



Group Properties
SEY=

At 31 December 2023 R-ZZE-_=#+_-H=+—H

Total gross
floor area Group’s
Category of REEERE interest
Location Intended use lease term (sgq.m.) AEBEZ#EZR
NE BREAMAZR HAFHER (FF2K) (%)

Rooms 101 to 104 in Block 47 Residential/Commercial Long Approximately 40
and Rooms 101 to 104 in premises = #71,710.89
Block 48 of Hongjingya Villa, FE/AEWE

No. 2888 Hongjing Main Road,

Moling Jiedao,

Jiangning District,

Nanjing City,

Jiangsu Province,

the PRC

GE

LERE

R

LER

B

Sh R K3E28885%

shHEEE

EATE1012104FE

K ZEABIE101E104E

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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Room 705A, 7/F., New East Ocean Centre,
9 Science Museum Road,Tsim Sha Tsui East,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

EBNBERDIHRRIEEEBERE
HMRIEEWEDULTETOAE
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